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CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

FEHS

Dear Shareholders:

HEBAIIRR :

On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of Extrawell Pharmaceutical
Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Group for the

year ended 31 March 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In 2022, the impacts of lingering COVID-19 pandemic, continuing
geopoalitical tensions, and escalating inflationary pressures, posed
uncertainties surrounding the global economic outlook. Global
headwinds and COVID-linked uncertainties dampened China’s
economic growth. Resurgence of sporadic spikes in COVID-19 cases
in China (or the “PRC”), particularly during March to May 2022,
caused widespread lockdowns to its major cities to contain
transmission of the COVID-19 variants, hindered China’s economic
growth which slowed from 4.8% registered in the first quarter of 2022
10 0.4% in the second quarter, the lowest rate since China’s economy
contracted by 6.8% in the first quarter of 2020. Helped by a raft of
stimulus measures from the government after the end of the strict
lockdowns, China’s economy grew 3.9% and 2.9% in the third
quarter and fourth quarter of 2022, bringing full-year growth rate of 3%
in 2022, which marks one of the worst performances in decades.
Following the containment of the COVID-19 variants and the gradual
lifting of related restrictions from December 2022, China’s economy
grew by a better-than-expected 4.5% in the first quarter of 2023,
mainly due to a strong recovery in consumption.

During the year, the impacts of COVID-related restrictions, including
the strict lockdowns and movement restrictions, posed significant
challenges to the operating environment of pharmaceutical
enterprises and lowered the growth pace of the pharmaceutical
industry, as manufacturing and distribution activities were affected to
varying degrees. Furthermore, the launch of the seventh round of
centralised drug procurement, regular updates of national drug
reimbursement list, and reforms to better control medical costs
through the diagnosis-related groups and big data diagnosis
intervention packet payment management models, have been pushed
forward and implemented on a continuous basis, while supportive
initiatives by the government have been rolled out to encourage
research and development of innovative pharmaceuticals to benefit
more patients and meet urgent clinical needs. China’s pharmaceutical
industry is entering a stage of high-quality development with focus on
innovation-driven growth. While constantly regulatory changes and
reforms continue to reshape the industry landscape, pharmaceutical
enterprises are facing intensified competition in the dynamic market
which is filled with both challenges and opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
I ﬁ $E & (nﬁ)

As part of the development strategy of the Group, and in line with the
development trends of China’s pharmaceutical industry, the Group
has been focusing on enhancing its production capability and
capacity so as to enhance its core competitiveness and sustain the
long-term development of the Group, while the Group continues to
monitor the market trends aiming for developing a new line of
products in an effort to restore its pharmaceutical trading business
and identify business opportunities that may provide an income
stream to the Group. During the year, the overall operating results of
the Group’s business segments remained steady and its financial
position remained sound.

The Group’s profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was about HK$129.3 million, representing a decrease of about
HK$1.3 million, primarily due to the gain from fair value change of the
Group’s investments in convertible bonds, which is a non-cash item.

The Group will closely align its development direction with national
strategies and policy guidance outlined in China’s Fourteenth Five-
Year Plan and Healthy China strategy, and will place more emphasis
to strengthen its core competitiveness in the long run in the face of
ever-changing landscape. The Group also expects that the substantial
lifting of the movement restrictions in China since early 2023, will
facilitate patient flows and hence the progress of the ongoing clinical
trial of the oral insulin product. The diabetic population in China is
constantly increasing as the elderly population accelerates and the life
expectancy increases, market demand for quality diabetes
pharmaceuticals is expected to be enormous. The Group believes
that the successful launching of the oral insulin product in the future
would justify the Group’s investments and bring benefits to the
Group.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

While the worldwide easing of travel restrictions and social distancing
measures facilitate economic recovery, global trade remains under
pressure due to geopolitical pressures and weakening globa
demand. The global economy is still embraced with downward
pressure and uncertainties. In the face of strong international
headwinds, China has leveraged its dual circulation economic
strategy to make its economy more balanced and resilient through
improving supply chains inside China and promoting domestic
consumption within China’s economy. China’s uplifting of COVID-
related restrictions, reopening of the borders together with
government’s supportive policies to boost consumption, have paved
the way for a quick rebound in market activities. The Group believes
that China’s economic recovery is on track and will usher in a more
stable development while its pharmaceutical industry will continue to
show tremendous potential and great vitality, in particular, the
pharmaceutical manufacturing sector will continue to prosper and
facilitate the business growth of the Group’s pharmaceutical
manufacturing business in future. The Group will endeavor to navigate
the businesses diligently amid the challenges ahead and is cautiously
optimistic on its long-term development.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our appreciation to all
staff of the Group for their dedicated efforts and contribution to the
Group, and to the shareholders, business partners and other
stakeholders for their continuous support.

Dr. Xie Yi
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS
EEERR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall Performance Review

Global economic growth slowed in 2022 amid macroeconomic
headwinds. China’s economy, battered by the country’s dynamic
zero-COVID policy and faltering overseas demand, recorded a 3%
full-year growth in 2022, marking one of its weakest annual
performances in decades. Resurgence of sporadic spikes in
COVID-19 cases in China caused widespread lockdowns to its major
cities to contain transmission of the COVID-19 variants, particularly in
the first half of 2022. Restrictive measures related to the COVID-19
pandemic have gradually been lifted in China starting from December
2022. China’s economy got off to a solid start in 2023, registering a
growth of 4.5% in the first quarter.

The citywide lockdowns, travel restrictions and supply chain
interruptions caused by the lingering pandemic outbreaks in the past
years, impacted the growth pace of China’s pharmaceutical industry.
However, under the Fourteenth Five-Year Plan, intensive policy
reforms in China’s pharmaceutical industry have provided strong
support for the shift from generic to innovative drug research and
development while drug regulations better align with international
standards. China’s pharmaceutical industry continues to transform
and upgrade with stress on innovation and technological
advancement, supported by the government’s unwavering
commitment to deepening reforms, expanding high-level opening up
and widening market access. The pharmaceutical industry is entering
a stage of high-quality development with focus on innovation-driven
growth. The launch of the expanded scope of centralised drug
procurement and the dynamic adjustments of the national drug
reimbursement list have become normalised, and pharmaceutical
enterprises, including the Group, are facing pricing pressure and
intensifying competition in the dynamic market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Overall Performance Review (Continued)

During the year, the Group’s revenue and gross profit, which were
mainly contributed by the manufacturing segment operating in China,
was about HK$72.6 million (2022: HK$73.9 million) and HK$31.1
million (2022: HK$37.6 million) respectively, representing a decrease
of about HK$1.3 million or 1.8% in revenue and a decrease of about
HK$6.4 million or 17.1% in gross profit. While the revenue was kept
relatively stable, there was decrease in gross profit caused by the
multiple effects arising from the government-mandated factory
lockdown imposed on Changchun city during March to May 2022,
including the Group’s manufacturing plants, that resulted in lower
production outputs, and the supply chain interruptions due to
transport constraints and movement restrictions, that increased the
cost of sales, and primarily due to the short-term effect of such
disruptions and certain change in sales mix, the gross margin
dropped from 50.8% to 42.9%.

The Group’s administrative, selling and distribution expenses in
aggregate decreased to about HK$42.4 million, representing a
decrease by about HK$8.1 million or 16.0% when compared to about
HK$50.5 million of last year. There was a decrease in selling and
distribution expenses of about HK$9.6 million which was primarily
due to substantial lower marketing and sales activities caused by the
disruptions of regional and citywide lockdowns in China during the
first half of 2022 and budget controls, while there was an increase in
administrative expenses of about HK$1.5 million which was mainly
due to increase in overall maintenance costs and expenses for
optimising the workplaces of the Group’s manufacturing segment
that outweighed the cost reduction in other operations.

The Group’s profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company
was about HK$129.3 million, representing a decrease of about
HK$1.3 million, primarily due to the non-cash item related to the gain
from fair value change of the Group’s investments in convertible
bonds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS

Manufactured Pharmaceutical Sector

While the Group has become responsive to the challenges brought
by the continued deepening of healthcare reforms, the COVID-19
outbreaks across China in March 2022 that extended into the second
quarter of 2022 leading to citywide lockdowns of major cities in
China, presented added challenge to manufacturing operations
nationwide including the Group. The Group observed the imposition
of mandated factory lockdown by the Chinese authorities during April
and May 2022 to temporarily halt production operations of its
manufacturing plants in Changchun, to safeguard the safety and
health of the Group’s personnel and the general public as a whole.
Following the lifting of the strict lockdown measures in phase, the
Group’s manufacturing plants gradually resumed its normal
production in late May 2022 and have been operating safely with the
Group’s deployment of reinforced health measures for its personnel
at the workplaces.

The temporary closure of factory led to lower production volumes and
the supply chain interruptions caused increase in materials cost in the
near term, which squeezed gross profit margins, and inevitably
affected the segment’s revenue and profitability. However, with
management’s arduous efforts to strengthen internal management
and production efficiency, the impacts of the production halt was
minimised, and the Group’s production has picked up pace to meet
market demand.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Manufactured Pharmaceutical Sector (Continued)

During the year, segment revenue was maintained at about HK$72.6
million (2022: HK$73.9 million), representing a decrease of about
HK$1.3 million or 1.8% and gross profit decreased by about HK$6.4
million or 17.1% when compared to that of last year. The temporary
closure of factory and the resulting increase in cost of sales, had
impacted the gross margin, which decreased from 50.8% to 42.9%,
while there was a reduction of marketing and promotion expenses of
about HK$10.0 million mainly due to citywide lockdowns and
movement restrictions hindering marketing activities and
management’s efforts in budget control in response to the evolving
challenges, which were partly offset by the increase in overall
maintenance costs and expenses for optimising the Group’s
workplaces of about HK$2.4 million, while there was an increase in
research and development expenses of about HK$0.4 million and an
increase in property tax of about HK$0.7 million due to less tax relief
by the government, and an increase in reversal of other receivables
previously written off of about HK$0.8 million was fully offset by an
increase in provision for impairment loss on trade receivables of about
HK$1.1 million. Despite the complicated operating environment, the
segment profit was maintained at about HK$2.1 million with
management’s relentless efforts in strengthening cost control and
improving operational efficiency.

The Group will continue to strengthen its development potentials by
enhancing its production capability and capacity so as to cope with
the market demand in the competitive landscape, and strive to
improve operating performance to sustain a long-term development
path.

Imported Pharmaceutical Sector

During the year, the issues of sales suspension of the segment’s
major revenue contributor, the imported skin treatment product and
the import license renewal, as disclosed in the 2022 Annual Report,
continued to impact on the segment. While the prolonged pandemic
in the past three years resulting widespread impacts on worldwide
business operations to varying degrees, that made the hard situation
even more difficult, however, the substantial lifting of the pandemic
control measures in China, including borders reopening and
resumption of normal travel around the world from early 2023, are
expected to open up new opportunities for trade and development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Imported Pharmaceutical Sector (Continued)

In early 2023, the Group took a positive move to carry out a startup
sales of a new product to test the market. A small amount of revenue
of about HK$4,000 was recorded during the year. Meanwhile,
management continued to implement stringent cost control measures
to reduce operating costs and expenses so as to minimise segment
loss. As a result, segment loss reduced to about HK$3.4 million,
representing a decrease of about HK$0.8 milion or 19.5% when
compared to about HK$4.2 million of last year.

Management will make continued efforts with the manufacturer to
develop a new line of products to achieve market acceptance and will
keep monitoring the market trends to identify business opportunities
that may provide an income stream to the Group.

Gene Development Sector

During the year, gene development remained inactive and no revenue
was recorded.

Interest in an Associate

The Group holds 49% equity interest in Smart Ascent Limited (“Smart
Ascent”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Smart Ascent Group”),
and the major asset of the Smart Ascent Group is the intangible asset
in relation to an in-process research and development project (“In-
process R&D”) involving an oral insulin product (the “Product”), which
is still at its clinical trial stage. As a minority shareholder of Smart
Ascent, the Group has been working closely with Innovative
Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited (“Innovative Pharm”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Innovative Pharm Group”), the 51% shareholder of
Smart Ascent, in monitoring the progress of the In-process R&D with
a view to facilitating successful launching of the Product to the
market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

For the purpose of financing the working capital requirements of
Smart Ascent Group for the In-process R&D, the Group and
Innovative Pharm Group, as lenders and Smart Ascent, as borrower,
entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement on 27 July 2018 (“First
Loan Agreement”) for a loan to Smart Ascent amounting to HK$30
million in total (“First Loan”), contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$15.3
million by Innovative Pharm Group and as to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million
by the Group. The First Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per
annum and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each
drawdown of the First Loan. In August 2019 and September 2018,
Smart Ascent had drawn down in aggregate of HK$20 million and
HK$10 million respectively, that the First Loan of HK$30 million had
been fully drawn down, and Innovative Pharm Group and the Group
had made contribution in the aggregate sum of HK$15.3 million and
HK$14.7 million respectively to Smart Ascent.

To enhance the financial resources of Smart Ascent Group and
facilitate the progress of the clinical trial and further development of
the Product, Innovative Pharm Group and the Group, as lenders, and
Smart Ascent, as borrower, entered into the second shareholders’
loan agreement (“Second Loan Agreement”) on 8 March 2022 for a
loan to Smart Ascent amounting to HK$12 million in total (“Second
Loan”), contributed as to 51% i.e. HK$6.12 million by Innovative
Pharm Group and as to 49% i.e. HK$5.88 million by the Group.

The Second Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum
and has a repayment term fixed at 60 months after each drawdown
of the Second Loan. Smart Ascent had drawn down HK$5 million,
HK$4.5 million and HK$2.5 million in June 2022, December 2022 and
March 2023 respectively, that the Second Loan had been fully drawn
down, and Innovative Pharm Group and the Group had made
contribution in the aggregate sum of HK$6.12 million and HK$5.88
million respectively to Smart Ascent.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

As stated in the 2022 Annual Report, the COVID-19 pandemic since
early 2020 had disrupted the normal operations of participating
hospitals for the clinical trial of the Product, that the clinical trial in the
process of selection and enrolment of patients was temporarily
suspended pending improvement in the pandemic situation, for the
safety of patients and clinical researchers. As the pandemic situation
in China had gradually improved, during the third quarter of 2020, the
enrolment of patients had commenced, and while the pandemic
situation in China was largely under control, the preventive and
control measures associated with the prolonged pandemic situation
have been continuously implemented causing certain delay in patient
selection and enrolment. Furthermore, the sporadic outbreaks of
COVID-19 variant in China, and particularly the emergence of the
highly transmissible Omicron variant in early 2022, had driven the
nation to vigilantly stick to its toughest COVID-19 measures, and
caused regional and citywide lockdowns in many parts of China,
restricting patient flows and impacting on clinical research activities.
As such, the patient selection and enrolment process experienced
further delay, and is still ongoing. In light of the aforesaid, and based
on the current information available to the Company, as the pandemic
control measures in China have been substantially lifted from early
2023, the prolonged pandemic disruptions are expected to be
gradually minimised that Smart Ascent Group has under the current
circumstance, reassessed the timeline for commercialisation of the
Product which is currently expected to be in around the first quarter
of 2025.

During the year, the loss of Smart Ascent Group was about HK$13.0
million (2022: HK$13.2 million), for which the Group’s share of loss
amounted to about HK$3.8 million (2022: HK$3.7 million)
representing an increase of about HK$0.1 million.

In light of the accelerating aging population and increasing life
expectancy, and the development of chronic diseases such as
diabetes in China, market demand for quality diabetes drugs is
expected to be enormous. The Product characterised by oral
administration of insulin is expected to provide an effective treatment
and better quality of life for the constantly growing diabetic population
in China that there will be enormous market potential for the Product,
and once the Product is commercialised, it will bring substantial
benefits to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Interest in an Associate (Continued)

In making the assessment as to the recoverability of the In-process
R&D and the fair value of the interest in the associate, the Group has
engaged an independent qualified valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited
(“Valuer”) in conducting a valuation. The asset-based valuation
approach has been consistently adopted in the valuation and the
recoverable amount of the In-process R&D was determined based on
fair value calculation using cash flow projections, which the estimated
cash inflows derived from budgeted sales and gross margin were
based on the expectation for the market development, and which
included the regulatory approvals from the relevant government
bodies and launching of the Product in around the first quarter of
2025. The recoverable amount of the interest in the associate was
determined based on share of the estimated fair value of the In-
process R&D after taking into account the lack of control discount.

The expected future economic benefits attributable to the In-process
R&D was assumed to cover a 10-year period from the
commercialisation of the Product. The calculation used in the cash
flow projections with certain key parameters are as below:

Discount rate (post-tax) BEIR R (R Fi18)
Growth rate 1 £ &
Gross profit ratio EF=

In conducting the impairment assessment, the directors of the
Company, having considered the prevailing market conditions,
reasonableness of assumptions used for the cash flow projections
and the valuation as prepared by the Valuer indicating its fair value in
excess of the carrying amount, do not identify any indication on the
carrying amount of the interest in the associate as at 31 March 2023
that may need to be impaired. Accordingly, no impairment is
considered necessary as at 31 March 2023.

The Group will continue to closely coordinate with Innovative Pharm
in monitoring the progress of the In-process R&D with a view to
facilitating successful launching of the Product to the market. In
addition, the Group will continue to perform impairment assessment
on the carrying amount of the interest in the associate in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36 “Impairment of Assets”
where necessary.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

REVENUE AND OPERATING RESULTS (Continued)

Other income and other gains and losses, net

Other income and other gains and losses, net were in total a gain of
about HK$161.7 milion (2022: gain of HK$162.2 million), which
decreased by about HK$0.5 milion. The decrease was mainly the
result of (i) a non-cash item related to decrease in gain arising from
fair value change of the Group’s investment in convertible bonds of
about HK$10.0 million; (i) decrease in provision for impairment loss
on amount due from an associate and loan to an associate of about
HK$7.5 million in aggregate; (i) increase in provision for impairment
loss on trade receivables of about HK$1.1 milion and reversal of
written off on other receivables of about HK$0.8 million respectively; (iv)
increase in bank interest income of about HK$1.8 million; (v) increase
in rental income of about HK$0.2 million and (vi) increase in loan
interest income of about HK$0.1 million.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased to about HK$16.7 million
(2022: HK$26.3 million), representing a decrease of about HK$9.6
million or 36.5%. Such decrease was mainly due to significant
decrease in marketing and promotion expenses of about HK$10.0
million as a result of the substantially lower marketing and sales
activities caused by the disruptions of regional and citywide
lockdowns in China and the relevant budget control, and partly offset
by the increase in research and development expenses of about
HK$0.4 million.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses were about HK$25.7 million (2022: HK$24.2
million), representing an increase of about HK$1.5 million or 6.3%,
which was primarily due to the increase in overall maintenance costs
and expenses for optimising the Group’s workplaces of the
manufacturing segment of about HK$2.4 million, which outweighed
the cost reduction in other operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

OUTLOOK

Against the backdrop of COVID-19 pandemic abating, cross-border
travels and normal economic activities resuming in many countries,
and supply chain disruptions starting to ease, the global economy is
expected to gradually recover in the post-pandemic era. However,
inflationary pressure, geopolitical tensions and soaring energy prices
continued to add to the uncertainties surrounding the economic
outlook. Despite challenges and complexities from the external
environment, China has always demonstrated its resilience to stabilise
its economy and exhibited signs of gradual recovery through
implementing an array of policies against the destabilising forces, and
leveraging its dual circulation economic strategy.

The prolonged COVID-19 pandemic situation in the past three years
impacted the pharmaceutical industry’s growth pace as the citywide
lockdowns and border restrictions caused disruptions to supply
chains, affecting pharmaceutical manufacturing and distribution in
China. However, China’s timely implementation of the pandemic
containment measures and controls, together with a series of policies
and reforms on stabilising the economy and advancing the research
and development of innovative drugs, have facilitated the industry to
continuously develop in a sustainable development pace. As the
pandemic control measures in China have been substantially lifted
from early 2023, the supply chain interruptions that may impact
business operations will be gradually minimised, and the Group
expects that the pharmaceutical manufacturing sector in China will
continue to prosper and facilitate the business growth of the Group’s
pharmaceutical manufacturing business in the years to come.

Amid the challenges brought by the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic,
the health awareness among people is growing and demand for
quality drugs remains robust in China. In accordance with the
Fourteenth Five-Year Plan (2021-2025), China’s pharmaceutical
industry is expected to continuously undergo transformation and
thereby developing a sustainable path while the health systems will
continuously be enhanced to cater for building of Healthy China.
Grasping the development trends of the pharmaceutical industry, the
Group will continue to allocate its internal resources to develop quality
products so as to meet market demand and enhance its core
competitiveness in the long run.

The Group believes that it has maintained prudent cash management
to preserve a sound financial position, which remains stable, such
that the Group will endeavor to capture the growing market
opportunity while remaining cautiously optimistic in striving for a
sustainable development path for the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financial Resources

It is the Group’s strategy to manage its financial resources
conservatively by maintaining a healthy level of cash flows to meet all
its financial commitments when they fall due. The Group generally
finances its operations with internally generated cash flow and
banking facilities.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total cash and bank balances
(including pledged bank deposits) of about HK$122.2 million (2022:
HK$133.6 million), representing a decrease by about HK$11.4 million
or 8.5%. Such decrease in cash and bank balances included net
cash used in operations, provision of a shareholder’s loan of about
HK$5.9 million to Smart Ascent, the cash utilisations for acquisition of
property, plant and equipment of about HK$6.6 million and payment
of lease interests and liabilities of about HK$2.2 million, and an
increase in bank interest income of about HK$1.8 million.

Accruals and Other Payables

Accruals and other payables decreased by about HK$5.3 million to
about HK$26.0 million as of 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$31.3 million).
Such decrease was mainly due to decrease in payables for marketing
and promotion expenses and other operating expenses.

The Group did not have bank borrowings during the year but had
banking facilities on trade finance, which were supported by the
pledge of the Group’s fixed deposits of about HK$19.8 million (2022:
HK$21.7 million) and corporate guarantees from the Company and
certain subsidiaries of the Company. In general, there is no significant
seasonality fluctuation on trade finance requirement of the Group.

The Group’s total borrowing over total assets ratio as at 31 March
2023 was 0.07 (2022: 0.065), calculated based on the Group’s total
assets of about HK$1,444.9 milion (2022: HK$1,317.1 million) and
total debts of about HK$103.2 milion (2022: HK$85.3 million),
comprising convertible bonds of about HK$98.6 milion (2022:
HK$83.1 million) and lease liabilities of about HK$4.6 million (2022:
HK$2.2 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s business transactions, assets and liabilities are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars
and Renminbi. The Group manages the foreign currency exposure by
closely monitoring the foreign currency movements and may
purchase foreign currencies at spot rate, when and where appropriate
for meeting its payment obligation. No hedge on foreign currencies
was made during the year but the Group will use financial instruments
for hedging purpose when considered appropriate.

Material Acquisition and Disposal

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and investments in financial instruments during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
— Investments in Convertible Bonds

The Company held financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$793.5 milion as at 31 March 2023 (2022:
approximately HK$634.9 million), which related to the Group’s
investments in convertible bonds issued by Innovative Pharm
(“Innovative Pharm Bonds”). The fair value of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds represented 55.0% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March
2023 (2022: 48.3%).

Innovative Pharm is an investment holding company the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 399), and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the trading
of beauty products and equipment, and research, development and
commercialisation of the oral insulin product.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
— Investments in Convertible Bonds (Continued)

As stated in the Company’s profit warning announcement dated 16
June 2023, based on a preliminary assessment by the directors of
the Company on the Group’s consolidated management accounts for
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group expected to record a loss
of about HK$190 million of which a loss of about HK$165 million was
attributable to a non-cash item, resulted from the fair value change of
the Group’s investments in convertible bonds (“Innovative Pharm
Bond”). The preliminary assessment was based on the valuation
conducted by the Valuer with the assumption that the maturity date
of the Innovative Pharm Bonds would be extended for two years to
28 July 2025 in accordance with the third deed of amendment (“Third
Amendment Deed”) dated 28 April 2023 entered into between the
Company and Innovative Pharm to further amend certain terms and
conditions of the Innovative Pharm Bonds (“Third Amendments”), as
the Company’s circular and notice had been despatched to its
shareholders for the special general meeting to be held on 28 June
2023 to approve the Third Amendments.

The Third Amendments mainly included: () the two-year extension of
the maturity date of the Innovative Pharm Bonds from 28 July 2023
to 28 July 2025; (i) the annual interest at 4.5% for the two-year
extension period from 28 July 2023 to 28 July 2025; and (i) the
additional interest at 15% per annum on the total outstanding
interests up to 28 July 2025.

In the course of finalising the annual results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and when further discussions with the auditor,
the Company noted that certain terms of the Third Amendments
including the increase of annual interest rate from 3.5% to 4.5% for
the two years’ extension to 28 July 2025 had yet to fix prior to the
year-end date 31 March 2023, such that it shall be more appropriate
for the Company to assess the impact of the fair value change of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds without taking into account the Third
Amendments, that was approved by the shareholders on 28 June
2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 181 employees (2022: 168).
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$21.1 milion (2022:
approximately HK$22.4 million). The increase in number of employees
primarily related to increase in production workforce of the
manufacturing segment in the first quarter of 2023. The decrease in
staff costs was mainly due to decreased expenses of wages, salaries
and allowances of the manufacturing segment due to the factory
lockdown in accordance with the COVID-19 containment measures
in China, and cost reduction in other operations of the Group.

The Group remunerates its employees with salary, bonus and other
benefits based on industry practices and provides various training
opportunities to its staff members and directors. Its staff benefits,
welfare and statutory contributions, if any, are made in accordance
with prevailing labour laws of its operating entities.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2022, a new share
option scheme (“New Scheme”) had been adopted by the Company,
which became effective on 2 September 2022 upon obtaining listing
approval from The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years from that date, while the share option scheme
adopted by the Company with effective adoption date of 29 August
2012 which had a term of 10 years expired on 28 August 2022 (“Old
Scheme”) and no share options had been granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed under the Old Scheme.

The New Scheme will enable the Group to reward the employees, the
directors and other selected participants for their contribution to the
Group and will assist the Group in its recruitment and retention of
high caliber professionals, executives and employees who are
instrumental to the long-term growth of the Group. Details of the New
Scheme are disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 29 July 2022.

From the effective date of the New Scheme to 31 March 2023, no
share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed
under the New Scheme.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
BB 55 & 2 1 (48)

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

@)

On 31 March 2023, Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (“Changchun Extrawell”’), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share buy-back
agreement with the vendor to buy back shares representing
9.14% of total issued share capital of Changchun Extrawell (“Share
Buy-Back”) for cancellation (“Share Cancellation”) at the
consideration of RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,972,000). Upon completion of the Share Buy-Back and
Share Cancellation, the Group’s shareholding in Changchun
Extrawell will be increased to 80.46% and Changchun Extrawell
will continue to be an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Group. The Share Buy-Back transaction was completed on
19 June 2023.

On 28 April 2023, the Company as the bondholder and
Innovative Pharm as the issuer of the HK$715,000,000
convertible bonds due on 28 July 2023 (“‘Innovative Pharm
Bonds”), entered into, the third deed of amendment (“Third
Amendment Deed”) to further amend certain terms and
conditions of the Innovative Pharm Bonds in respect of the
further extension on the maturity date and the payment of the
interest of the Innovative Pharm Bonds to 28 July 2025 (“Third
Amendments”), and the deed of waiver pursuant to which the
Company granted to Innovative Pharm a waiver in respect of
the obligation of Innovative Pharm to the extent necessary and
solely to effect the Third Amendments. The transaction
contemplated under the Third Amendment Deed in respect of
the Third Amendments constitutes a major transaction for the
Company which is subject to the reporting, announcement and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 28 June
2023, the transaction was approved by the shareholders.

Other than the abovementioned, no other material subsequent event
is noted.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EENEEEEASSEHN

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi Ph.D. (aged 60)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Dr. Xie Yi is a professor of School of Life Sciences in Fudan University
and is one of the founders of United Gene group of companies in the
PRC. Being a scientist with significant breakthroughs in human
genome research, Dr. Xie is responsible for research and
development and management of United Gene group and is the vice
chairman and chief executive officer of United Gene Holdings Limited
in the PRC.

Dr. Xie is currently the chairman and chief executive officer of the
Company responsible for the strategic planning and development and
the overall management of the Group. He is also a director and
chairman of Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a non-
owned subsidiary of the Company established in the PRC, and a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Cheng Yong (aged 60)

Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Cheng Yong is a practicing pharmacist in the PRC. Mr. Cheng
obtained his Master of Pharmacology from Second Military Medical
University in the PRC. He has been engaged in pharmacology and
research study for over ten years and has extensive experience in the
aspects of research and drug development. Since 2001, he has been
working in the capacity of director and general manager for various
companies owned by Dr. Xie Yi and Dr. Mao Yumin, former chairman
and executive director of the Company. Mr. Cheng is currently a
director of a PRC subsidiary of Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech
Limited (formerly known as United Gene High-Tech Group Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Since 1 July 2019, Mr. Cheng has been appointed as the deputy
chief executive officer of the Company to provide support in the
execution of the Company’s plans and strategies.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EEREEBEEASGN ()

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Lou Yi Ph.D. (aged 65)

Executive Director

Dr. Lou Yi obtained a doctoral degree in medicine and conducted his
postdoctoral research in clinical study at Shanghai Second Medical
University (now renamed as School of Medicine, Shanghai Jiaotong
University) and industrial economy at Fudan University. Dr. Lou had
been a director and general manager of Shanghai Biochip Co. Ltd.
and as a director and deputy general manager of General Technology
Group Pharmaceutical Holdings, Ltd. in the PRC. Dr. Lou was also a
non-executive director of Shanghai Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, from June 2004 to June 2006. Dr. Lou is currently a
director and general manager of various companies owned by Dr. Xie
Yi and Dr. Mao Yumin, former chairman and executive director of the
Company.

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen (aged 60)

Executive Director

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen joined the Group in May 2008 as assistant to
the Board and was appointed as executive director in October 2008.
Ms. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in both the
commercial and industrial sectors including the PRC pharmaceutical
market. Ms. Wong has extensive experience in areas of business
administration and internal control. She is currently the Authorised
Representative of the Company.

Ms. Wong was appointed as the joint company secretary of the
Company with effect from 8 January 2014 and has acted as the
company secretary of the Company since 30 September 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Lin Hu (aged 85)

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Fang Lin Hu was a professor in Fudan University, ex-vice
chancellor of the Fudan University (overseeing technology
industrialisation and utilisation matters), a member of National
Information Technology Education and Electronic Education Advisory
Committee and vice faculty head of the Physics Faculty of Fudan
University, dean of the Electronic Engineering Faculty, and the director
of Micro-electronic Research Institute. Mr. Fang retired in 2000.
Currently, he is the chairman of Fudan University Senior Professor
Association, the president of Fudan University Retired Education
Workers Association, and an honorary chairman of Fudan University
Shanghai Alumni Association. Mr. Fang has performed research in
the area of microwave theory and technology. He is a well-recognised
scientist who has extensive experience in scientific research and
management. Mr. Fang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director in 2001.

Ms. Jin Song (aged 52)

Independent Non-executive Director

Ms. Jin Song holds a diploma in engineering from Broadcasting
University in Shandong Province and a diploma in business from
Fudan University. She is a member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“CICPA”) and passed all the professional
examinations held by CICPA in 2001. Ms. Jin has over 20 years’
experience in accounting in different industries. Ms. Jin was
appointed as an independent non-executive director in 2004.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

EEREEBEEASGN ()

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Dr. Guo Yi (aged 42)

Independent Non-executive Director

Dr. Guo Yi obtained a bachelor degree in science (with a major in
biology) and a doctorate degree in science (with a major in genetics)
from the School of Life Sciences of Fudan University in 2003 and
2011 respectively. Dr. Guo has extensive experience in the fields of
genetics, health care management, and investment management and
development for venture in biomedicine. Dr. Guo was a non-executive
director (from 8 June 2011 to 26 April 2012) and an executive director
(from 27 April 2012 to 13 December 2015) of United Gene High-Tech
Group Limited (now known as Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech
Limited) , a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Dr. Guo has been committing his time and working in investment
management and project development in the fields of biomedicine,
medical devices and diagnostic services since August 2015. He is
currently the managing partner of Shanghai Rui Jian Venture Capital
Management Co., Ltd.* (LBEEEIXKEERERAT), a
company established in the PRC.

*English name for identification only

Senior Management

Mr. Gong Youlu (aged 54)

General Manager of Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“CEP”) and Jilin Extrawell Changbaishan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(“JECP?”)

Mr. Gong Youlu joined the Group in 2011. Mr. Gong is responsible for
the overall management and operations of CEP and JECP. He has
over 20 years’ experience in the pharmaceutical manufacturing
sector. Mr. Gong holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree from
Taiyuan Mechanical College (now known as North University of China)
and a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Jilin University,
China. Prior to joining the Group, he had held the position of general
manager for pharmaceutical manufacturing enterprises in the PRC for
over 10 years.
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DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (CONTINUED)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Senior Management (Continued)

Ms. Wu Hong (aged 51)

Group Senior Finance Manager

Ms. Wu Hong, a qualified accountant in the PRC, joined the Group in
1995 and is responsible for the Group’s financial matters in the PRC.
She graduated from Jiangsu Television Broadcast University, majoring
in Foreign Trading Accounting. Before joining the Group, she worked
with a joint venture company in the PRC.

Mr. Huang Wenda (aged 46)

Financial Controller of CEP and JECP

Mr. Huang Wenda joined the Group in 2004. Mr. Huang is responsible
for financial control and financial management of the operations of
CEP and JECP and currently also serves as secretary to the board
handling corporate secretarial matters of CEP and JECP. He has
accumulated experience of over 10 years in financial management of
pharmaceutical manufacturing enterprises. Prior to joining the Group,
he worked with manufacturing enterprises in the PRC.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate Governance

The Group recognises the importance of achieving and
monitoring the high standard of corporate governance
consistent with the need and requirements of its business and
the best interest of all of its shareholders. The Group is fully
committed to doing so.

The Company has adopted and complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“Code
Provisions”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock
Exchange during the year ended 31 March 2023, except for
certain deviations as set out below.

Code Provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same person. Dr. Xie Yi has served as the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
However, the Company believes that there is adequate balance
of power and authority in place though vesting the roles of both
chairman and chief executive officer in the same person as all
major decisions of the Company are made in consultation with
members of the Board.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
According to the bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors shall retire from office by rotation and the Chairman,
Deputy Chairman or Managing Director shall not be subject to
retirement by rotation. The Company’s bye-laws deviate from
the Code Provision. The Company considers that the continuity
of the Chairman/Deputy Chairman/Managing Director and their
leadership are essential for the stability of the business and key
management. The rotation methodology ensures a reasonable
continuity of directorship which is to the best interest of the
Company’s shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
(Continued)

Corporate Governance (Continued)

Code provision F.1.1 stipulates that the Company should have
a policy on payment of dividends. The Company has not
established a dividend policy as the Company considers it more
appropriate to determine a dividend payment after taking into
account those factors including the Company’s then financial
performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions, to enable the Company be in a better position to
cope with its future development, which is to the best interest
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

The Company will continue to review and monitor the situation
as stated above, and to improve the practices as and when the
circumstances demand.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by
the directors. Based on specific enquiry of the directors, the
directors have complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this annual report, the board of directors (the
“Board”) comprises four executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors (INEDs”). The Board has
established three Board committees namely the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee. All
the INEDs are members of the Board committees.

The current composition of the Board and its changes since 1
April 2022 are set out below.

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Cheng Yong (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Dr. Lou Vi

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Lin Hu

Mr. Xue Jing Lung (passed away on 4 December 2022)
Ms. Jin Song

Dr. Guo Yi (appointed on 14 April 2023)

Following the passing away of Mr. Xue Jing Lun, an INED and a
member of each of the three Board committees, on 4
December 2022, the Company did not meet (i) the minimum
number of INEDs required under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing
Rules; and (i) the minimum number of members in the audit
committee required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.
Pursuant to Rules 3.11 and 3.23 of the Listing Rules, the
Company is required to appoint sufficient number of INEDs and
members of the audit committee within three months after
failing to meet the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21
of the Listing Rules. The process to identify suitable candidates
to fill the vacancies was lengthened due to the customary
holidays in mainland China and the epidemic containment
measures under COVID-19 in place in mainland China prior to
the Lunar New Year. The Company had applied for, and the
Stock Exchange had granted to the Company a waiver for strict
compliance with the Listing Rules for filling the vacancies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition of the Board (Continued)

With effect from 14 April 2023, Dr. Guo Yi was appointed as an
INED and a member of each of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Following the aforesaid changes, the number of INEDs has
satisfied the minimum number as stipulated under Rule 3.10(1)
of the Listing Rules and the composition of the Audit Committee
also complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

Each of the INEDs has provided to the Company an annual
confirmation in writing of his/her independence pursuant to the
requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all INEDs meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that they are
independent under the Listing Rules. Of the three INEDs, Ms.
Jin Song has appropriate accounting or related financial
management experience as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed, there is no family, financial, business or
other material/relevant relationship among members of the
Board.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company. The Board oversees the Group’s businesses,
strategic decisions and performances and provides insights
regarding the Group’s culture and values. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management of the Group. Major corporate
matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to the
management include the preparation of interim and annual
reports and announcements for the Board’s approval before
publishing, execution of business strategies and initiatives
adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate risk
management and internal control systems, and compliance with
relevant statutory and regulatory requirements and rules and
regulations. The Board is ultimately accountable for the Group’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views
Available to the Board

The Company maintains the following mechanisms which are
reviewed annually to ensure independent views and input are
available to the Board:

The Board comprises three INEDs that represent over one-third
of the Board members. Each of the Board committees
comprises all the INEDs. Each of the Nomination Committee
and Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs out of its
four members. The Audit Committee comprises INEDs only.

The Company’s nomination policy sets out the approach and
procedures for the nomination and selection, and appointment/
re-appointment of directors (including INEDs). The Nomination
Committee is mandated to assess annually the independence
of all INEDs by reference to the independence criteria as set out
in the Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement. In addition to providing the written
confirmation of independence annually, each INED is also
required to inform the Company as soon as practicable if there
is any change in his/her own personal particulars that may
materially affect his/her independence.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, each director has
to disclose his/her interest, if any, in the matters to be
considered at the Board meetings and shall abstain from voting
in respect of any transaction, contract or arrangement in which
he/she is interested. INEDs (as other directors) shall not vote or
be counted in the quorum on any Board resolution approving
any contract or arrangement in which such director or any of
his/her close associates has a material interest.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mechanisms Ensuring Independent Views
Available to the Board (Continued)

Other than the director’s fee for serving as a member of the
Board and Board committees, no equity-based remuneration
with performance-related elements will be granted to INEDs as
this may lead to bias in their decision-making and compromise
their objectivity and independence.

INEDs (as other directors) are entitled to seek further information
and documentation from the management on the matters to be
discussed at Board meetings. They can also seek assistance
from the company secretary of the Company and, where
necessary, independent advice from external professional
advisers at the Company’s expense.

During the meetings of the Board and Board committees,
INEDs and executive directors are encouraged to express their
independent views and inputs in an open manner.

The chairman of the Board shall at least annually hold meetings
with the INEDs without the presence of executive directors to
discuss major issues and any concerns.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms can facilitate
the directors to contribute effectively to the Board with
independent views and input.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, five Board meetings and
one annual general meeting of the Company were held, and the
attendance records of each director at the respective meetings
are set out in the table below:
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Number of attendance

o R

Board General

Meeting Meeting

Name of Director EENS Exgex BREXE
Dr. Xie Yi HEIE L 5/5 1/1
Mr. Cheng Yong 2E L E 5/5 1/1
Dr. Lou Yi BlzE+ 5/5 1/1
Ms. Wong Sau Kuen FEHFBLL 5/5 1/1
Mr. Liu Kwok Wah*' BEZE LAY 3/3 1/1
Mr. Fang Lin Hu RS 5/5 1/1
Mr. Xue Jing Lun*? B fm e e 3/4 1/1
Ms. Jin Song CA /NG 5/5 1/1

#1 Mr. Liu Kwok Wah resigned with effect from 30 September 2022.

#2 Mr. Xue Jing Lun passed away on 4 December 2022.

In addition, a meeting was held between the Chairman and the
INEDs without the presence of executive directors during the
year.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance for members of the Board and officers in order
to protect legal claims against their lawful discharge of duties in
relation to the Group’s business.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Dr. Xie Yi serves as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. This is a deviation from Code Provision C.2.1,
which requires the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. As all major decisions of the Company are made in
consultation with members of the Board, the Company believes
that there is adequate balance of power and authority in place
though vesting the roles of both chairman and chief executive
officer in the same person.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2, every director shall retire by
rotation at least once every three years. The INEDs are not
appointed for a specific term and according to the bye-laws of
the Company, one-third of the directors (except for the
Chairman) shall retire from office by rotation and become
eligible for re-election. The reason for the deviation is that the
Company believes that the directors ought to be committed to
representing the long-term interest of the Company’s
shareholders and the rotation methodology ensures a
reasonable proportion of directors in continuity which is to the
best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

The function of the INEDs includes but not limited to
participating in meetings of the Board and of Board committees
to bring an independent judgement to bear on issues of
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct.

Each of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee
and Audit Committee, is comprised of all INEDs and is
responsible for, inter alia, the review and oversight of the
activities within its defined terms of reference. The written terms
of reference for the respective Board committees are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee consists of four members including,
Dr. Xie Yi, the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
of the Company, and three INEDs. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Dr. Xie Yi.

The major role and function of the Nomination Committee are to
formulate and implement the policy for nominating candidates
for consideration by the Board and election by shareholders,
review the structure, size and composition of the Board with
due regard to Board diversity, and to assess the independence
of non-executive directors having regard to the criteria under
the Listing Rules.

During the year, one meeting was held and all members had
attended the meeting to review the Board'’s structure, size and
composition including Board diversity, and review the
implementation of the Board the Board Diversity Policy;
consider and make recommendations to the Board on the re-
appointment of retiring directors; and assess the independence
of INEDs.

The attendance of each director is set out below:
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Number of attendance

Name of Director EEnE R
Mr. Fang Lin Hu TR ER S A 1/1
Mr. Xue Jing Lun BRmkE 1/1
Ms. Jin Song ML 1/1
Dr. Xie Yi 5150 18 e

Upon the passing away of the INED, Mr. Xue Jing Lun on 4
December 2022, the Nomination Committee comprising of Mr.
Fang Lin Hu, Ms. Jin Song and Dr. Xie Yi, endeavored to
identify individual(s) suitably qualified to become Board
member(s), conducted selection and recommended the suitable
candidate for nomination to the Board based on merit and
contribution the candidate will bring to the Board with due
regard to the Board Diversity Policy and in accordance with the
Company’s nomination policy. Dr. Guo Yi who was
recommended for nomination to become a Board member,
was appointed as an INED and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit
Committee, with effect from 14 April 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy and the
Nomination Committee will help implement and monitor the
policy. To enhance the effectiveness of the Board, selection of
candidates is based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and
length of service. The Nomination Committee will review and
discuss, on an annual basis, Board diversity with regard to the
building and maintaining of the Board with a diversity of
directors, without focusing on a single diversity aspect, and will
make recommendation to the Board for its consideration and
approval. The Board currently comprises four executive
directors and three INEDs, who have possessed professional
qualifications or relevant experience in various aspects;
including accounting and financial management, corporate
compliance, business management, scientific research, China
pharmaceutical industry, and investment management in
biomedicine. The directors’ biographical details including their
roles and functions, academic background and experience are
disclosed in “Directors and Senior Management Profile” on
pages 23 to 27 of this annual report, and the Board profile in
gender, age and length of service is summarised as below:

Board profile
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Number of directors (%)

E=gEN ESAZ (%)

Capacity Executive directors: 4 (57.1%) INEDs: 3 (42.9%)

H1H MITEE : 4(57.1%) B IEBE - 3(42.9%)
Gender Male: 5 (71.4%) Female: 2 (28.6%)

5l B 5(71.4%) Z M 2(28.6%)

Age Group Age 40-60: 5 (71.4%) Age above 60: 2 (28.6%)
F e 48 7 40 Z605% 1 5(71.4%) BOFTIA £ 1 2(28.6%)

Length of service

AR 75 4 23 10F AT ¢

Below 10 years: 1 (14.3%)
1(14.3%)

Above 10 years: 6 (85.7%)
10F LA £ - 6(85.7%)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

Having reviewed the structure and composition of the Board
and taken into account the diversity perspectives, the
Nomination Committee considered that the current Board has
appropriate mix of skills, experience and a sufficient level of
diversity that are relevant to the business nature and
requirements of the Group, and concluded that the Board
Diversity Policy has been effectively implemented.

Gender Diversity

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
directors, two of whom are female (representing 28.6%). The
Board considers that the current level of female representation
reflects gender diversity and meets specific needs of the Group,
and that gender diversity of the Board has been achieved.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total workforce (including
senior management) comprises approximately 35.9% male and
64.1% female. The Group has avoided a single gender
workforce in workplaces. Opportunities for employment, training
and career development are equally opened to all eligible
employees without discrimination. The Group will review the
gender diversity of the workforce regularly in accordance with
business development of the Group.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee has adopted a nomination policy
guiding the nomination criteria and procedures to identify, select
and recommend candidates for directorship.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall consider a number of
nomination criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate for directorship or proposed re-appointment of a
retiring director, including but not limited to: the skills,
knowledge and experience possessed by the candidate or
retiring director which are relevant to the Company’s business,
corporate development and strategy; the diversity perspectives
set out in the Board Diversity Policy and the balance of skills
and experience in Board composition; the level of independence
from the Company and compliance of the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules; and such other factors the Nomination
Committee may consider relevant to enhancement of the
effectiveness of the Board.

Subject to the provisions in the Company’s bye-laws, where the
Nomination Committee determines that an additional director or
a replacement director is required, it may take appropriate
steps in connection with the identification and evaluation of a
suitable candidate for directorship. The Nomination Committee
may deploy channels including referral from directors, advisers
of the Company and external executive search firms in the
identification process, evaluate a candidate based on the
nomination criteria stated above, and make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval.

For re-appointment of a retiring director, the Nomination
Committee reviews his/her service to the Company, the level of
participation on the Board during his/her term, and after taking
into account the nomination criteria, recommends to the Board
for proposed re-appointment of the retiring director who wishes
to stand for re-election at the Company’s general meeting.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee may also propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to the
Board, if it evaluates that the candidate meets the nomination
criteria. The procedures for shareholders to propose a person
for election as a director are published in the Company’s
website.

The Board has the ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of directors. On accepting the recommendation
made by the Nomination Committee, the Board may (as the
case may be) appoint the candidate as director to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board and recommend the
candidate to shareholders for election or re-election (for a
retiring director) at the general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of four members
including, three INEDs and Dr. Xie Yi. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Fang Lin Hu, an INED.

The Remuneration Committee has been established with
specific terms of reference, which state clearly its authority and
duties, among others, it makes recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and
senior management remuneration and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy and review and approve remuneration proposals with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time. The Remuneration Committee makes
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management, and
also review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
as may from time to time be adopted by the Company.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, two meetings were held
and attendance of each director is set out below:

EXERRS (E)

FMEE S W)
BE-—ZT-——&#=-A=+—BL%F
B AQATERAMAGS S8
TWERRHIMT

Number of attendance

Name of Director EEnE R
Mr. Fang Lin Hu MRS E 2/2
Mr. Xue Jing Lun’ B R fmiE” 1/2
Ms. Jin Song EME L 2/2
Dr. Xie Yi HRRIE L 2/2

passed away on 4 December 2022

The emoluments of the directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee with regard to
the directors’ respective responsibilities, individual performance,
and/or decided by the Board as authorised by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting . The Company has also adopted
a share option scheme as an incentive to the directors and the
senior management. The Remuneration Committee conducts
regular review of the Company’s remuneration policy and
structure of the directors and senior management which takes
into account the prevailing market conditions and the role and
responsibility of individual members, for making
recommendation to the Board. During the year, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved the
remuneration packages (including directors’ fee) of the
directors, and made recommendation to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals for
the year ended 31 March 2023 are disclosed in notes 11 and
12 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

Emoluments of senior management whose profiles are
disclosed in the section “Directors and Senior Management
Profile” but not included in the note as the five highest paid
individuals, fell within the following band:

G.
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ant

=

Number of individuals

AE
2023 2022
—_E-= —_=F_
Emolument band B & &5
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 7% 7T £ 1,000,000/ 7T 3 3

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs and is chaired by
Mr. Fang Lin Hu, an INED.

The Audit Committee has been established with specific terms
of reference that have included the duties set out in the relevant
Code Provisions, with appropriate modification when necessary.

The major role and function of the Audit Committee are to
ensure the maintenance of proper relationship with the
Company’s auditor, the establishment of proper review and
control arrangements relating to risk management and internal
control systems, financial reporting and the compliance to
applicable reporting requirements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

EXERRS (E)

During the year ended 31 March 2023, three meetings were B ZE =8 — = 4 = 5| = 4 = (8 5=
held and attendance of each director is set out below: BT ZARSZ SEB2HFEXRE
Fan T

Number of attendance
Name of Director EENA HEXRE
Mr. Fang Lin Hu B & a/4
Mr. Xue Jing Lun’ B R fm e 3/4
Ms. Jin Song ML 4/4
# passed away on 4 December 2022

The Audit Committee reviewed the half yearly and full year
consolidated financial statements, including the Group’s
adopted accounting principles and practices, risk management
and internal control systems with internal audit function and
financial reporting matters (in conjunction with the external
auditor for the annual results). The Audit Committee endorsed
the accounting treatments adopted by the Company and, to
the best of its ability assured itself that the disclosures of the
financial information in this annual report comply with the
applicable accounting standards and Appendix 16 of the Listing
Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditor, Elite
Partners CPA Limited in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to
HK$800,000 and HK$ nil respectively.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors of the Company acknowledged their responsibility
for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group
in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and
applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.
The Group has adopted the going concern basis in preparing
its financial statements.

A statement by the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 91 to 97 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing on an ongoing basis
and ensuring that sound and effective risk management and
internal control systems are maintained within the Group in
order to safeguard the Group’s assets and the interests of the
Company’s shareholders. These systems are designed under
the framework of a defined management structure with
specified limits of authority and control responsibilities to
manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and help to provide reasonable assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee is delegated with authorities to assist the
Board to fulfill its oversight role over the systems by reviewing
and evaluating on a regular basis the effectiveness and
adequacy of the Company’s financial controls, risk management
and internal control systems (the “Systems”). During the year
ended 31 March 2023, the Audit Committee, after taking into
consideration the size of the Group’s activities and operations,
had adopted a risk-based approach in identifying the scope of
review for its business units. The review was conducted by the
Group’s risk management and internal audit function
independent of the business unit, which covered appraisal of
the Systems by conducting tests on operating procedures.
Audit findings and recommendations were reported to the Audit
Committee and the senior management. The Audit Committee
and the Board satisfied the result of the review and concluded
that the key areas of the Systems are reasonably and
adequately implemented to their satisfaction.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (Continued)

In addition, a whistleblowing policy and system has been
established for employees and those who deal with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Group and an anti-
corruption policy has been in place to promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations.

With respect to handling and dissemination of inside information
(the “Information”), the Group is aware of its obligations under
the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
guiding principle that when the Information comes to the
Group’s attention, it should be properly disclosed as soon as
practicable. In this regard, the Group has adopted an inside
information disclosure policy (the “Policy”) since 2013 with the
aim of preventing the disclosure of premature Information and
ensuring shareholders and the public are provided with full,
accurate and timely Information about the activities,
performance and financial condition of the Group. The Policy
covers the procedures as to () maintain the confidentiality of
Information, such as identification of project by using code
name, dissemination on a need-to-know basis and (i) identify,
assess and monitor the dissemination of Information. The Audit
Committee and the Board consider that the procedures are
effective in discharging the Group’s obligations in respect of the
Information.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the directors were
briefed and updated with written materials on the latest
development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
legal and regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. In addition, the Company had organised
an in-house training seminar for the directors, which was
conducted by qualified professional covering update of the
Listing Rules, with training materials provided. Directors are also
encouraged to attend outside seminars and talks organised by
professional bodies to enrich their knowledge in discharging
their duties as a director. All directors have participated in
continuous professional development by attending training
courses and/or referring materials on the topics related to
corporate governance and regulations:

Executive Directors

Dr. Xie Yi Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Mr. Cheng Yong Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Dr. Lou Yi Attending in-house training course and
self-study

Ms. Wong Sau Kuen  Attending in-house training course and
outside seminars/talks conducted by
professional bodies and self-study

Attending outside seminars/talks
conducted by professional bodies

and self-study

Mr. Liu Kwok Wah*

# resigned with effect from 30 September 2022
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING
AND DEVELOPMENT (Continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Fang Lin Hu Attending in-house training course and

self-study

Mr. Xue Jing Lun” Self-study

Ms. Jin Song Attending in-house training course and
self-study

# Mr. Xue Jing Lun passed away on 4 December 2022

Dr. Guo Yi was appointed as an INED with effect from 14 April
2023.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Liu Kwok Wah and Ms. Wong Sau Kuen are joint company
secretaries of the Company prior to the resignation of Mr. Liu
Kwok Wah with effect from 30 September 2022. Ms. Wong
Sau Kuen has acted as the company secretary of the Company
since 30 September 2022 and has taken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 March
2023.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the value of maintaining open
communication with its shareholders and is committed to
promoting effective communication with shareholders and
potential investors.

A Shareholder Communication Policy has been put in place to
promote effective engagement and a two-way dialogue with
shareholders and other stakeholders.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(Continued)

Shareholder Communication Policy

The Company strives to ensure that shareholders are given
ready access to balanced and understandable information
relating to the Group, which includes but not limited to the
Group’s financial performance, governance and material
developments, to enable shareholders to exercise their rights in
an informed manner, and to engage actively with the Company.
The Board will review the Shareholder Communication Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company uses a number of channels to disseminate
information to shareholders and potential investors through:

(1)  the Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk)
(2) the Company’s website (www.extrawell.com.hk)

(8)  corporate information in printed and/or electronic forms
such as annual and interim reports, circulars and
explanatory materials, shall be provided in plain language
in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
shareholders’ understanding

(4) the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited in respect of share registration and
related matters

(6)  annual general meeting (and other general meetings)

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The
Board members, in particular, Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Nomination Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Audit Committee (or their delegates) will
endeavor to make themselves available at the annual general
meetings to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.
Shareholders’ meetings are, as far as practicable, arranged to
be held at a convenient location with the aim of encouraging
shareholders’ participation.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

(Continued)

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries, request for publicly
available information and provide comments and suggestions to
the Board by mail to the Company’s principal place of business
at Suites 2206-08, 22/F, Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979
King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong Kong, by email to
info@extrawell.com.hk, and/or via the Company’s investor
corner published on the Company website (www.extrawell.
com.hk). Shareholders can also make enquiries to the Board
directly at the general meetings of the Company.

Having reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
different channels of communication available to the
shareholders, and with reference to the shareholders’
feedbacks in shareholders’ meetings, the Company considered
that the Shareholder Communication Policy has been effectively
implemented during the year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting

Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the directors shall, on the requisition of shareholders
holding not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of
the Company, forthwith proceed duly to convene a special
general meeting of the Company. The requisition must state the
purposes of the meeting, and must be signed by the relevant
requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the
Company. If the directors do not within twenty-one days from
the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists, or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the said date.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (Continued)

Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings

Section 79 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the Company shall, on the requisition in writing by either
any number of shareholders representing not less than one-
twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company or not less
than 100 shareholders, (a) give to shareholders entitled to
receive notice of the next annual general meeting notice of any
resolution which may properly be moved and is intended to be
moved at that meeting, and (b) circulate to these shareholders
a written statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect
to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting.

Section 80 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda stipulates
that the written requisition as signed by the requisitionists must
be deposited at the registered office of the Company with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in
giving effect thereto not less than six weeks before the meeting
in case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not
less than one week before the meeting in case of any other
requisition.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERWSE

INTRODUCTION

As a member of the global business community, the Group
recognises the importance of sustainable development and has
continuously implemented various measures to improve and
strengthen corporate governance and related policies on
sustainability over the past years and will continue to optimise
its ongoing efforts and commitment to sustainability
performance in the years to come. This Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG”) Report was prepared in accordance
with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” (the “Guide”) under Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules,
which reports the Group’s strategies and practices in relation to
environmental protection, social responsibility and operational
governance. This report has been reviewed and approved by
the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company and should
be read in conjunction with the Group’s Annual Report 2023; in
particular the Corporate Governance Report, to gain more
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.

ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is at the core corporate governance framework and
has overall responsibility for the Group’s ESG strategy,
performance and reporting. The established governance
structure comprising the Board and the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees (the “Board Committees”), which has
laid a solid foundation for oversight of the ESG issues, shall
ensure that the Group has corporate governance processes in
place that are effective for overseeing the Group’s management
of significant ESG risks, and that it coordinates the practices
and actions of the Group for sustainable development, through
the management team in the day-to-day implementation of the
ESG strategy and periodic reporting for emerging or continually
evolving ESG issues. The top-down governance structure;
namely the Board, the Board Committees and the management
team at the Group’s business segments, ensures the effective
deployment and implementation of the Group’s ESG risk
management and enables continuing improvement in ESG
performance. Details of governance information for the Board
and the Board Committees are set out on pages 28 to 50, and
the ESG management and controls are detailed in this report.
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ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE (Continued)

The Board is committed to conducting regular review and
evaluation of the Group’s ESG-related policies and risks so as
to ensure that appropriate and effective ESG risk management
and internal control systems (the “Systems”) are in place and
embedded at the Group’s business segments. As the Group’s
manufacturing plants in Changchun, China (or the “PRC”)
involve production process (the “Manufacturing Activities”),
which will have a material ESG impact, an “Environmental
Protection, Occupational Health and Safety Management
Committee” (the “Management Committee”) has been formed
since 2017 to lead the management of environmental protection
as well as to foster a safe and healthy work environment. The
Management Committee includes staff members who are
professionally qualified with relevant permits recognised by the
Chinese authorities to administrate and monitor the works.
Since the Group’s Hong Kong headquarters, trading and gene
development activities (the “Non-Manufacturing Activities”) are
generally office’s operations and will have a limited ESG impact,
no such committee is established and senior staff members of
various departments are engaged to implement the sustainable
policies and practices adopted by the Group.

The Group’s risk management and internal audit function, in
conjunction with the Management Committee, will conduct
regular review on the effectiveness of the Systems and report
the findings to the Audit Committee and the Board on material
ESG issues on an annual basis.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In preparation of this ESG Report, the Group observes and
applies the principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency as set out in the Guide in order to provide a clear,
balanced, quantifiable and comparative information to its
stakeholders:

: Major stakeholders are identified and their
concerns on ESG issues are considered.
ESG issues that have material impacts on the
Group’s sustainable development form the
basis of this report.

(1) Materiality

(2) Quantitative :Where practicable, all environmental and
social key performance indicators (“‘KPIs”) are

disclosed in a quantitative manner.

(3) Balance : The information reflecting the overall
performance of the Group in ESG aspects
are disclosed in an objective and impartial

manner.

:Methods used in the calculation of KPls are
consistent with those used in past years to
facilitate a fair comparison.

(4) Consistency
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

REPORTING BOUNDARY

The information provided in this report covers the period from 1
April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (the “2023 Period”) and relates to
the ESG performance of the Group’s core operating segments;
namely manufacturing, trading and gene development as well
as the Hong Kong headquarters, which reflects the business
activities of the Group’s subsidiaries disclosed in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant
changes to the reporting boundary of the activities included in
this report when compared to the period from 1 April 2021 to
31 March 2022 (the “2022 Period”).

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ESG
ISSUES

The Group values opinions from stakeholders including
shareholders, staff members, business partners, governments
and the communities, and is committed to building constructive
relationships with internal and external stakeholders through
different communication channels including trainings and
workshops with management and general staff, telephone,
email enquiries and general meetings with shareholders and
investors, tender meetings, appraisal and assessment with
suppliers, feedback mechanism and meetings with customers,
dialogues with local environmental departments, industry
forums, and other business and social meetings, and via the
Company’s website, annual reports, and information disclosure
in accordance with the continuing obligations under the Listing
Rules, with a view to achieving its objectives towards
sustainable growth.

Management Committee of the manufacturing segment, senior
management and departmental staff of relevant operations have
been engaged to communicate with stakeholders in order to
understand their concerns and expectations. Through
continuous discussions and communications with stakeholders
using various channels, the materiality issues identified in the
2023 Period has not changed significantly when compared to
the 2022 Period. The following table summarises the material
issues identified and reported by the Group in the 2023 Period:
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RIR-HERERES (E

5. STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND 5, FEHESHEHEKBIE KRR
IDENTIFICATION OF MATERIAL ESG B oHEREREE®@M
ISSUES (Continued)

Activities
EE
Non-
Manufacturing* Manufacturing*
Subject Areas and Aspects TEHBERER g JE B E
A. Environmental Aspects A RIEEMR
A1 Emissions A1 B YD
Air pollutants ZERF ALY M NM
Greenhouse gas i E RS M NM
Water wastes BEIK M NM
Solid wastes BBED M NM
A2 Use of Resources A2 BR{E A
Water 7K M NM
Electricity E5W| M NM
Natural gas RAR M NM
Fuel (vehicle) BE(RE) M NM
Packing material BEYR M NM
A3 The Environment and Natural Resources A3 IRIER KRB IR M NM
A4 Climate Change A4 FARE 1t M NM
B. Social Aspects B. tEEME
Employment and Labour Practices EBREIEHR
B1 Employment B1 & 1E M M
B2 Health and Safety B2 @REL® M M
B3 Development and Training B3 & KiF7 M M
B4 Labour Standards B4 & T %8 M M
Operating Practices ZiEE B
B5 Supply Chain Management Bs i Ei#E R M M
B6 Product Responsibility B6 EmET M M
B7 Anti-corruption B7 R&)S M M
Community ran i
B8 Community Investment B i@ & M M
# referred to the Group’s manufacturing segment in Changchun, China # BASEURPBEEENREDE
* Included the Group’s Hong Kong headquarters, trading and gene e BREAEENESEIN EHLERAR
development segments ENHR
M Material M BX
NM  Not Material NM  TEKX
Feedback g

54

Stakeholders are welcome to send their comments and
suggestions on this ESG Report to the head office of the
Company by post, fax or email as detailed in the Company’s
website www.extrawell.com.hk.

BOMNSZSHEEBBEET FEHEK
BB HA(FRBRE AR A S U www.
extrawell.com.hk)) [A] 78 A &) 48 3 = 3R 12
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

6.1 Emissions (A1)

It is the Group’s policy for each business segment or
operation to manage the environmental impacts of
emissions caused by its activities and comply with the
applicable environmental laws, prevention and control
regulations in which it operates. During the 2023 Period,
the Group has not breached the related emissions laws
and regulations.

Emissions arising from the Manufacturing Activities
include air pollutants, greenhouse gas (“GHG”), water and
solid wastes, whilst the Non-Manufacturing Activities have
insignificant emissions of air pollutants, water and solid
wastes but limited GHG emissions.

In this report, GHG is categorised into three scopes as
below:

(i) Scope 1 refers to direct emissions from sources
that are owned or controlled by the
operations. Examples include natural
gas combusted for boilers, fuels used
by owned vehicles.

(i)  Scope2 refers to indirect emissions from
consumption of purchased electricity,
steam or other sources of energy.

(i)  Scope 3  refers to indirect emissions from other
activities that are consequences of the
operations but are not directly owned or
controlled. Examples include business
travel, third-party distribution and
logistics.

Note: GHG emissions data are presented in terms of carbon dioxide

equivalent (tonne).

6.1.1 Non-Manufacturing Activities — GHG emissions
arising from the Non-Manufacturing Activities mainly
relate to indirect emissions of purchased electricity
under Scope 2 and third-party distribution and
logistics as well as business travels under Scope 3.
During the 2023 Period, the respective Scope 2 and
Scope 3 carbon dioxide (“CO,”) emissions
amounted to a total of about 11 tonnes (2022: 14
tonnes) and 1 tonne (2022: 1 tonne) respectively.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RIR-HERERES (E

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

56

6.1 Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.2 Manufacturing Activities — As one of the

pharmaceutical manufacturers in the PRC, the
Management Committee is responsible for
implementing policies for the GMP factory in
Changchun, and monitoring the factory’s
performance so as to ensure its strict compliance
with the GMP standards and environmental
requirements under the relevant laws and
regulations such as the Environmental Protection
Law (€ 2R $5 1R # % )), the Water Pollution
Prevention and Control Law ({7K 35 2[5 78 %)), the
Prevention and Control of Air Pollution Law ({X S&
y5 2B 38 %)) and the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution by Solid Wastes (€[ 82 & %)
S5 R IRIBH A A)), of the PRC. During the 2023
Period, the factory handled its major emissions in
the following manner:

(@ Waste gas emission management

The major source of waste gas emission
comes from natural gas boilers. Air pollutants
mainly include sulfur oxide (“SOx”), nitrogen
oxide (“NOx”), and particle material (“PM”).
The factory has installed a desulfurisation
tower to ensure levels of emission are in
compliance with the standards. The tower is
functioning well and levels of emission are
significantly lower than the lower limit of the
national emission requirements. In the 2023
Period, SOx, NOx, and PM emissions
amounted to about 71 kgs (2022: 10 kgs),
465 kgs (2022: 311 kgs) and 0 kg (2022: 0
kg) respectively. The results were monitored
and measured by an independent third party
in accordance with the prevailing requirements
of the Technical Guidelines of Accounting
Method for Pollution Source Intensity Basic
Principles (€75 2 R 5& 1% & & flo ¥8 B —%
81])) of the PRC.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

6.1 Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.2 (Continued)

@

(b)

Waste gas emission management
(Continued)

CO, emissions arising from natural gas boilers
and fuels for daily operations of vehicles (Scope
1), purchased electricity (Scope 2) and
business travels (Scope 3) amounted to about
1,197 tonnes (2022: 994 tonnes), 1,820
tonnes (2022: 1,551 tonnes) and 2 tonnes
(2022: 4 tonnes) respectively.

Wastewater management

The factory has built its own waste water
treatment facilities with daily capacity of 400
tonnes to treat the wastewater from its
production processes before discharge, and
about 43,377 tonnes (2022: 30,616 tonnes)
of effluents were treated and discharged in
the 2023 Period. The increase in discharge of
wastewater was primarily due to shifts in
production to meet changes in sales mix and
the testing and commissioning conducted for
a new production line during the 2023 Period.
To monitor and control the discharge, the
factory has worked jointly with local
environmental monitoring stations, and an on-
line monitoring system has been installed to
test and collect data on the quality of effluent.
In addition, the factory has commissioned a
third-party inspection unit to conduct regular
surveillance on effluent discharge against the
standards in order to ensure timely detection
of its abnormality and implementation of
corrective measures when in exceedances.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL

AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RIR-HERERES (E

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

58

6.1

6.2

Emissions (A1) (Continued)

6.1.2 (Continued)
(c) Solid waste management

The storages and disposals of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes are handled in
accordance with the requirements of relevant
rules and regulations. During the 2023 Period,
about 2,896 kgs (2022: 749 kgs) hazardous
wastes generated from the production
process were disposed of with waste
management services provided by contractors
as designated by Jilin Province Environmental
Protection Office. The increase was primarily
related to the increase in wastewater
discharge as stated above. The non-
hazardous wastes of about 145 tonnes (2022:
140 tonnes) were disposed of through wastes
collection services provided by the local
authorities.

In practice, the Group endeavors to adopt measures to
reduce carbon emissions, lower energy consumption and
pollution, and encourage employees to consider related
environmental factors from time to time. In addition to the
above-mentioned, the Group has been taking the
practices and measures as described below to achieve its
objectives. The Group aims to maintain, and strives for
reducing, the intensity of total GHG emissions and the
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, in the three
financial years from 2023 to 2025, by using the data in
2022 referenced to the amount generated per HK$'000
of revenue and per employee as the baseline.

Use of Resources (A2)

It is the Group’s policy to encourage all staff to be
environmentally friendly at work to reduce the
consumption of paper, water and electricity and effective
use of the resources. Measures being implemented
include double-sided printing and copying, disseminating
information in digital format, waste paper recycling,
turning off power consuming devices when not in use.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RIR-HERERES (8)

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6. BREE@@
6.2 EIREHA2) (@)

6.2.1 Non-Manufacturing Activities — The major 621 EREEH —F N KKK

6.2 Use of Resources (A2) (Continued)

resources used are electricity, and paper (including (BERAZARALEER ED
own offices use and bulk printing of annual and Rl A & K E R [ AR A

interim reports and circulars distributed to the f% B o 3 2 F 3R K& E #&
Company’s shareholders through printing firms). In EURBR) TDEZFERK

the 2023 Period, the electricity consumption was in
aggregate of about 15,000 KWhs (2022: 20,000
KWhs) and paper used was in aggregate of about 1.1
tonnes (2022: 1.2 tonnes), of which about 1.1
tonnes (2022: 1.2 tonnes) were FSC certified paper.

The Group has been making its best efforts to
reduce paper usage by distributing office files in
digital format, reusing single-sided paper, and
collecting double-sided printed paper for recycler’s
handling. The Group also adopts the practice of
green procurement that eco-friendly paper is
selected for office use and bulk printing of reports.

6.2.2 Manufacturing Activities — These consume mainly

water, electricity, natural gas, fuel for vehicles and
packing material used for finished products. Paper
consumption in its daily operations amounted to
about 2 tonnes (2022: 2 tonnes) relates to paper
used during the processes of procurement,
invoicing, production, quality assurance, marketing
and administration, of which the consumption in
various departments is being monitored by the
management. The similar level of paper
consumption was maintained as the results of (i)
management’s efforts to promote paperless office
within internal departments by better utilisation of
the electronic network and digitalisation of files as
far as practicable in the paper procurement
process, (i) less consumption in printed materials
related to decrease in promotion and symposium
activities as a result of the pandemic control
measures, and (i) the shift from the centralised
supply of paper stationeries back to the distributors
to arrange and to bear on their own, in the 2023
Period and the 2022 Period.

The Group has also formulated plans to install
photovoltaic power system to its GMP factory in the
PRC for the purpose of achieving energy
conservation and emission reduction objectives.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RIR-HERERES (E

6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued) 6. BREEM@®@
6.2 Use of Resources (A2) (Continued) 6.2 EIRfEHA(A2) (@)
6.2.2 (Continued) 6.2.2 (&)

The major resources consumed in the periods are
set out below:

ZEHEMBERNEIEE
IREFIT

2023 2022
—E__=F —EFE-—

Type of Amount Intensity* Amount  Intensity”
resources consumed  FiEHEERER gqE E* H= N

1. Water (tonne) K (IE) 54,841 0.76 50,183 0.68
2. Electricity (KWh) B (FRE) 2,563,640 35.3 2,184,000 29.5
3. Natural gas (m® KRR (3L K) 458,277 6.31 373,100 5.0
4.  Fuel for vehicles (liter) RERE(F) 31,958 0.44 32,880 0.44
5. Packing material (tonne) & 5 4k (14§) 652 0.01 786 0.01

Amount generated per HK$’000 of revenue.

It is the Group’s policy to ensure effective and
efficient use of resources in the production process
with the aim of minimising wastes and reducing
consumption of the resources.

Water — Water is a key element of the products
and production process. Water supplies are
provided by the municipally owned water supply
company, which will ensure relatively stable and
adequate water supplies. During the 2023 Period,
there were no reported difficulties or issues arising
from water supplies.

The Group recognises the importance of water
conservation, and therefore has closely monitored
the operation with the aim of identifying means and
ways in saving and reusing water; including setting
clear instructions for water used (time, volume and
frequency) in the production process, more frequent
inspection to reduce leakage in water supplies, and
enhance employees’ consciousness of water
conservation in operation process training.
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6. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS (Continued)

6.2

6.3

6.4

Use of Resources (A2) (Continued)

6.2.2 (Continued)

Other Resources — Measures being implemented
include avoiding procurement of high-energy
consumption materials, regular monitoring
performance of the production equipment,
upgrading and phasing out non eco-friendly
machines to raise the utilisation of energy and
resources. Packing materials primarily comprise
paper, glasses and plastics used for the Group’s
finished products. As a good practice, the Group
endeavors to select eco-friendly materials in the
procurement process, and minimise wastes by
managing purchase quantities.

The Environment and Natural Resources (A3)

The Group is dedicated to reducing the adverse effect of
its activities that could result in environmental damages,
controlling the level of consumption of natural resources
and promoting environmental awareness among its
employees at workplaces. In production, the Group has
regularly inspected and monitored the production process
to ensure strict compliance with relevant laws and
regulations on emissions. In office, management has
persistently reminded colleagues to protect the
environment by recycling papers and plastic, turning off
unused electricity devices. Management has also kept
colleagues abreast of various environmental issues and
encouraged colleagues to participate in activities like tree
planting.

Climate Change (A4)

The Group understands that climate change poses
increasing risks to global sustainable development, which
not only brings extreme weather, and its consequences
have a far-reaching impact on various economic and
social activities. As a member of an environmentally aware
business community, the Group is committed to reducing
GHG emissions, and aligning its businesses with
sustainable growth development.

The material climate change risks which the Group is
exposed to are tied to its Manufacturing Activities in the
PRC. The Group has identified the climate-related risks
and the measures to cope with them. The risks of
changing climate that might affect its operations mainly
fall into two types; namely transition risks and physical
risks, as referenced to the report framework developed by
the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures.
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6.4 Climate Change (A4) (Continued)

Transition Risks — The transition risks are brought by the
nation’s target to peak its carbon dioxide emissions
before 2030 and achieve carbon neutrality before 2060. It
is expected that the Chinese authorities will implement
more stringent policies and regulations to control GHG
emissions, which will result in rising compliance-related
capital investment and operating costs. In addition, the
operations may also be exposed to higher risks of climate
change claims and litigations as well as reputational risks.
To mitigate the impact, the Group will actively manage the
compliance with the current policies and regulations, and
at the same time, closely monitor and prepare for the
emerging trends and development of relevant policies and
regulations to the industry so as to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines or reputational damages due to
poor or delayed response.

Physical Risks — The physical risks relate to extreme
weather events like floods or droughts, storms, extreme
heat or extreme low temperature. The increased
frequency, duration and severity of such events might
cause disruptions to the supply chain and production,
and endanger human life and health.

As a result, management has formulated the “Emergency
Plan for Environmental Emergencies” (the “Plan”) in
accordance with the relevant national, provincial and
municipal laws and administrative regulations, which set
out the emergency response procedures to protect staff
safety, and to avoid or reduce losses. The Plan will be
reviewed and updated annually to ensure its effectiveness.
In addition, annual training and drills will be carried out to
enhance employees’ awareness and their response
capabilities in times of emergencies.

Due to the size and nature of operations, the Non-
Manufacturing Activities are the least vulnerable to the
impacts of climate change. Nevertheless, the Group has
remained committed to minimising the environmental
footprints of the operations with a particular focus on
reducing energy consumption, carbon emissions, paper
use, and waste.

Looking forward, the Group shall continue to monitor and
assess the evolving risks that climate change may bring
to the Group’s business, reforming the business practices
to minimise the impact of the Group’s operations on the
environment, and adopting policies that can help mitigate
climate change.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

7.1 Employment (B1)
As at 31 March 2023, the Group employed 180 full-time
and 1 part-time employees, and the Group’s
manufacturing segment accounts for more than 92% of
the Group’s total workforce. The statistics of the Group’s
total workforce and the employee turnover rate of the
manufacturing segment are set out below:

Total workforce by gender and age group (of the

RIR-HERERES (8)

7. HEE@E

BEREIER

7.1 1E1E(B1)
RZE_=F=HA=+—H" K
EEHEBAEI10Z RPREE 1A
HFEEES MEESEMNESN
AEBEBBTHHIEIREIRYK - ANE
EETHHBLYEESFENEER
KEGFETHF AT

fi‘ﬁﬂ/& FREE T ZET

Group) B (AEEF)
Age
F iR
Below 30 Between 30-50 Over 50 Total
Gender 4 Bl 305 AT 30 Z505% 505% A £ Fo
Male 5 6 30 29 65
Female g 7 91 18 116
Total FE 13 121 47 181

Employee turnover rate (%) by gender and age
group (manufacturing segment only®)

ff??'_.&_ﬁfﬁ FHREZID 2EES
T KT (%) (1ERE 5 %)

Age

Fir
Below 30 Between 30-50 Over 50 Total
Gender 4 3l 30 LT 30 E505% 505% ML £ 5t
Male 3 0% 40% 17% 27%
Female 8 14% 10% 0% 9%
Total 5t 8% 18% 11% 16%

Note: The employee turnover rate is calculated by (the number of
departures in the year =+ number of employees at the end of the
year in the category) x 100%.

Information relating to the manufacturing segment is disclosed, as
the employee turnover rate of the trading and gene development
segments and Hong Kong headquarters is insignificant.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

i

7.2

Employment (B1) (Continued)

The Group appreciates its employees as valuable assets
to the Group’s success and sustainable development. It
is the Group’s policy to attract and retain high caliber
people for its business operations. The Group is
committed to promoting equal opportunities and diversity
in recruitment. The Group recruits people on the basis of
job requirements without discrimination on grounds of
age, gender, ethnic, politics or religion, trains and grows
their capabilities, rewards and makes promotion based on
their contributions. The Group remunerates its employees
based on industry practices. The Group arranges working
hours, rest periods, benefits and welfare including medical
and retirement protection in accordance with prevailing
labour laws of its operating units in which they operate.
The Group has relevant recruitment procedures in place
to prevent child and forced labour. The Group is
committed to ensuring that all applicable legal
requirements are observed in dealing with dismissal of
any employee who violates the Group’s regulations or
persistently performs below job requirements.

During the 2023 Period, the Group was not aware of any
non-compliance with the labour laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including, the Labour Law of
the PRC, Labour Contract Law of the PRC, and
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Health and Safety (B2)

The Group is committed to providing and maintaining a
safe and healthy working environment for all its
employees.

For the Group’s office operations, management strives to
maintain smoke-free, healthy and safe working
environment. All employees are encouraged to participate
regularly emergency drills held by the office building
management.

HEE®E @)
EBENS TER @

7.1

7.2

1E1E(B1) (&)

FEBBATBRAAEERY R
REERRNEELE - AAE
B EBRLERIIREEESA
AMRAERZHE - NEBK
hEHERERKEFERZ T -
AEBEUEMCERAELERERE
B THEE® MR- Bk B
ARRHEEHMEBERE &
EEEIRIEEREEN PRI
B YRBRE 2 EEMEL ZB
RLHET - NEEE T~ 5
TIRBTEEGNME - NEEK
REKUENMELRENIE
TR T EETHIERR KA
B MERENEEBEER
RKRE) - AEBECDRBEHERE
IR AR ILERET KRR
BT - EEHHNBRERES
MERAEERTXBERRK
RIEERHE TR EFHREE
FRDERRE

R-FB_=FHE AEELE
EREAPBEREFENS TAZE
FOER(BHRBPBCEEE) - F
BCE A RIE) RBE(ER
fER 1)) o

5 82 &7 2 (B2)
AEBBNDAEEZEEERER
HRLTENEEANIERE-

RAEENHRAZTLEEMS
BEBNEEERE BER
MTHERE AEEZB2
EXEM2mp geElEEg s

S m

3
e
7

\

EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED REZEIER AR AT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RIR-HERERES (8)

7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) 7. £ E2EHE @)
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) BRENS IER @
7.2 Health and Safety (B2) (Continued) 7.2 FHZ %2 (B2 (&)

For the Group’s GMP factory in the PRC, management
has persistently upheld the principle of safe production
and observed the requirements of the “Law of the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases” ({ 5% 3£
& B45%)) and “Fire Protection Law” (CHBFYE)), of
the PRC. There is no allowance of any personal
consideration but strict compliance of the requirements
under the GMP standards and the relevant laws and
regulations. Management has regularly conducted safety
examinations for production equipment, conducted drills
and provided training to employees in order to increase
their awareness and involvement in accident prevention.

During the 2023 Period, the Group has not breached any
laws and regulations in relation to occupational health and
safety and there were no work-related fatalities in the
Group’s operations but 2 work injury cases (2022: 2
cases) in the manufacturing segment resulting in 102 lost
days (2022: 1 day). Measures have been taken to
strengthen the production safety with the aim of
minimising risk of injury through safety publicity and
education in order to enhance consciousness of all
employees. The Group has also deployed internal
resources to optimise the workplaces to maintain a safe
and healthy working environment for the employees.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7.2 Health and Safety (B2) (Continued)

Preventive Measures on COVID-19

As a stakeholder of the society, the Group follows the
government measures, both mandatory and voluntary, for
fighting against the epidemic.

The PRC — In March 2023, the highly transmissible
Omicron variant of COVID-19 had caused a surge of
infections in some regions of China including Jilin, which
had resulted in the government-mandated factory
lockdown, and following the lockdown measures eased in
phase by the Chinese authorities, the factory resumed
normal production by late May 2022. To cope with the
COVID-19 resurgence, management has continued to
implement all necessary precautionary and preventive
measures to safeguard the health and safety of the staff
in the workplace under the guidelines and announcements
of the Chinese authorities. Temperature screening before
entering workplaces and provision of adequate
disinfection supplies like face masks and hand sanitisers
to employees have been maintained and followed through
in all workplaces. A designated team of personnel
monitors regular cleaning and disinfection of areas in the
respective workplaces, while tele-conferencing is used in
place of physical meetings and split team arrangements
are enhanced, where possible. In addition, employees are
educated the need to keep social distancing and hygiene
practices and to comply with quarantine orders by the
government agencies, where applicable. All these
measures have facilitated infection control and are
reviewed and adjusted taking into account the public
health measures imposed by the Chinese authorities.

Hong Kong — As to the operations of the Group’s
headquarters, trading and gene segments, precautionary
measures within office premises are also in place and
adjusted in line with the guidance by the local government
authorities, to minimise the risk of contracting and
spreading COVID-19; including keeping social distancing
and hygiene practices, wearing mask, carrying out regular
cleaning and disinfection for door grips and working
areas, granting flexible work-from-home arrangements for
employees. During the 2023 Period, the COVID-19 has
limited impact on the operations.
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)

7.3 Development and Training (B3)

The Group organises and provides on-the-job training to
develop its employees’ potential in order to support the
Group’s sustainable development. The Group also
provides training subsidies to support its employees at
senior level to receive external professional training to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Employees
are encouraged to equip themselves with relevant
academic and professional qualifications by attending
external training programs to facilitate their personal
growth and development. Relevant induction trainings are
provided to new employees.

As to the Group’s manufacturing segment in the PRC,
regular training programs have been provided in the areas
of production process operations, quality and safety
management, applicable legal and regulatory requirements,
important environmental factors and risk controls to
relevant personnel including production technicians, safety
management personnel and operating personnel.

As part of the training program of the Group’s
manufacturing segment in the PRC, the Group annually
organised team building (outing) activities in group for its
employees which usually took a few days, with the aim of
enhancing employee engagement and team bonding,
fostering their communication and problem solving skills at
work and increasing their understanding of the Group’s
culture and value. Due to the prolonged pandemic control
measures in the PRC over the past three years and for the
safety and health of its employees, the team building
activities could not be carried out. Given the recent uplifting
of the control measures and movement restrictions in the
PRC, the Group has planned to rearrange the team
building activities during the next financial year to achieve
its training objectives.
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Summary of the training performance during the 2023
Period is as follows:

—E_FHRABIRRMES
ZaR

2023
Percentage of employees trained FIHNE T/ —EC-=HE
By gender 1B & 5
Male =N 85%
Female pegis 86%
By category ZERE S
Key executive/Senior management TETHRAE SRER 71%
Middle management FREREE 67%
General staff —fRET 88%

Note: Percentage of employees trained = (number of employees trained
by gender or by category + number of employees at the end of the
year by gender or by category) x 100%

(Total number of employees trained + total number of
employees at the end of the year) x 100% = 86%

MieE: 28 TE =GR MRl sz 5 Bl
NZIETHE MR H%E
BIAFERE TEHE)x100%

(RN BETRHB-FREIHE
x100% = 86%

2023
Average number of training hours per employee B ZEE ¥15 3 JI RS —E=-=
By gender gl k-
Male XS 11
Female g3 7
By category BRER E D
Key executive/Senior management FTETBAE EBRER 9
Middle management FAREEE 5
General staff —f&EBT 9

Note: Average number of training hours per employee = number of
training hours by gender or by category + number of employees at
the end of the year by gender or by category.

Total number of training hours =+ total number of
employees at the end of the year = 7.2 hours (2022: 3.9
hours)

ik & % B T 39 % 108 = s A B
8% 28 7 9 5 9 5 R + B AE U
HABINERETHE
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T2 (ZFZ 2 1 3.9/
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Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
7.4 Labour Standards (B4)

All employees of the Group are employed in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations on employment
including, inter alias, working hours, rest periods and staff
benefits. The Group prohibits the use of child and forced
labour at all its operation units and has relevant
recruitment procedures in place to prevent child and
forced labour. During the recruitment process, the Group
requires all applicants to provide true and accurate
personal information including their proofs of identity for
checking purpose, particularly for verifying the photo on
the documents and reviewing the age. Regular reviews
and checking are conducted to guard against child or
forced labour in the Group’s operations. The Group will
take immediate action to terminate the employment of
anyone who provides false information or in breach of the
Group’s regulations, and conduct an investigation.

During the 2023 Period, the Group has complied with
laws and regulations in relation to the prevention of child
and forced labour, including Labour Law of the PRC,
Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the
PRC, and Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, and
found no violations of laws and regulations regarding child
and forced labour.

Operating Practices

7.5 Supply Chain Management (B5)

The Group has been working continuously with its
suppliers for supply of goods ranging from raw materials,
packaging materials and finished goods, with the
objectives of improving the quality of raw materials, and
delivering high quality products to its customers, for the
Group’s manufacturing and trading activities.
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Operating Practices (Continued)

7.5 Supply Chain Management (B5) (Continued)

Manufacturing Activities — The Group’s manufacturing
segment with GMP factory located in Changchun, the
PRC, has established a quality management system to
regulate the production and quality management of drugs
and has implemented procedures in material
procurement, evaluation and management of suppliers’
quality. All procurement is conducted with PRC suppliers,
and the Group has clearly notified its suppliers to comply
with relevant quality standards and provide necessary
permits if so required by the relevant laws and regulations
for the goods supplied. Specific procedures have been
implemented in quality control and inventory management
in order to ensure the Group’s products are consistently
manufactured in accordance with the registration
requirements, and to minimise the risks of contamination,
detect, monitor and rectify errors in production process.
The Group’s procurement procedures follow through
relevant laws and regulations. Through the internal filing of
suppliers’ quality, quality standard, on-stie audit, quality
assessment, inspections and trials and handling of quality
problems, the identification and management of major
raw materials and the environmental or social risks
caused by suppliers have been facilitated. The Group
makes procurement on an open, fair and impartial basis
without any discrimination against any particular supplier,
and only select those suppliers with good business track
records without material non-compliance cases or
unethical behaviours.

The Group is committed to supporting local economies
by prioritising procurement from local suppliers to reduce
the carbon footprint from transportation. The Group
continuously monitors the policies implemented by the
PRC government and will consider adopting the
recommendations of official organisations, to purchase
environmentally friendly products or services that have
less impact on the environment.
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Trading Activities — For imported pharmaceutical
products, the Group adheres to the principle to minimise
the negative impact of the entire supply chain on the
environment and society by selecting and engaging
suppliers who manufacture their products under
conditions and practices required by the GMP regulations
and operate in compliance with their local environmental
and labour laws. During the 2023 Period, only small
quantity of imported goods was purchased for a startup
sales to test the market.

During the 2023 Period, the Group co-operated with
about 23 suppliers (2022: 20), of which 95% (2022:
100%) were from the PRC and the other was from Spain.

Product Responsibility (B6)

The Group places great emphasis on maintaining and
improving the quality of its products. The Group has
implemented a comprehensive quality control and
inspection procedures to ensure product quality and
safety from procurement of raw materials, packaging
materials and finished products. All products
manufactured and sold by the Group to its customers in
the PRC have met the GMP production standards and
complied with the registration requirements with the
National Medical Products Administration of the PRC.
During the 2023 Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations in
relation to health and safety, advertising, labeling and
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress that had a significant impact on
the Group, including but not limited to the Drug
Administration Law, Advertising Law of the PRC, Law of
the PRC on Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests,
and Patent Law of the PRC.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

72

Operating Practices (Continued)

7.6 Product Responsibility (B6) (Continued)

Product and Service Quality — All products sold by the
Group have clear instructions and specifications as to its
composition, quality and safety use for end-user
protection purpose, which are in compliance with the
laws and regulations. A team of personnel was designated
to handle enquiries and follow up customer feedbacks on
quality from distribution to clinical usage, and to provide
assistance on recall of pharmaceutical products. During
the 2023 Period, the Group did not have recalled
products due to safety and health reasons.

Customer Satisfaction for Product and Service — The
Group highly values the quality of customer services to
satisfy customers’ needs and expectations to the best of
ability. The Group has developed corresponding
management system and standardized operation
procedures to respond to complaints on the market and
customer enquiries on quality information in a timely
manner. During the 2023 Period, the Group did not
record any material complaint related to products and
services.

Protection of Intellectual Rights — The Group has set up
mechanism to protect the intellectual properties that have
been acquired for research , development and production,
including patent rights, technology, trade secrets and
materials in the research and development processes.
The confidentiality-related mechanism requires employees
to maintain a high degree of confidentiality and to use and
carefully handle trade secret data.

Customer Privacy Protection — The Group implemented
measures on protection of customers’ data and privacy
and carried out supervision. Guidelines were provided to
the employees regarding the collection, management and
destruction of the customer data. The Group restricts
employee access to sensitive data and deploys data
security measures to protect the customer’s information.

During the 2023 Period, the Group has not breached the
laws and regulations regarding product responsibility.
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7. SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued) 7. *EEHEH M@
Operating Practices (Continued) =B E G (@)
7.7 Anti-corruption (B7) 7.7 RE5(B7)

The Company recognises the importance of good
business ethics, which along with good corporate
governance, are essential foundation to success. The
Group values an ethical approach to business activities to
create a safe, trusting and cooperative work environment
and thereby building up a healthy corporate culture.

The Company has established ethics code to promote
integrity and accountability, which requires all group
companies and employees, to strictly comply with the
local laws and regulations. The code contains, inter alia,
provisions for bribery extortion, fraud, or any other
malpractices and whistleblowing procedures. The Group
adopts a zero tolerance approach towards any form of
bribery, corruption and fraud. The Company has also
developed policies and systems that promote and
support the applicable laws and regulations on anti-
corruption, including the Company Law, Criminal Law,
Anti-Unfair Competition Law, and any relevant anti-
corruption and bribery laws and regulations, of the PRC,
and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong. In
particular, all unfair competition behaviours such as
commercial bribery were prohibited in the sales and
procurement processes.

The anti-corruption policy formulated by the Company
specifies the obligations of the Group and those working
for and on the Group’s behalf in observing and upholding
the Group’s standing; and provides information and
guidance on how to identify and address the bribery and
corruption issue, while the whistleblowing policy provides
reporting channels and guidance on reporting suspected
misconducts, and reassurance to persons who report his/
her concerns in accordance with the aforesaid policies of
protection against unfair disciplinary action or victimisation
for any genuine reports made; and allow fair and
independent investigation of any impropriety, misconduct
or malpractice in any matters related to the Group and
appropriate follow-up actions. The Board and the Audit
Committee will review and monitor the implementation
and effectiveness of the whistleblowing system on a
regular basis.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS (Continued)

Operating Practices (Continued)

7.7 Anti-corruption (B7) (Continued)

The Group provides regular training to employees to
update them with the current trends and bribery issues
faced by the Group, which covers legal knowledge about
anti-corruption and integrity behaviours in the workplaces,
and ensure that they apply the ethics code and observe
the Group’s policies in their work. The Group also
encourages prompt internal reporting of any suspected
misconduct, irregularities and malpractices. Training on
the Group’s policies forms part of the induction process
for new employees. Directors of the Company studied
relevant regulatory updates and/or attended external
training seminar organised by professional bodies to
refresh their knowledge in relation to anti-corruption laws
and regulations.

During the 2023 Period, the Group did not identify any
non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
and there were no reported cases of corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

COMMUNITY — COMMUNITY
INVESTMENT (BS8)

As a socially responsible corporation, the Company is
committed to leverage its resources to facilitate the community
development and strongly encourages all staff members to
participate in volunteering and charitable activities, such as “Dress
Casual Day” and “Blood Donation”.

During the 20283 Period, staff members supported the recycling
programmes by the environmental group, Greeners Action,
including the Lai See Packet Reuse and Recycling Programme
and the Mooncake Boxes Collection Campaign, for which
unused and undamaged lai see packets and the used mooncake
boxes, were collected and deposited at the designated collection
stations, respectively. Further, staff members donated surplus
edible mooncakes in the Mooncake Sharing Programme by the
local food rescue charity, Food Angel, for the underprivileged and
those in need, and also donated books in the Books for Love @10
campaign for charity sale.
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ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE 0.

INDICATORS (“KPIs”) TABLE

The following table summarises the Group’s significant KPIs

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
RIR-HERER
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REBAREREE(HEREE

TERBAARENMEAEEEER

information as set out in this report: BEWIEEER
2023 2022

KPIs HEERER —B-=fF ZT-Z
Environment BRIR
Air pollutants (Kg) EREFEW(FR)
SOx maEy 71 10
NOXx =Rl 465 311
PM R - =
Greenhouse gas (Tonne CO,) BERE (M-S 5x)
Total emission: BMHEWE 3,031 2,564
Direct emission (Scope 1) BEEBEM(EE) 1,197 994
Indirect emission (Scope 2) MR (8 E2) 1,831 1,565
Indirect emission (Scope 3) M (#E3) 3 5
Intensity per employee HIEERE 17 15
Wastes (Tonne) BEZY) (WE)
Total hazardous waste produced FMEABEREEMBEE 43,379 30,617
Intensity (Hazardous waste) per employee ZEEBE(BEEEEY) 240 182
Total non-hazardous waste produced FTEEEEREYRE 145 140
Intensity (Non-hazardous waste) per employee HEERE(BEEED) 1 1
Energy consumption HEROH
Total energy consumption: BEREREAE
Fuel consumed for vehicles (Liter) B REDERE (1) 31,958 32,880
Intensity (Fuel) per employee HEERE (R 177 196
Electricity (MWh) B KEES) 2,582 2,204
Intensity (Electricity) per employee “EB®E(EN) 14 13
Natural gas (thousand m?) KRR (FLFK) 458 373
Intensity (Natural gas) per employee ZEB®E(RAR) 3 2
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL KEY PERFORMANCE 9. REBEREANEE(BRE

INDICATORS (“KPIls”) TABLE (Continued) MER] *F @
2023 2022

KPls BEAEENIEE —B—-= —E - F
Social e
Total workforce (persons)—Group THEEIT(NABE)BAY — XK 181 168
By gender: RUERE S
Male 5 65 64
Female g 116 104
By age group: REREE S :
<30 308 AT 13 12
30-50 30E505% 121 111
>50 508% A £ 47 45
By employment type: REBERE S :
Permanent 28 180 168
Part-time G 1 =
Employee turnover rate(%)—Manufacturing BEREAE(%)—HE
By gender: BRHERE S :
Male Es 27% 10%
Female @ 9% 5%
By age group: REREE D :
<30 30 AT 8% 0%
30-50 30 & 507% 18% 7%
>50 5057 A 11% 9%
Employees trained (%) Z I E B (%)
By gender: BRERES
Male B 85% 77%
Female Z 4 86% 89%
By category BRERE S
Key Executive/Senior management FETHRAE BEEBAS 71% 71%
Middle management FEEEAE 67% 68%
General staff —mRET 88% 87%
Average number of training hours per employee @S ZEEFHYZIIEH
By gender: RMERES
Male B 11 5
Female 2 7 5
By category: RERE S :
Key Executive/Senior management FETBAB / BEEBAES 9 9
Middle management FEERAE 5 4
General staff —RBT 9 5
By employment type: REFRERE S :
Permanent 2 B 99% 100%
Part-time FB 1% =
Health and safety BREHERZE
Number of work-related fatalities TERRIET AR = -
Lost days due to work injury (days) TEBARHITEBE(R) 102 1
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and an associate are set out in
notes 39 and 22 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The business review of the Group and the discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the sections “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 7 and pages 8 to 22 of this
annual report respectively.

A discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
and information about laws and regulations affecting the businesses
of the Group and their compliance are included in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 51 to 76 of this annual
report. Furthermore, financial risk management and capital
management of the Group are set out in notes 41 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The above discussions and information form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 98 to 99.

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend in respect
of the year after taking into account factors including the Group’s
financial performance, operating and capital requirements and market
conditions. Currently, no formal dividend policy is adopted by the
Company.
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FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is
set out on page 208.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

No equity-linked agreement which may result in the Company issuing
shares was entered into during the year.

Details of the convertible bonds of the Company with principal
amount of HK$577,170,000 outstanding are disclosed in note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 30 August 2022, a new share
option scheme (“New Scheme”) had been adopted by the Company,
which became effective on 2 September 2022 upon obtaining listing
approval from the Stock Exchange, and unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date, while the
share option scheme adopted by the Company with effective
adoption date of 29 August 2012 which had a term of 10 years
expired on 28 August 2022 (“Old Scheme”). No share options had
been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Old Scheme.
Information about the New Scheme is set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, the reserves of the Company available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to HK$74,716,000
which was computed in accordance with the Bermuda Companies
Act. In addition, the Company’s share premium account with a
balance of HK$191,738,000 as at 31 March 2023 may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES

During the year, the Group had not experienced any significant
problems with its employees or disruption to its operations due to
labour disputes nor had it experienced any difficulties in the
recruitment. The directors consider that the Group has maintained
good working relationship with its employees.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining good
relationships with its customers and suppliers to the overall
development of its business. During the year, there were no disputes
between the Group and its customers and/or suppliers that would
have caused significant adverse impact to the Group’s business.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 25% of
the Group’s revenue, and revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer accounted for approximately 7% of the Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 85% of
the Group’s purchases and purchases attributable to the Group’s
largest supplier accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the directors owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any interests in the Group’s five
largest customers and the suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive directors:

Xie Yi

Cheng Yong

Lou Yi

Liu Kwok Wah (resigned on 30 September 2022)
Wong Sau Kuen

Dr. Xie Yi, Dr. Lou Yi and Ms. Wong Sau Kuen are also directors in
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Liu Kwok Wah was a director in certain subsidiaries of the
Company until his resignation on 30 September 2022.

Independent non-executive directors:

Fang Lin Hu

Xue Jing Lung (passed away on 4 December 2022)
Jin Song

Dr. Guo Yi (appointed on 14 April 2023)

TEEFRHED

AEBRBEEZTPE R B T R I
FHEXB 2 EBERTOEZ -REFE
N AEEEERFP R/ AHERLEEE
SUHAKBRBENERTHNEZENUL

HE-_T-_ZF=ZA=+—HLFE K
EBRAARFPEMRZBRIZEGEAEE K
R H25%  MASEBREAZTFEMLZ WS
RO ASEWRZTEALIT% °

BE_ T - =ZF=ZA=+—HItFE K
SERARHEEEGLGZHEBEEAEEER
BEEMA85%  MASKE K AEEREMNL 2
HEBEAEBHERENLI3%

BEE RELEEBBASTARR G
EEMABEARAC BITHRAGRA L
BIBERAKRELAEPRHERTHESE
e 4 -

S

REEARBEARARERREE 2ARQA
BEEWT

HITES
EiE
25
gl

BRENLE (R=_F=——Fn A=+ AFT)
T &8

MBREL BEBLREFBRLENTSARN
RAIETHBRARZES -

BEEAER/RARAETHERRAZES
HERR B _FhA=THEERIL -

BYFHITES

MR
BRfmeE R = AmAFTY)
Cal/N

BHEB L R —F-—=—emA+WAREE)

80 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED RBEZZEERAMR AT



REPORT OF

THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Company has received from the independent non-executive
directors (“INEDs”), Mr. Fang Lin Hu, Ms. Jin Song and Dr. Guo Yi
annual confirmations of independence in writing pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and is satisfied that each of them meets
the independence criteria under the Listing Rules, and still considers
them to be independent.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-law 111, other than the
Chairman, the directors of the Company, including the independent
non-executive directors (“INEDs”), are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company. In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s bye-
laws, Dr. Lou Yi will retire as director by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will offer
himself for re-election. In accordance with the Company’s bye-law
115, Dr. Guo Yi who was appointed as an INED with effect from 14
April 2023, will hold office only until the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-
election. The re-election of the retiring directors will be individually
voted on by the shareholders of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory obligation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Company’s
board of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities
and performance and the results of the Group, and pursuant to the
recommendation made by the remuneration committee.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
director had material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, no directors or their close associates are considered
to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, every director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) were as follows:
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THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company

ESEHE (8

BEENRGD HEROREER
ZREZERRE @

RARBDEBRRZER

Number of  Approximate
ordinary shares percentage of
Name of director Notes Capacity and nature of interest held/entitled interests held
\ s EERE FEERZ
EEHE M SREZNE ZEREAE BB
Xie Yi (a) Through controlled corporations 900,000,000 37.66%
EiE FHRZESRF
Cheng Yong (b) Directly beneficially owned 830,000 0.04%
e BEEER#EAR
Through controlled corporations 140,760,000 5.89%
FHRZESIRF
Held by spouse 5,090,000 0.21%
HEEEE
146,680,000 6.14%
Notes: B s
(@) These 900,000,000 shares represent conversion shares to be allotted and issued () 5% % 900,000,000 A% B% 10 5 {& % # B A United

to the bondholder, United Gene International Holdings Group Limited (“UG
International”’) upon exercise in full of the conversion rights by UG International, at
conversion price of HK$0.6413 per share under the Company’s 20-year zero
coupon convertible bonds issued on 16 July 2013 with principal amount of
HK$577,170,000 outstanding. The entire issued share capital of UG International
is owned by JNJ Investments Ltd which is wholly owned by Biowindow Gene
Development (Hong Kong) Limited (“HK Biowindow”), and the entire issued share
capital of HK Biowindow is owned by United Gene Group Ltd (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). The issued share capital of United Gene
Group Ltd is owned as to 33% by Ease Gold Investments Limited, which is wholly
owned by Dr. Xie Yi.

At 31 March 20283, there was a total of 2,390,000,000 shares issued by the
Company, and assuming the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to
the Company’s convertible bonds, UG International will hold approximately
27.36% of the enlarged share capital of the Company.

(b) 1,060,000 shares and 139,700,000 shares of the Company’s shares in issue are
respectively held by Merchandise Holdings Limited and United Gene Industry
Group Limited, both are companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and
are wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Yong.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the directors
had registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Gene International Holdings Group Limited ([ UG
International ) IRIEARARRI R _E—=F+t A
TABETZFTEABBES(HKE
B2 A% % /577,170,000 7T ) 1% i B (B
AROB413E T BH AT E R R BE & 15 A
N 217 2 B B 1% ° UG International 2 2 &6
£ % 17 B% 2 8 JNJ Investments Ltd % & + JNJ
Investments Ltd A BB B ZERAHEFR AR
([BEAEED2ERE MESEEZED
B % 17 f% 7N i United Gene Group Ltd ( — f& 1
EBEXBESAMALZAA)#HE © United
Gene Group Ltd 2 B 3 17 % 7N £ Ease Gold
Investments Limited # /& 33% # z * i Ease Gold
Investments Limited A B L2 & A -

M-ZTE-_=%f=A=+—8  AQ27A1%
17 8% 9 & % 5A2,390,000,000% - R & &K &
RATRRESMS 2 BRRBERERETE
UG International #% 5 5 & A 7 &£ # K & A& %)
27.36% °

(b) 7K A 711,060,000 A% & 139,700,000 A% E 2 17 i
5 % Bl F8 Merchandise Holdings Limited £ United
Gene Industry Group Limited# & * MK A 713
REBELXESHAMA LT HRELEE2E
%A -

BREXFHEEN R_E_=F=A=
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate granted to any directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by
them, or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 March 2023, the following other persons’ interests and short
positions of 5% or more of the shares and underlying shares of the
Company were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company
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R AT A 8% - A E Bk £ K 48 B A
REEASRHIA L RARR 2 EMA L0
T o

RARBDEBRR TR

Number of  Approximate
ordinary shares percentage of
Name of shareholder Notes Capacity and nature of interest held/entitled interests held
Fi¥s EREE IR RERE 2
RER %A i SORERME EERHEE A B O
Mao Yumin Directly beneficially owned 189,920,000 7.94%
EHE BEEE=HER
(a) Through controlled corporations 900,000,000 37.66%
FRIESRA
1,089,920,000 45.60%
Huang Zhenping Directly beneficially owned 150,000,000 6.28%
= IR BEEERHER
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THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Note:

(@)

These 900,000,000 shares represent conversion shares to be allotted and issued
to the bondholder, United Gene International Holdings Group Limited (‘UG
International”) upon exercise in full of the conversion rights by UG International, at
conversion price of HK$0.6413 per share under the Company’s 20-year zero
coupon convertible bonds issued on 16 July 2013 with principal amount of
HK$577,170,000 outstanding. The entire issued share capital of UG International
is owned by JNJ Investments Ltd which is wholly owned by Biowindow Gene
Development (Hong Kong) Limited (“HK Biowindow”), and the entire issued share
capital of HK Biowindow is owned by United Gene Group Ltd (a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands). The issued share capital of United Gene
Group Ltd is owned as to 33% by United Gene Holdings Limited, which is wholly
owned by Dr. Mao Yumin.

At 31 March 2023, there was a total of 2,390,000,000 shares issued by the
Company, and assuming the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to
the Company’s convertible bonds, UG International will hold approximately
27.36% of the enlarged share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, no person, other
than certain directors of the Company, whose interests are set out in
the section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had registered an interest
or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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(@ 7% % 900,000,000 % f% 15 #&5 f& % ¥ A A United
Gene International Holdings Group Limited ([UG
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had not entered into any transactions
which constitute connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The following related party transactions had been entered into by the
Group during the year and up to the date of this report:

(@)

86

Discloseable Transaction in relation to a Share
Buy-Back Transaction of a Non-Wholly Owned
Subsidiary

On 31 March 2023, Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. (“Changchun Extrawell”), a 73.11% indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share buy-
back agreement (“Share Buy-Back Agreement”) with & 2
BEXARAT, a9.14% shareholder of Changchun Extrawell
(“Vendor”) to buy back from the Vendor the shares (“Share Buy-
Back”) representing 9.14% of the total issued share capital of
Changchun Extrawell, for cancellation (“Share Cancellation”), at
the consideration of RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,972,000). Upon the completion of the Share Buy-Back
and Share Cancellation, the Group’s shareholding in
Changchun Extrawell will be increased by 7.35% to 80.46%.
Changchun Extrawell will continue to be an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group and the financial results (including
earnings, assets and liabilities) of Changchun Extrawell will
continue to be consolidated into the financial statements of the
Group. The consideration shall be funded by internal cash
resources of Changchun Extrawell.

As one or more applicable percentage ratios exceed 5% but all
relevant percentage ratios are less than 25%, the entering into
of the Share Buy-Back Agreement, the Share Buy-Back, the
Share Cancellation and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitutes a discloseable transaction for the
Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is subject
to the reporting and announcement requirements. Details
regarding the transaction are disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 March 2023.
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THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

Third amendments to the terms and conditions of
the HK$715,000,000 convertible bonds issued by
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited
(“Innovative Pharm?”) for further extension of
maturity date and interest payment dates

On 28 April 2023, the Company as the bondholder and
Innovative Pharm as the issuer of the HK$715,000,000
convertible bonds due on 28 July 2023 (“Innovative Pharm
Bonds”), entered into, the third deed of amendment (“Third
Amendment Deed”) to further amend certain terms and
conditions of the Innovative Pharm Bonds in respect of the two-
year further extension of the maturity date from 28 July 2023 to
28 July 2025 (“Maturity Date”) and the extension of payment
dates of the outstanding interests of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds to the Maturity Date (“Third Amendments”).

Pursuant to the Third Amendment Deed, the Innovative Pharm
Bonds will be due on the Maturity Date, the Group has the right
to convert the Innovative Pharm Bonds into shares of Innovative
Pharm during the period ending on the Maturity Date at an initial
conversion price of HK$2.5 per share, and any outstanding
principal amount of the Innovative Pharm Bonds shall be
redeemed and the interests shall be paid, on the Maturity Date.
The payment of interests on the Maturity Date in aggregate of
HK$285,029,388 relates to (i) the total outstanding annual
interests and additional interests due from Innovative Pharm to
the Company on 28 July 2023 totaling HK$166,040,875 under
the Second Amendments; and (i) a total sum of
HK$118,988,513 comprising (a) the annual interest at 4.5% per
annum for the two-year extension period from 28 July 2023 to
27 July 2025 in the aggregate amount of HK$64,350,000; (b)
the additional interest in the amount of HK$4,826,250
representing 15% per annum for one-year extension of payment
of interest to the Maturity Date for the interest period from 28
July 2023 to 27 July 2024; and (c) additional interest in the
amount of HK$49,812,263 representing 15% per annum on
HK$166,040,875 as stated in (i) above for two-year extension
of payment to the Maturity Date.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Third amendments to the terms and conditions of
the HK$715,000,000 convertible bonds issued by
Innovative Pharmaceutical Biotech Limited
(“Innovative Pharm?”) for further extension of
maturity date and interest payment dates (Continued)

The transaction contemplated under the Third Amendment
Deed in respect of the Third Amendments constitutes a major
transaction for the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules, which was approved by the Company’s shareholders at
its special general meeting held on 28 June 2023.

Details regarding the Third Amendments are disclosed in the
Company’s announcements dated 28 April 2023 and 28 June
2023, and the circular dated 12 June 2023.

Details of other material related party transactions entered into by the
Group which do not constitute connected transactions under the
Listing Rules for the year are set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in “Connected and Related Party Transactions”
above, no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to the details disclosed under the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis”.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public during the year and
up to the date of this report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s code of
conduct for dealings in securities of the Company by the directors.
Based on specific enquiry of the directors, the directors have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the
Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an Audit Committee, with written
terms of reference, in accordance with prevailing provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code, for the purpose of reviewing and
providing supervision over the financial reporting process and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs. The Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that such financial
statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, and
Stock Exchange’s and legal requirements, and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

AUDITOR

The Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year were
audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited, who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Dr. Xie Yi
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
"partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To The Shareholders of
Extrawell Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Extrawell
Pharmaceutical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 98 to 207,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“‘HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
18 37 1% BB 3R 5 (4E)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated

in our professional

FAREREXER

F%ﬂ%ﬁ%lﬁgmﬁm#2§¥¥mﬁ L

financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023. These ,iv? {:.\ &) j‘% zp& 2% Z % iz =5 é EHEIE- gz

matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

1

92

Impairment assessment of an associate

Key audit matters

HRELER

EEERCEEEREREAVBRER
HAEZSE EABETEE BESTE
HZEEHREHEBER -

(1) R—EEE R 2REFGE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has interest in an
associate of approximately HK$316,516,000
representing 49% equity interests in Smart Ascent
Limited.

RZZE_=ZF=Z=A=+—RH  E&EX [
BN E 2w 316,516, oooﬁajn T
EE@@TZM%F*°

For the purpose of impairment assessment, the
Group appointed an independent external valuer to
assess the recoverable amount of the interest in an
associate.

A EREMS -
REF R —EEE R

EEECZEBLINBMEE
Ti%ﬁnz—iiiézﬁﬁ%i °

We had identified the impairment assessment of
interest in an associate as a key audit matter
because significant management judgement was
required to determine the recoverable amount for the
interest in an associate.

EEDHANRN —FEBE QR 2R 2R E S
RAREZEE REARKEEREAFHEXRAE
NEER—EE QR 2wz P E S5 -

Our major audit procedures to address this matter
included the following:

FREZFEZIZEREFBEENT

We discussed with management whether any
impairment indicator exists and basis for the
impairment recognised;

FLHEREMWESFEEMRETR K
EEW/DZTEEI’J%LE ’

We discussed with management and relevant
professionals about the In-process R&D (as defined
in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements)
of oral insulin product;
%%Eéﬁiﬁﬁ&iﬁi@%%)\iﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁé B AR
BREZEMETT2MBE(EERES VR
&MIE22)

We obtained and assessed the fair value
calculations methodology provided by the
management including but not limited to the
reasonableness of key assumptions applied (e.g.
operating margins, terminal growth rates and
discount rates), the accuracy and reliance of the
input data used; and
EECDERYAEEEREEBMIEH A TFEFE
FE BEEBTIRNMAEREZ/RE (I NE
ERA - KARERBRE) 2B - PE
B ABE 2 EmE R ENE &

We evaluated the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer taking
account its experience and qualifications.

I BN ER 2 B - B
Bt - UERAELRRER-

hEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Valuation of convertible bonds under financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss

Key audit matters

HAREXER

18 57 #% BBl 3 = (48)

R EZEE @

@ BAFEFAEBEZZEREERE
BTz A RE S EE

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s investment in
convertible bonds classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$793,530,000.
RZZEZ=F=ZA=+—H  BE&EEIEAR
BATEGFABRZEREEZARRESKR
& #7793,530,0007%8 T °

For the valuation, the Group appointed an
independent external valuer to assess the valuation
amount of convertible bonds under financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss.

HEEmMSs ESEEZEBE LI BEEMET
HEATEFAEGR 2 EREEER T 2 K
EFEHNEESRE-

The Group has applied valuation techniques to
determine the fair value of financial instruments that
are not quoted in active markets. These valuation
techniques, in particular those that include significant
unobservable inputs, involve management using
subjective judgements and assumptions. With
different valuation techniques and inputs applied, the
valuation results can vary significantly.
HRELAEERMSHMEMNERIA E5ED
RAMERNREER QA RS HERMY
NEBEBZz XBHERERR LEBSEKRTA
BRBABBEZAERNAE - KATRNMEE
it k@ AR - AIREEBEA TR 2 EELE

We had identified the valuation of convertible bonds
as a key audit matter because the valuation requires
the exercise of significant management estimation.
EEEHUBRREFZHEIRNRBREZSE
B REREBGLEFTEZEEEEIELEANMET -

Our major audit procedures to address this matter
included the following:
TERBEZEECIEEREFEENT

° We obtained and understood the Group’s valuation
and accounting treatment for convertible bonds
under financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss;

e EEDHBEATE E£EUHRATEFARE
M ERMEEE T ZARRESGERSG
B IR

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the
methodologies used by management for the
valuation of the convertible bonds;

e EECHEEREMRAIBRRESHEMERZ
Az AEE

o We evaluated the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the unobservable and
observable inputs used for the convertible bonds;
and

e EBHECDHNERABRKRESFMERAZITAERER
ABRGASBEAEERAEE &

o We evaluated the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuer taking
account its experience and qualifications.

e EELTMBUIINEEMCER BEHEE
Bt UERELRRER-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

18 37 1% BB 3R 5 (4E)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Hi &R

EEAHEMENBE HUEREBREF
BAAHER BT ERSEEMBRERLZ
HEHmE BEFUHE AV BRI 2BERY
THREEMBLER BESFHTITE@REHER
EAEANEES®

WEREAMBHRRME BFZAEER
BEEMEN UHENBRERES ZEEME
HMRTEGAMBRRIBESFEETRBE
TRTEROBRAEERTN  ELUTE
BERERRM - EREFEHATZIIANH M
EERAREMENEERERRL &F
FEBRSEHEE-RUME  BEEFBER
HEMEE-

EENAEEMGESMKEHRRE
ZE

EXZRARBEEEGAONAERMZE
BMBHRESEIRBERAGI 2 HE
RE WMBEEBEARTERZEAVBRH
ROUNREFREER RV BEZEBREE
Bl NEREREEVBERERENFER
REGFR R M B 2 EARHREM -

EREGSAVBEHRRE EFAATMH
BEEERELE 2R YEBERABRT
BERSECEAENER UREAH
BRERGFTER KIEFAES &
SEBRIFLELE R 2HNRIEE
ERNBRTR -

REBREEE ESEMNPBHRERRE-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

18 57 #% BBl 3 = (48)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

18 37 1% BB 3R 5 (4E)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

REMMBEZGESMBEHRR AR
E2EEm
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related action taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Yip Kai Yin with Practising Certificate number
PO7854.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

29 June 2023

18 57 #% BBl 3 = (48)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
maRmkEHEmEINER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 =L - =F = A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B E FHExT FET
Revenue W25 6 72,577 73,925
Cost of sales 5 & A AR (41,434) (36,369)
Gross profit EF 31,143 37,556
Other income H U A 7 3,707 1,536
Other gains and losses, net Hi Wz REEFE 8 157,957 160,618
Selling and distribution expenses HENMDHEEBR (16,683) (26,292)
Administrative expenses THEH (25,738) (24,206)
Share of results of an associate FEMH — M E R R EE (3,849) (3,653)
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 10 (15,636) (13,229)
Profit before income tax KR P15 A0 A g A 9 130,901 132,330
Income tax expense FriSfif X 13 (1,128) (1,239)
Profit for the year REEREF 129,773 131,091
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hib2m (B %), W #H
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HBEgnpgtkEF 7 HEZ
profit or loss B hyIEH
Exchange differences on translation of foreign BmEEINELZ
operations N =% (13,127) 4,539
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for REFHM2E (BX)/
the year & (13,127) 4,539
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEXHEWRZEE 116,646 135,630
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
FERERHEMEEWESR(E

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F = i . £
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FHET
Profit for the year attributable to: DMTATEGMEFE
&= F
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIE F =N 129,265 130,588
Non-controlling interests JEIERR RE S 508 503
129,773 131,091
Total comprehensive income for the year DTFTATEMEAFEEERZTA
attributable to: WS
Owners of the Company ViN/NEEIET DN 116,069 135,148
Non-controlling interests IR E S 577 482
116,646 135,630
HK cents HK cents
Al eIl
Earnings per share for profit attributable to 7 X T #EH A FE45 25 F >~
owners of the Company: BRER :
— Basic —E K 14 5.41 5.46
— Diluted —EE 14 4.40 4.36
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE BT ISR R

Asat31 March2028 R—ZE - =F=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment properties EYE 16 2,549 2,681
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE REE 17 124,785 138,250
Right-of-use assets FREEE 18 11,759 10,140
Intangible assets mEE 19 1,807 1,807
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFAER 2SR
profit or loss BE 20 793,530 634,907
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMETR
other comprehensive income WHZERmEE 21 - -
Interest in an associate EA —EBeE AR ZER 22 316,516 320,365
Loan to an associate ERT—HEEE R A 23 15,196 14,500
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE 32 69 69
1,266,211 1,122,719
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories f g 24 3,018 8,465
Trade and bills receivables ZH5RINERREREER 25 5,797 7,813
Deposits, prepayments and ?Z% & FERNFIEREAM
other receivables JE W 3R IE 26 4,455 6,491
Amount due from an associate FE U — Bt 2 N Bl I 23 36,245 36,089
Loan to an associate BERT—MHBE QA 23 5,190 -
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFTABZ 2SR
profit or loss B E 20 1,754 1,905
Pledged bank deposits B IEITFER 27 19,803 21,738
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITHE 28 102,401 111,881
178,663 194,382
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEE
Trade and bills payables BSRENERRENE TF 29 6,634 6,456
Accruals, other payables and EREBR  HMEMNK
contract liabilities S48 E 30 32,517 38,078
Lease liabilities HEARG 31 1,316 2,194
Deferred income on government grants IR JFF 6 Bh 2 3R S U A 34 118 131
Tax payable FET R 16,429 17,204
57,014 64,063
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 121,649 130,319
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERABAES 1,387,860 1,253,038
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
SEMBIRRER ()

As at 31 March 2028 W=—E-—=F=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F = i . £
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3 FH&xT FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FkREBEE
Convertible bonds AT} ES 33 98,617 83,074
Lease liabilities HEaE 31 3,291 39
Deferred income on government grants BT 47 Bl 2 3 ST A 34 4,382 5,001
106,290 88,114
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,281,570 1,164,924
EQUITY EE
Share capital A& 72 35 23,900 23,900
Reserves & 37 1,257,822 1,141,753
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7= 2 T #EH A FE{h %% 1,281,722 1,165,653
Non-controlling interests FEERER 39 (152) (729)
TOTAL EQUITY R 1,281,570 1,164,924
On behalf of the Board on 29 June 2023 rEgEEeR T -_=FxA=-+NH
Xie Yi Wong Sau Kuen
B E EFEB
Director Director
EE EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY
maER SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 B2 =L - =F = A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARRHBEAER
Foreign Convertible
currency bonds Non-
Share  Share Capital Contributed translation equity FVTOCI Retained controlling
capital premium reserve surplus reserve reserve  reserve earnings Sub-total interests Total
RATE
AR
TaRES 2EUE FERE
BRA RAGE E4xFHE SABEH EXRE RBEREE 2H6F REEN et # st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$O000 HK$000 HK$O00 HK$'000
TET TEXT TiAx THT THT TErT THx TEx FTExL TEx THER
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—F
mA—A 23900 191,738 6,542 4,839 20616 512,359  (83,086) 344,597 1,030,505 (1,211) 1,029,294
Profit for the year KEERF = - - - - - — 130,588 130,588 503 131,091
Exchange differences on BERNEBES
translation of foreign ZERER
operations - — - - 4,560 - — - 4,560 @21 4539
Total comprehensive income 2 i I 25 £ 58 - - - - 4,560 - — 130,588 135,148 482 135,630
At 31 March 2022 and R-BE-—F
1 April 2022 ZR=+-8
“E-CF
mA—H 23,900 191,738 6,542 4,839 34,176 512,359  (83,086) 475,185 1,165,653 (729) 1,164,924
Profit for the year KEERM = = = - - - - 129,265 129,265 508 129,773
Exchange differences on BEENEBES
translation of foreign ZERER
operations - - - - (13,196) - - - (13,196) 69 (13,127)
Total comprehensive income % T Ml & 12 58
- - - - (13,196) - - 129,265 116,069 577 116,646
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
ZR=+-H 23900 191,738 6,542 4,839 20,980 512,359  (83,086) 604,450 1,281,722 (152) 1,281,570
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
n‘IT (== iﬁv@l]lb;%

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &f;

FET =

F=A=1—BHLEE

2023 2022
—EC_=F =25 T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Cash flows from operating activities RETEH2HERE
Profit before income tax KR BT 45 15 A1 & 7 130,901 132,330
Adjustments for: FELLTIEE :
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEECIE 2,151 2,188
Depreciation of investment properties HEYMEZTE 132 95
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment YME BMEMREZITE 6,514 6,444
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HE % - HE kR iEZEE — 55
Allowance for obsolete inventories, net BREFERBFHE 115 -
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment loss on trade 25 EWRRREBE
receivables, net B (BE)FE 795 (272)
Provision for impairment on loan to an associate & 3 F — R B 4 A 7R E S 854 2,353
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment on amount i Uy — &) Bt & A 7] 308 6 (B
due from an associate (B @),/ #fE (155) 5,858
Change in fair value on financial assets % ’A FEFABEZEHEE
at FVTPL — investments in convertible bonds N EES A B ES
mE (158,623) (168,585)
Change in fair value on financial assets % ’A FHEFABEZEHEE
at FVTPL — Short term investment NFEE - GHKRE (41) (52)
Share of results of an associate JEAE —REE ARIEER 3,849 3,653
Effective interest expense on convertible bonds MBRESZERANERAY 15,543 13,094
Bank interest income AT B HA (2,126) (343)
Amortisation of deferred income on B Y 478 Bh 2 3 T UL A 8 8H
government grants (123) (128)
Loan interest income from an associate KE—EEBERARZERFE
A (860) (735)
Provision for impairment loss HEt W FIRREBERG
on other receivables = 25
Reversal of written off on other receivables H b FE UK IR 1 3E o) (787) —
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HMEAGBELNERX 92 135
Operating cash flows before movements HEASEPHI KER S
in working capital mE (1,769) (3,889)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEmL () 4,885 (630)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables B 5 EWER & R E R 1,003 3,186
Decrease/(increase) in deposits, prepayments and Ze ~ TET IE N E A E
other receivables B, (3 ) 2,823 (4,212)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and bills payables BEOEMNBERNEMNEEE
O ) 178 (236)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals, other payables and  FEIZE& A - HAabE 5718 &
contract liabilities BHEECRD), (5,561) 4,073
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BERE (A zRE 1,559 (1,704)
Income tax paid B FTSH (379) 62)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
SeBEERAERGE)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-__F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating RETEBHRE (A ZRE
activities FE 1,180 (1,766)
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFEEZRERE
Bank interest income received B ER 1T B A 2,126 302
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEVE MENMKE (6,617) (9,628)
Advance to an associate T —REBE QAR BR (5,880) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged bank deposits BRI RITEROR L, (E ) 1,935 (50)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFACRESFEE (8,436) (9,376)
Cash flows from financing activities METEMELEZRERE
Repayment for lease liabilities EEHEaRE (2,295) (1,800)
Repayment on interest expenses on lease liabilites EEHEEAEMNSHX (92) (135)
Net cash used in financing activities METEFMAZEESEE (2,387) (1,935)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBSESHEEBEBAERLEHE (9,643) (13,077)
Effect of foreign exchange rate change NIEERSFH I FE 163 (1,752)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year {2 HERELEEEHR 111,881 126,710
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRIBESRESEHEER 102,401 111,881
Analysis of the balances of cash and ReRBESEEEBE 28
cash equivalents oA
Cash and bank balances R MIRTT &8 102,401 111,881
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(1)

(2

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z ==

GENERAL

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The address of its
principal place of business is Suites 2206-08, 22/F, Devon
House, Taikoo Place, 979 King’s Road, Quarry Bay, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company (together with
the subsidiaries referred to as the “Group”). The principal
activities of its subsidiaries and an associate are set out in notes
to the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

(@@ Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendment to Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16 beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to Property, Plant and Equipment-Proceeds
HKAS 16 before Intended Use

Amendments to Onerous Contracts-Cost of Fulfiling a
HKAS 37 Contract

Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
HKFRSs 2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

(1)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

()

106

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

(b)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

E 28 8 & R £ W2 # R
BEEMBHREENREE
R

AEEILREFRATIEBM
BRHARERZHTELETHRE

not yet effective:

B R EERTA

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RUTEER 2 %6
MFERBENR

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

BAVBRELENEVTR(BEEEVE
BEERF1I7THE T -_TFE+AR
R FZABEAR)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BANBRELEANEI0R R EE AR
£285 (BETA)
Amendments to HKAS 1

EERHENEIRETH)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BAGHENE 1R RABNBmELR
EBREFE2RUEFTAR)

Amendments to HKAS 8

BEAGFEAFESH (BFTAR)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB G ERE125 (BT X)

Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEAVBRELAE165 (BFTA)

Insurance Contracts

Rl & A RARRIEFT

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEFREBENAREE D ERBEER
EANEBE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BENEARYAERDREERE
BERWBHBT(ZT_ZF)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

S HERBE

Definition of Accounting Estimates

BRI 2 TR

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

RE-RHMELEEREGBRHEY
EERIR

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

ERMENEERE

1 January 2023
—E-=%—AF—H
A date to be
determined

EFa=E

1 January 2024

ZEmME—-A—H
1 January 2023
—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023
—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023
—E-_=%—HF—H

1 January 2024
—E-mNFE—-HF—H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(2) APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EHE:NE )
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue (b) EEMEERERZHET

but not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of all other new and amendments to
HKFRSs, will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement
for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to
settle the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the right exists if the
conditions are met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not test
compliance until a later date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the
option separately as an equity instrument applying
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments. Presentation.

BEEMNBRELEIREBE
HRNE

BRI XA R BN B mEE
A REAERTAIN  RRRIEEE
HERBABEEMHFTEETHR
EERREAEFT AR R
BT EHGEEMBRRELEX

B/ 488
2

EEBEERFE1E (15T A)
[EESEAREBRFRER
EBREESE B I5ET
(ZE=—FF)]

ZEBF REHEEENFTGIE
BB REIES  mRE B
BELT_EAABEEIER
MEBEXIERBAE  H4:

e FHEEEBEIBARDE
BHFRDEERENR
SHREHFHEZERN - A8

ME  ZFEEF

0 PEITEXINEERE
B R HER12(E A
NEEBEHATE:
54

(i) fe % HE R A B T R
Rl BEERA
EREBAHTAAR
B A GMAF Al
MEHREHRTE K
HZBRATEFE: &

e HWHMHABZGAANLA
RPEFEE AR LBE
PEBRERA S o EaT
ARGEE EZEZEREMR
B EREREIE/
TR Z2IIKEERES
HRAER AR WK
RITTERXEETBERR

B ERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(2) APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue

but not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

(Continued)

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31
March 2023, the application of the amendments will not

result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

(3) BASIS OF PREPARATION

3.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the
provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which
concern the preparation of financial statements. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited.

3.2 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

(b) T 2B & R ERZHET
BEEMBHREENREE
HENE D

BEBETERE15 (I55TFK)
[BEESERREXFERER
EEBREESE B 15T
(ZE-FF) (&

o EEREESTRELES
PRI (BRI A) MAETTT
ER] - AEREZ B ARES — &
A#EwmAE -

ERAKEER-_FT_=F=A=
T—HZREEEY BAZE
BT EERAKRE CBEEN

-
DFE

(3 mBEE

3.1 6B

REMBRERDREMABER
BAMBREER BB E
Al(E G ER ) 2B
THBIBETBREEAN] A
K& B R EHED A B R BB 5 )
RZGEX MRS Lo AR
BHREABEBEHERHIMER
AREFEMRAMRE 2EH
KE -

32 FTEHE%E

MY EFBEmML RETS
MIARXFEFEN HE
MBEBRRIDBREBEELRAEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(3) BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

3.2 Basis of measurement (Continued)

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.

(3) MmEEE @)

3.2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(3) BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) (3) #mBE%E @)
3.2 Basis of measurement (Continued) 3.2 FFrEEE @)
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value W B BEHmEmMSs * 2FE

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based SAEERRBRAFETEH ASE A

on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value BEEERBASBEHATER

measurements are observable and the significance of the BHEEUHE S AEFE— —=
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which & EBEEYINT

are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in . —RBARBEAEER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that STEHHEIRESER
the entity can access at the measurement date; M LEHAREESARBN

WECREFHE)

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices . TR ABEAEEN
included within Level 1, that are observable for the BEEMNEESBEETER
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and A GIASE — &

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset

MEVRELASN) © &

FZRBABBREEX

or liability. BE/ AR AR -

3.3 Functional and presentation currency 3.3 WEERZINEK
The consolidated financial statements are presented in SEBBHERIIET(E T
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the 2% BTN ARATZHEE
functional currency of the Company. The amounts stated Mo B HEMIEIN FTRSEELY

are rounded to the nearest HK$1,000 unless otherwise BESERTHET-

stated.

110 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #EZEXIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit
or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
dates of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i)
the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary
are accounted for in the same manner as would be
required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed
of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests
at initial recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s
share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

(4 EREFTHE

4.1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n-ﬁ

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H#EZ —Z—=

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.2

4.3

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present:
power over the investee, exposure, or has rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and the ability to use its
power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor a
joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but not control or joint control over those
policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amounts are adjusted for the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the
associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of the
Group’s interest in the associates are not recognised
unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the
carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.3

4.4

Associate (Continued)

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included
in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is
objective evidence that the investment in an associate has
been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.

Goodwill

Where the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities
exceed the aggregate of the fair value of consideration
paid, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition date fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree,
the excess is recognised in profit or loss on the acquisition
date, after re-assessment.

Goodwill is measured at cost less impairment losses. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-
generating units that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. A cash-generating unit is the
smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash
inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets. A cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that the unit may be impaired.

(4) ERZEBE @

4.3

4.4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.4

4.5

Goodwill

For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a financial year,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
financial year. When the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the
unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the
basis of the carrying amount to each asset in the unit.
However, the loss allocated to each asset will not reduce
the individual asset’s carrying amount to below its fair
value less cost of disposal (if measurable) or its value in
use (if determinable), whichever is the higher. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss
and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

4.4

4.5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
An & B A5 3R R B 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@4) EXEFBER @

4.5 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 45 Y% - R ENEE @)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period with the effect of any
changes in estimate encountered for a prospective basis.
The annual rates/estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings Over the lease terms of the
relevant leasehold land
and 50 years if shorter

Plant and equipment 6.67%-20%

Furniture, fixtures and 10%-30%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

Construction in progress represents properties under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct
costs of construction and capitalized borrowing costs on
related borrowed funds during the period of construction,
if any. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when the construction is completed and the properties
are ready for intended use.
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(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.6

4.7

Investment property

Investment property is property held either to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes.

The land component of leasehold investment property is
accounted for as right-of-use assets and included in the
investment properties.

The building component of investment property is
measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment (if any). Depreciation is
calculated using a straight-line method to allocate the
depreciable amounts over the estimated useful lives of
30.25 years to 50 years or over the lease terms of the
relevant leasehold land.

The residual values and estimated useful lives of
investment property are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate, at each financial year end. The effects of any
revision are included in the statement of profit or loss
when the changes arise.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.
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4.7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(4) ERZEBE @

4.7 Leases (Continued) 4.7 HE @)

As a lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise () leases which are
short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office equipment, that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets are recognised at cost and would
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to
account for lease liabilities); (i) any lease payments made
at or before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (i) any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset, restoring the site on which the underlying asset is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease. Except
for right-of-use assets that meet the definition of an
investment property or a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the Group applies the revaluation
model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group
measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

4.7 Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment
property are presented within “investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities are recognised at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (i) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date; (i) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option;
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liabilities by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liabilities; (i)
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iiij remeasuring the carrying amount
to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a
change in future lease payments arising from change in
an index or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in
the in substance fixed lease payments or a change in
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.7 Leases (Continued)

4.8

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised
as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over the
term of the lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Financial Instruments

()

Financial assets

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

(4) ERZEBE @

4.7

4.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

()
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Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVTOCI”): Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income. On derecognition, gains
and losses accumulated in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”): Financial
assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for
trading, financial assets designated upon initial
recognition at FVTPL, or financial assets mandatorily
required to be measured at fair value. Financial
assets are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at FVTPL,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding
the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

()

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in the
investment’s fair value in other comprehensive
income. This election is made on an investment-by-
investment basis. Equity investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured
at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income and are
not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity
instruments are classified as FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss of financial assets, subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade and bills receivables and
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:
(1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of a financial instrument. The
maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)
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Impairment loss of financial assets, subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation
to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances
for trade and bills receivables using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based
on lifetime ECLs. The Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based
on the 12-months ECLs. However, when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the
lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss of financial assets, subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is more
than 30 days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(i)

(iii)
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Impairment loss of financial assets, subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9
(Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of financial assets is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that
there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to
repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a reversal of
impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(iv)  Financial liabilities

(v)

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending
on the purpose for which the liabilities were
incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and
financial liabilites at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade
and other payables and the liability component of
convertible bonds issued by the Company are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into their respective items
on initial recognition. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as
an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion
option for the holder to convert the bonds into
equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds
equity reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8 Financial Instruments (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Convertible bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
the convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The equity
component, represented by the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible bonds equity
reserve until the embedded option is exercised (in
which case the balance stated in convertible bonds
equity reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry dates, the balance stated
in convertible bonds equity reserve will be released
to the retained earnings. No gain or loss is
recognised upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the
equity component are charged directly to equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest
method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income or
interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial
asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter
period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets
the criteria for derecognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9.

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.8

4.9

Financial Instruments (Continued)

(viij) Derecognition (Continued)
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or
in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of that
liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and
measured at their fair value on the date the financial
liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair
value of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability or part
thereof extinguished and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental
costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n-ﬁ

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

4.10Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that
apply to the contract, control of the goods or service may
be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of
the goods or service is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

° provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

° creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

° does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@4) EXEFBER @

4.10Revenue (Continued) 410U & (&)
Sales of pharmaceutical products HE#E R
Customers obtain control of the pharmaceutical products EERXNREEZWRE - BFHF
when the goods are delivered to and have been A TS B R A I R RE o B IR
accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the EREFEWERBER  — &
O

customers accepted the pharmaceutical products. There
is generally only one performance obligation. Invoices are
issued when goods is delivered. The Group’s trading
terms with its customers are mainly based on credit,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The customers are generally given a
credit period for 120 to 180 days, extending up to one
year for some major customers.

Other income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal
outstanding at the applicable interest rate.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

4.11Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(4) E R BE @)

4.11 Income taxes (Continued) 411 FR 5% &)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for
goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying
amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income in which case the taxes are also recognised in
other comprehensive income or when they relate to items
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are
also recognised directly in equity. The carrying amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

BERBARMBHRET = &
ENBEZEAEERBRENS
ZHBER ERZEMIER -
BEERTEESHERMR
mAZEEREERABZIN
P FE AR B 2 BRI FE AR R
EENIR B AR - fe 7 B) A AT HO R
2 H B 2 RR A B R AR 0 M B
ERREEEN SRR - BELR
RBNLREBEMRNABEEZREE
ERYIEHABLRAELEELZ
HMEER B R REFEHR
FEEMAERD B 2B X
iHE -

BB IRBE TR NWE R -
e NBIRARZEHERZKRE
MELXZERREHEZEER
HE fid AN 5% [ R] 922 ) B R R 2 R
EmZERFERAAESTEHE
A] R 2R m 2 A ER S

ERERAEERAMERSHREH
KT AR AT - I AF HF00R - PAR
BrAACARRTENHES
WE ey EERR -

PRI NIERER  BRIELSE
M7 B 0 H i 2 T UK R TR RR 2 TR
BER BRI IZFEREAN
REMEEU D QER  HZFH
MEERERERERZEE R
B8 LB I N R SR B I
ENEEBR - BEERBEEREZ
REERESRES ARG ERT
WHENKNAEBERHERBK
i A A W B 2 B sk B 1 B E R
D e

130 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #BEZEXIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@4) EXEFBER @

4.12Foreign currency 4125k

Transactions entered into by the Company/group entities
in currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the
“functional currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling
when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary
assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at
the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period except for differences arising
on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of
which gains and losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(4) E R BE @)

4.12Foreign currency (Continued) 4.12 JNEE (48)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average
exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions
took place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign
operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of
reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate). Exchange differences recognised in profit or
loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on
the translation of long-term monetary items forming part
of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation
concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity as foreign currency
translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative
exchange differences recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date
of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the
profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the
rate of exchange prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
An & B A5 3R R B 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.13 Employee benefits

()

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short term
employee benefits are recognised in the year when
the employees render the related service.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

4.14 Impairment of assets (other than financial
assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment/investment property
under cost model;

right-of-use assets; and

investments in subsidiaries and an associate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(4) E R BE @)

A14E E B BE(2 @ & &

4.14 Impairment of assets (other than financial

assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease
under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset, discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.

4.15Borrowing cost

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

4.16 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is
probable will result in an outflow of economic benefits that
can be reliably estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(4) ERZEBE @

4,16 Provisions and contingent liabilities (Continued) 416 ERIAEE @)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.

4.17 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n-ﬁ

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

4.17 Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred income on government grants and are credited
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

4.18 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the year in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors,
where appropriate.

4.19 Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family
is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

(4) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.19 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

(vl A person identified in (a)() has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(4)

(5)

SRR ERREACE )

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

4.19 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  (Continued)
Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(i)  dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & EZ -~ —=

(5) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of interest in an associate

The Group’s interest in an associate represents interest in
Smart Ascent Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Smart Ascent
Group”). The major asset held by the Smart Ascent Group is an
intangible asset in relation to an in-process research and
development project (the “In-process R&D”) involving an oral
insulin product (the “Product”). As at 31 March 2023, the
Group’s interest in an associate is amounted to
HK$316,516,000 (2022: HK$320,365,000). The directors of the
Company have performed an impairment assessment on the
Group’s interest in an associate as at 31 March 2023 and
2022, with reference to a valuation report prepared by an
independent qualified valuer and are of the view that no
impairment is required for both years.

In making the assessment, key assumptions adopted by the
management include that Smart Ascent Group would be
successful in completing the clinical trials, obtaining the
regulatory approvals from the relevant government bodies and
launching the Product.

Impairment losses on trade receivables, loan to
an associate and amount due from an associate

The impairment losses on trade receivables, loan to an
associate and amount due from an associate of the Group are
estimated based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis performed by the management. A considerable amount
of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of
these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each counterparty. If the financial
conditions of customers or an associate of the Group were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(5)

(6)

SRR ERREACE )

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Fair value of investments in convertible bonds

The fair value of convertible bonds invested by the Group is
calculated using valuation techniques. Valuation techniques are
certified by independent qualified valuers before being
implemented for valuation and are calibrated to ensure that
outputs reflect market conditions. Valuation models established
by valuers make the maximum use of market inputs and rely as
little as possible on the Group’s specific data. The model
involves estimates on time to expiration, risk free rate, share
price, volatility, discount rate and others. As at 31 March 2023,
the carrying amount of the convertible bonds as a whole
invested by the Group is HK$793,530,000 (2022:
HK$634,907,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

=F=ZA=t—HILFE

(5)

(6)

B
H =

ARRESFREZAFE

REEKE A BRES 2 AFED
KAMEEFE - HEEZEBE LA
BAEEMNEENZEL T AFAE -
LARERIS 2 BB R T 0 - & EAD
BEZEERRXGRZI>FATSE A
FEMBELABLASEEZ2ETH
o ZEXN S RE IR ERK
FIE- - RE - KB BFREREAME
%Zﬁ% RZEZ=F=ZRA=+—

CAREBERE A BRRES 2 EE
%Eﬁﬁm%%m@%ﬂ:gzz
4 : 634,907,000 7T) °

Revenue for the year represents the fair value of amounts FERNKZERNIINEGEFEHEERM
received and receivable for goods sold to external customers, B R EWRRIE A 1% HMBRFEEA
less discounts and sales-related taxes for the year, and is ZHMEEERBHRE 20T
analysed as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E=-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Manufacturing of pharmaceutical products, —®3i& % 5 - A 5 — A5 8 24
at a point in time 72,573 73,925
Trading of pharmaceutical products, at a BRES RE—BHEZ
point in time 4 —
72,577 73,925
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(6) REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
contracts with customers in existence at the reporting date:

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 and therefore the information about the
remaining performance obligation is not disclosed for contracts
that have an original expected duration of one year or less and
also for those performance obligation which are regarded as
satisfied as invoiced.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision
maker. The chief operating decision maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the board of
directors that makes strategic decisions.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately, according to the nature of their operations and the
products they provide. Each of the Group’s operating segments
represents a strategic business unit that offers products which
are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
the other business segments. Summarised details of the
reportable and operating segments are as follows:

(@ the manufacturing segment engages in the development,
manufacture and sales of pharmaceutical products
(“Manufacturing”);

(b) the trading segment engages in the marketing and
distribution of imported pharmaceutical products (“Trading”);
and

(c) the gene development segment engages in the
commercial exploitation and development of genome-
related technology (“Gene Development”).
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n'ﬁ

(6) REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & EZ -~ —=

(Continued)

Segment revenue and results

F=ZRA=1T—HILFE

(6) Wz

The following is the Group’s revenue and results from operation
by reportable and operating segments.

R BEER @

DEREREER

KT RAREERZRA 2

EPNE

DZREWBENESE -

SE R E

Manufacturing Trading Gene Development Total
2 g% ERER - hy
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—B-=fE -Z--f ZBC-=E -—F--f ZB-SE -—T--f ZB-ZfE -—E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT FRL T THER FEL THER FHET
Revenue Wi
Sales to external customers ANEEEEE 72,573 73,925 4 - - - 72,511 73,925
Segment results PEEE 2,143 2,132 (3,354) (4,168) (91) (90) (1,302) (2,126)
Unallocated other income APEZEMBA 3,707 1,536
Unallocated other gains and losses, net & 92 2 £ ft Y35 R
REE 157,957 160,374
Administrative expenses THER (10,069) (10,708)
Interest expenses on convertible bonds AR B % F .8 % (15,543) (13,094)
Share of results of an associate B ERREE (3,849) (3,652)
Profit before income tax BRETERATRF 130,901 132,330
Income tax expense FERES (1,128) (1.239)
Profit for the year REZHF 129,773 131,091

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment

o8B MR E Y R

DEEMKA - H

without allocation of other income, other gains and losses, net,
certain administrative expenses, effective interest expense on
convertible bonds and share of results of an associate. This is

the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker, 2% F o
being the board of directors, for the purposes of resource H2HRFER S
allocation and performance assessment. MstE R e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
An & B R Y B (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(6) REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

(6) Wz Ko

BE®m@m

THREERERE

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

The following is the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable NTAEREBERE2HNESE D HEE
and operating segment. DREENBRE-
Manufacturing Trading Gene Development Total
i g5 HARE @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“g-=f C—F--f CZ8-=f —T--f C-B-=f -Z-C “B-=f -F-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TET TEn TET TEn TET TEn TET
Segment assets PEEE
Segment assets NEEE 176,617 194,340 45,827 66,063 15 15 222,459 260,418
Financial assets at fair valu through R AT EEH A B2
profit or loss — investments in CREAE-THR
convertible bonds BHRRE 793,530 634,907
Interest in an associate R-BBE R E
= 316,516 320,365
Corporate and other assets PERAMEE 112,369 101,411
Total assets LELE 1,444,874 1,317,101
Segment liabilities 28R
Segment liabilities PEEE 57,917 64,376 709 1,211 64 64 58,690 65,651
Convertible bonds AR E 5 98,617 83,074
Corporate and other liabilties rEREMEE 5,907 3452
Total liabilties BEEH 163,304 152,177
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and ot e ?Ti\ SEEXELRSBEBRYEEER
allocating resources between segments: ms :
° all assets are allocated to operating segments other than ° BRI ATFEAAEBREZEREE

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss —
investments in convertible bonds, short term investment,
interest in an associate and corporate and other assets;

and

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than convertible bonds and corporate and other liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(6) REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 6) WERKDTEER @
(Continued)
Other segment information HiapprEE R
Manufacturing Trading Gene Development Total
BE g5 HEARE @t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“g-=f -ZT--% CZB-ZE -ZE--% CZB-ZE C-Z--% CZB-=E C-ZT--
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAL TER TAL TER FEL TER FEL
Amounts included in the measure of T AP EHFIHER
segment profit or loss: FEZEE:
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 6,660 6,557 1,507 133 - - 8,167 6,690
Unallocated depreciation and ROEFTEREE
amortisation 630 2,037
8,797 8,727
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment & % ERETRES
loss on trade receivables, net BRE/(&E)
FE 795 (272) - - - - 795 (272)
Loss on disposal of property, plantand  HEM % « BE K&
equipment EBIER - - 55 - - - 55
Reversal of written off on other Hft P Y SR IE B A
receivables &l (787) - - - - - (787) -
Provision for impairment loss on other i & Ut 3108 i (B 16
receivables BEE - 25 - - - - - 25
Allowance for obsolete inventories, net [FEZ SR E 8 115 - - - - - 115 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(6) REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) (Country of domicile) and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the customers and
distributors. Information about the Group’s non-current assets
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

6) MRk EER @

i 3B &
AEBZEBURPEARKNE
(TR B () R & -

BERRAIETEPZAKERGEZE
MINREPREHEBME®RZS A
AAKRE RS EECENDKEE
FrEMBUEZS -

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

RENEEE 2Kz FRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022

—_E-= —_=EF_- —E-= —_E=-=
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FATT FHExT FHET
Hong Kong b 4 — 4,507 3,612
The PRC s 72,573 73,925 470,158 484,131
72,577 73,925 474,665 487,743

Note: Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss and deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

No individual customer accounted for over 10% of the Group’s

total revenue for both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(7)

8)

146

=F=ZA=t—HILFE

OTHER INCOME (7) H b A

2023 2022
—E-= =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FET
Bank interest income RITF B WA 2,126 343
Rental income HEUWA 437 209
Government grants (note) RS 5 Bh (B 3%) 284 249
Loan interest income from an associate KE—HMEBERARZER

B U A 860 735
3,707 1,536

Note: Government grants of approximately HK$123,000 (2022: HK$121,000) B
recognised as other income are awarded to the Group by the PRC
government as incentives primarily to encourage the development of the
Group and the contribution to the local economic development. The
remaining balances are related to the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment (see details in note 34). The government grants are one-off with

no specific condition attached for both years.

34) °
B

W R

b 48

REEZ B

RREMKRAZBITH#DE Y
123,000 T (Z T = =
T HBBRFS T
HE FEAREEASEEREREE
BRIELER - TE&&HHEI
BUE BELRLEBEB(GBRWE
MEFE2BRB#MBeE A —

©121,00078
N

b BT 7 5 R A o

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET B) EMWEREEFHE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FABT
Loss on disposal of property, plant and LEME - WELKBEZEIE
equipment = (55)
Change in fair value on financial assets at &2 F TE AABRZEREER
fair value through profit or loss FTEHEH - TBRBRESFEE
— investments in convertible bonds 158,623 168,585
Change in fair value on financial assets at X A FEFABRZEREER
fair value through profit or loss FTEEH - GHERE
— short term investment 41 52
Provision for impairment loss on loanto an &z F — B 8 & 2 & 2 BE & 18
associate B (854) (2,353)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment loss & Ui — R Bt & A =] 5018 2 /i E
on amount due from an associate B R E, (B ) 155 (5,858)
Reversal of written off on other receivables  EL b JfE Ui 3 18 #1580 787
Provision for impairment loss on other H th JE W SR IE R (B B B
receivables = (29)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment loss on & 5 & U BF 2R (B B 18 (B &)
trade receivables, net s EIpE ] (795) 272
157,957 160,618
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&S B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(9) PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX (9) BRFTEB AHR

2023 2022
—E-=F S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Profit before income tax is BETE R ANE A B KR

arrived at after charging: T %18 .

Auditor’s remuneration Z SR BN & 800 780
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAEEENE 2,151 2,188
Depreciation of investment properties HEYENE 132 95
Depreciation of property, plant and V- BENMEZETE

equipment 6,514 6,444
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R BB A 2 7&K A (M)

(note) 20,646 24,021
Research and development cost RN 881 444
Allowance for obsolete inventories, net REFTERE TR 115 -
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) 8 T 74 (B F#EE EH )

Salaries and allowances 4 NoEBL 18,874 19,886
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RAKEF B 30 2,224 2,555
Note: The amount represents the cost of materials that used to produce the s 2 e BmERARNAESEROMERA =

goods, excluding the direct labour costs and the manufacturing BIEEBEATIRANEEREERAK -

overheads.
(10) FINANCE COSTS (10) Br % B& A<

2023 2022

—E-= —_=F=_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Interest expenses on convertible bonds AR EESNER Y 15,544 13,094
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBEBEMNBRAX 92 135
15,636 13,229
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AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(11) DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong

MEERESTHRAEME

AEERBEAREMRUREFTERA
GFOIBEBENEERERITERABFHM

Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: M
Contributions to
retirement benefit
Fees Salaries and allowance scheme Total
e FeR2E RCERGEMR st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZB-z=f ZT-_F ZB-=ZF —_E__F ZB-=fE —Z__F ZB-=f —T_-
Notes ~ HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
it 5% TET TET TER TR TER THT TER TR
Name of director BEEME
Xie Yi EIE: (@) 70 70 1,316 1,316 - — 1,386 1,386
LouYi 17 (@) 70 70 487 487 - - 557 557
Cheng Yong 3= (@) 70 70 643 643 - - 713 713
Wong Sau Kuen TAR (@) 70 70 852 852 18 18 940 940
Liu Kwok Wah BEE (@), () 105 70 728 995 9 18 842 1,083
Fang Lin Hu FRR (b) 70 70 - - - - 70 70
Xue Jing Lun ERfm (b), (@ 118 70 - - - - 118 70
Jin Song AN (b) 70 70 - - - - 70 70
643 560 4,026 4,293 27 36 4,696 4,889
Notes: M
(a) Executive directors (a) HITES
(b) Independent non-executive directors (b) B IEHITES
(c) Liu Kwok Wah has resigned on 30 September 2022 (© ERER -_E-_—FAA=+HET
The amount of fees included payable for the period from 1 April 2022 to e eHEeEER_ZE-__4FMUA—H
30 September 2022. BT - _FNANA=ZTHHEOEN
RIE
(d  XueJing Lun passed away on 4 December 2022 ) BEERER_ZE-_—_Ft+-AEAE

The amount of fees included payable for the period from 1 April 2022 to 4
December 2022.

wecsBEpEha_ZE_—_FMWA—H
EE_—_F+_-_ANBHENER
KIF o
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S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(11) DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Xie Yi is also the chief executive officer of the Company (“CEQ”)
and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services
rendered by him as the CEO.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above are for their services as the directors of the Company.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office for both years. None of the
directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments for
both years.

(12) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

(@ The five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, five (2022: five) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note
11 above.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office, and no highest paid
individual has waived or, agreed to waive any
emoluments.

(11)%%&%%ﬁlﬂlké

z (&

HABABARRTRARH(TTHRAE
B ELABREMESEREERT
BABEIEHRE < S -

PRATESHE IR BREFIREBE
BEEEEMNRBEL -

FRBIIFRTEZTHE IR EFE
EARRBEFTNRBHES -

RZMEFEERA K& ELE TR
EEXAME EAMAREERRA
B REKIERBEREE - N&Mm
BEEER METNEERELRE
HMEWRBER S -

(1)EfxESHFMAL

@ BEfumESHFMAL

AEBRAUESHFWALTHRRSA

TE - FRHEA)AARRAE
RS2 EH R LK
1A

% R EF R A - 2N 5K E & A
IfussFMALNME  F
AMAAE B AR 2 ZE) sk
BEBHE MMERSFMAL
MEXRERETMIE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(12) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme

On 24 August 2012, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a share option scheme, which
had a term of 10 years commencing on the effective
adoption date of 29 August 2012, and expired on 28
August 2022 (the “Old Scheme”). No share options had
been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Old Scheme.

On 30 August 2022, the shareholders of the Company
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the
“New Scheme”) which became effective on 2 September
2022 upon obtaining listing approval from the Stock
Exchange, and unless otherwise cancelled or amended,
will remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The New Scheme provides the Company with a flexible
means of giving incentives or rewards to the eligible
participants, for their contribution and/or potential
contribution to the long-term growth of the Group. Eligible
participants of the New Scheme mainly comprise the
Company’s directors (including independent non-
executive directors), other employees of the Group,
suppliers of goods or services to the Group, customers of
the Group; any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group;
and professional adviser or consultant to any area of
business or business development of any member of the
Group.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
New Scheme is 239,000,000 shares, representing 10%
of the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of
passing the relevant resolution approving the New
Scheme.

(b)

(12 ENESHFMA L@

Bt &

RZE—=—F\AZ+HEH" R
DA RS RN — BRI
EI(TEETE)) - ZFTEIM A RS
BI0E B-E——FNA=+
NERBES IR-_ZT__FN
AZ+ N \HIER B BEEAE
fRERBESERDL - 17 &
$H B R o

RZEZZFNA=Z+H AR
B AR BB R — TE TR AR R
(et dl]) KB ZFTED £
MHER  ZETE R T ==

NWA-BEW BERHABZ
AR10F BRIESITEENIEE]

A= E R -

MBS ARBERERE WA
LRE/RAREAAEE R
RIFHBERMNAERZBERT
BN R - FEEIMEER S
HETERRARAES(EBHE
BIYFATES) AKENH
fEE AEBNEY IR H
EE AKENEF  BRAKHE
R AEAEMRMIE
MEAEARER  ARAEE
ERIK B R B R AL % E =X
XBERRITENEXBERIHA
FAA e

FETEIE T AT R M AK
/£239,000,0000% » 18 & KAt & #
FrEMEEAEERBBEEALRR
AIEEITIRMAI10% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(12) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(b)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Unless approved by the Company’s shareholders, the
total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
New Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group to each eligible participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Company’s shares in
issue. Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their respective associates, are subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of
the Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of
0.1% of the Company’s shares in issue at any time or
with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in
writing within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon
payment of nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the
grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
shall be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, but in any event shall not be more than 10
years from the date of the offer of the share options. The
directors of the Company may at their absolute discretion
impose any vesting period at the date of grant.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (i) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant.

(12BN ESHFMA L@

(b)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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E121@ B HE - RIBEFTE R
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BUGERSEENERE(R
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BITEEE BT RAEEATENT
MR DBRETEHBRBAARE
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(12) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued) (12) A & & ¥ B A £ (&)

(b) Share option scheme (Continued) (b) HEMRFEF S @)
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRI T T A AED KR
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meeting. B BRERSREZER -
From the effective date of the Scheme to 31 March 2023, BEZTEAEMBHHE-_T-_=F
no share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled —A=+—BLHBHE SERER
or lapsed under the Scheme. ERBEZEERLY 176 &

SH IR o

(€) Retirement benefit schemes () RIKTEFGHE
The Group has joined a mandatory provident fund KREBEL2NMAEMBEESGER
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees BEMEXRZBFMELAE RS
in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with the ([58FE2TEll) - BBEETE
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the BiEmE T A AEETEEN RN R

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group in funds under the control of an independent
trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the MPF
Scheme is to make the required contributions under the
scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution to the
MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest
immediately.

I A EEERERL -4
ai#ﬂ2§%£$ﬁl2§ﬁ
PHABE RESZEESRBI
ZEAZES - REBERESFE 2
RA - BERHEEE S BIARG
EMEFLIEMRAIEE 2L RFTHE 2
HE - AEBBHEBRESTE 2
ﬁ—ﬁ&%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁﬁiﬁ
cIREBRESFE  EERE
1E,\t@,/\$zz1éa$ﬁfﬁuﬁzi\aﬁ5%
MBS EELHER - 8 A8
U A £ R &% % 30,0007T © 58
HeialnmEFAEHEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(12) FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

(12BN ESHFMA L@

(€) Retirement benefit schemes (Continued) () RIKEFIGHE @)
The retirement benefits cost of the MPF Scheme charged NEEERLREMEZEKIRTD
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other I 2R &St 2B K48 F g A
comprehensive income represents contributions payable EAEEIZTERAIETELL R E
to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the rules of NELSZMHR-
the scheme.
The employees of the Group'’s subsidiaries in the PRC are AEBE s HENBARIEERAH
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit A B RE it 7 T R AR A
scheme organised by the relevant local government RERINBFETERKE - B
authority in the PRC. The subsidiaries are required to NEBRHEEEH S ZETEY
contribute, based on a certain percentage of the salaries LhEE RS RIS ERS  BEF
of its employees, to the retirement benefit scheme and FRIN - WET R TR X EK
have no further obligations for the actual payment of THRBRRERIZE—FEME-
pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual N R ERETEHZE K&
contributions. The Group’s employer contributions vest NEIHIBEEZENES -
fully with the employees when contributed in the central AN E B ER W RAKS S H
pension scheme. The Group has no forfeiture of pension TN EZERFEHEEZR
scheme contributions (i.e. contributions processed by the FEREZITENRERERERNMH
employer on behalf of the employee who has exited the T MR _E-_=ZF=ZF=+—
scheme prior to vesting of such contributions). As at 31 B AEBUERKSFTE TH
March 2023, no forfeited contribution under the pension R EZATARSR R KRFEE
scheme of the Group is available for deduction of FERT LR -
contribution payable in coming years.
(13) INCOME TAX EXPENSE (13) i B BB %
The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated SAERMEMEERRRPT NG
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income X RIEE -
represents:
2023 2022
—E=-= —FT-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Current tax BB 75 18
— Hong Kong — &% = -
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —FEPEMER 1,128 1,239
Income tax expense Fr 45 54 5 32 1,128 1,239
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(13) INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of a
qualifying corporation will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will continue to be taxed at 16.5%.
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, Hong Kong
Profits Tax of the qualified entity of the Group is calculated in
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
No provision for taxation in Hong Kong has been made as the
Group has no assessable profit arising in Hong Kong.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2022: 25%).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

(13) AT & %t ()

BEEBMNERMWERFEHMREX
FE AERCENERBE &
2,000,000/ 7T 1% #£8.25% H) i & 4K
T - 1 #8382,000,0007% JT B FE &% 5 %
FBEEZRI6SXNBEEMH - B E
TE R B _FZRA=+—
HEFE AEBEAGERERAAN

EBMNEG R IRE R RN G BB RS
B8 - A EMAESFEHEGE

B &R B E R8N E A M AR 1216.5% KO AR

—BEHH BARAEBTERES
EERERDEHN WA E\EFTIREBF
ISR o

BIERBECEMESRE(REMER
EDRECEMSHEZETRIES - R EH
WEB AR ZHE RN (ZFE = —F:
25%) °

REMBEEREEZMBNIEEH
ALEHERIITRHEGTE -

2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Profit before income tax expense & BT 15 B 2 Al 130,901 132,330
Tax at domestic income tax rate BARMFERMESTE 2 1A
(2023: 25%; 2022: 25%) TR =F 25%
T F 1 25%) 32,726 33,083
Tax effect of expenses not deductible IRl -y ¥ 32 1,474 3,420
Tax effect of income not taxable TRERAR WA ZBBEE (26,732) (28,033)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRBERERTEREE
recognised (863) (666)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERMEEBEE 2 REEE 4,809 4,652
Tax effect of share of results of the associate fE{h — & A T ¥EE 2
Mis & 635 602
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries ~ R E b FAE R & & 7 1B A A
operating in other jurisdiction TRMEZZE (10,921) (11,819)
Income tax expense Frig®iF = 1,128 1,239
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(14) EARNINGS PER SHARE 14 ERER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share RKANRBEEAEBLERERALEER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following FTE T 5 BUEE -
data:
2023 2022
—®=-= —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Earnings 27
Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings R EFSRE KRB RN 2 B A
per share
(Profit for the year attributable to owners (7 A 1% B A FE 1 A 4 [ 5% )
of the Company) 129,265 130,588
Effect of potential ordinary shares: BEaLakewE
Interest on convertible bonds AT ESF A 15,543 13,094
Earnings for the purpose of diluted earnings AR EERBER T 2 B F
per share 144,808 143,682
2023 2022
—®=-= —E-=
’000 ‘000
F B T B
Number of shares B EE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARFAESRERERN 2 E@BK
shares for the purpose of basic earnings INAE 15 21
per share 2,390,000 2,390,000
Effect of potential ordinary shares: LB zTE:
Convertible bonds —J T@ % & % 900,000 900,000
Weighted average number of ordinary ARAESRESET 2 ZTRR
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings SN #E F 5 &
per share 3,290,000 3,290,000
(15) DIVIDENDS (15) R &
No dividend was paid or declared by the board of directors HE-_ZE-_=F=A=+—HItF
during the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: nil), nor has any EoEEe W RRENMNST IR AR A
dividend been proposed since the end of reporting period. (ZE-_—F:8#)m Q $& £ HAK A
R 4 3 A R AN A ) IR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 =—Z==%%# 155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(16) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (16) RE W £
The Group leases out various offices under operating leases AEFERBEKLEHEHTRAE THA
with fixed rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run for T AR ALIMNEEME ’“f HER
an initial period of five years (2022: five). MEEHR — e FE(Z T ==

HEF) -

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result of AEBEBETEATEIINERR
the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in the EEAMARELHNEEERR AW
respective functional currencies of group entities. The lease e EHEE - BEA YL EHT R
contracts do not contain residual value guarantee and/or BEMEERN HABARBHES
lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end of lease RS A R RE R o
term.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the total cash inflow for

= — T — = - = _
leases is HK$437,000 (2022: HK$209,000). HE-F--F=-A=t—HLF

g MEZHE M ABRTEE437,0008
T (=T = — 4 : 209,000/ 7T) °

HK$'000
FHET
COST A<
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FHmMA—H 8,057
Transfer from property, plant and equipmentand #EZE B W%  WE LB EMTREELE
right-of-use assets 9,943
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and 31 March WN-_E-_—_F=A=+—H Z—ZZT=-_=
2023 MA—BAERZZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 18,000
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND A ERREME
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-—FM@MA—H 6,797
Charge for the year REEF X 95
Transfer from property, plant and equipmentand E#E B W%  HMERZERERAEEE
right-of-use assets 8,427
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZ=ZF=A=+—HK
—E-__FMA—H 15,319
Charge for the year REFH| 132
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H 15,451
NET CARRYING AMOUNT BREFE
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=ZHA=+—H 2,549
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=HA=+—H 2,681
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(16) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The above investment properties are depreciated using the
straight-line method, after taking into account their estimated
residual value, over the lease terms of the leasehold land.

The Group’s investment properties are located on land in the
PRC with medium lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2023 amounting to RMB7,210,000 (2022: RMB7,700,000) has
been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out for that
date by Roma Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected with the Group. The valuation was arrived
at by direct comparison approach with reference to market
evidence of comparable transaction prices for similar properties
as available in the relevant market.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
March 20283 is a Level 3 recurring fair value measurement and
based on the properties highest and best use, which does not
differ from their actual use. The valuation takes into account of
the condition and location of the properties. There has been no
change from the valuation technique used in the prior years.

(16) R & ¥ % (@)

R EMELEEEMFRGE
B REELH 2 BMANERE
E-

AEBZREMELRTE  BAF
HIHE -

RZE-_=F=ZA=+—H A&£E
ZIEEYMERNTFEARSARET,210,000
nw(=ZZT = = F: AR ¥7,700,000
T SRNIREASEWEEE B
VEERHEMZESHEIGERA
ARNZBETZHEEEER - HE
2 EZRBEMSER B 2 EUYE
AENBRRSGEBR MG REREE
B ERER -

RZEZ=F=ZA=+—08 X&H
ZEREMEZATVFERF=QKFNK
AFEAELTERDEGIZTERD
ER(REERAEMER) EHME
EITHER  ZBESFRYEZMR
ARAE - FAIR{BERTESEFE
IR
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(17) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT ANV BERSRE

Furniture,
Plant and fixtures and Motor Construction
Buildings equipment equipment vehicles in progress Total
BER H#A BE
BF #E EBERRE RE EEIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTHL FTHET THR THT TEx
COST %
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—-FHWA—H 137,581 38,063 7,294 4,038 — 186,976
Additions NE = 1,968 74 - 7,698 9,740
Disposal HE - - (307 - - (307)
Transfer to investment properties B E iR & 1) % (5,966) - - - —  (5,966)
Exchange realignment fE R A% 4,876 1,410 105 128 190 6,709
At31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R=-Z-—F=A=+—HkK
—EZ_fNMA—H 136,491 41,441 7,166 4,166 7,888 197,152
Additions NE - 40 71 - 6,506 6,617
Disposal HE - - (25) - - 25)
Transfer K - 7,553 - - (7,553) -
Exchange realignment fE R A% (13,650) (4,144 (302) (360) (831)  (19,287)
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=Z#=ZA=+—H 122,841 44,890 6,910 3,806 6,010 184,457
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION Z:iHi7& KinE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021 R-ZBE-—%F[MA—H 25,323 19,871 6,763 3,944 - 55,901
Charge for the year NEEH T 2,858 3,381 158 47 — 6,444
Elimination on disposal HEREUE - - (252) - — (252)
Transfer to investment properties B iR & ) % (5,056) - - - —  (5,056)
Exchange realignment fE 5 A= 822 820 96 127 - 1,865
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 W-Z-—F=A=+—HRK
“E-_FWA—H 23,947 24,072 6,765 4,118 — 58,902
Charge for the year REEHFL 2,734 3,601 142 37 — 6,514
Elimination on disposal & 5 5 - - (25) - - (25)
Exchange realignment AR 2,517) (2,567) @277 (358) - (5719
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 24,164 25,106 6,605 3,797 - 59,672
NET CARRYING AMOUNT RERE
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=ZF=+—H 98,677 19,784 305 9 6,010 124,785
At 31 March 2022 W-B-—&=A=+-F 112,544 17,369 401 48 7,888 138,250

The Group estimates the recoverable amounts of the property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets based on higher of
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The carrying
amount of the relevant assets does not exceed the recoverable
amount based on fair value less costs of disposal/value in use
and no impairment have been recognised for both years.

AEBRAFEBREEXARERE
BzESEMRADE BERRER
FEREEEZATKEESE - UAFE
BMEERA EREEREE. ﬁ%
BEZEHMEYEBBAREEHE

R R M 3 R RRORL(E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(18) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (18) AL E
Lease Lease
land properties Total
HE+ HEWE Fo
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
FATT FHET FHET
Cost 5N
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—FW™H—H 14,283 5,793 20,076
Addition NE — 139 139
Transfer to investment properties 2 3% &= 1% & ) % (3,977) — (3,977)
Exchange realignment [ 4, 5 28 382 — 382
At 31 March 2022 WR-_E-__F=H=+—H 10,688 5,932 16,620
Addition NE — 4,597 4,597
Write-back o] #3 — (5,793) (5,793)
Exchange realignment b 5 5 & (1,064) — (1,064)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-_=F=ZA=+—H 9,624 4,736 14,360
Accumulated depreciation and E:tiITE REE
impairment
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FMA—H 5,415 2,173 7,588
Charge for the year KEEH X 224 1,964 2,188
Transfer to investment properties & % = % & ) % (3,371) — (3,371)
Exchange realignment PE H 75 2 75 — 75
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April W-_ZT-_—F=A=+—8
2022 MZ_ZE-__FPMWA—H 2,343 4,137 6,480
Charge for the year REEI 201 1,950 2,151
Write back [o] # — (5,793) (5,793)
Exchange realignment bE 5, 58 & (237) — (237)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 2,307 294 2,601
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=9=A=+—H 7,317 4,442 11,759
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=HA=+—H 8,345 1,795 10,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(18) RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Total cash outflow for the lease was approximately
HK$2,387,000 (2022: approximately HK$1,935,000).

For both vyears, the Group leases office premises for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
two years to three years (2022: 2-3 years). Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

(18)FFREEE @)

HEZRERML AL A2,387,000/%8
TT(ZZF = — 4 : 41,935,000/ ) °

REEFEE AEEREEERS N
AREEFM -AEAYDIZETFEHW
FE=ZF(ZTZ-F :28F )7L
HERRNEREZFBEEREBT ST
B Rk - BT E B KT
TR R EEHE AEBERA
N2z EELRESHATITE M -

(19) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (19ELEE
Gene
invention
rights Goodwill Total
HEZHE GRS wat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAET FAET
COST R
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, WHR—-—ZT—-——&#mA—H -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —Z=-—4=H=+—H -
—EZFWPA-—BRK
—E-=ZF=ZA=+—H 95,000 1,807 96,807
ACCUMULATED A BEREE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, HR—-Z—-—4#p|H—H -
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —Z=-—4%€=H=+—H -
—EZFWPA—HBR
—E-_=ZF=ZA=+—H 95,000 — 95,000
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=H=+—H — 1,807 1,807
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—H — 1,807 1,807

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill with indefinite
useful lives has been allocated to one individual cash-generating
units, comprising one subsidiary in the manufacturing segment.

REAETME AERERFHZ
HEEITEKRE-—BE-—REELE
i EFERYEES BN —HHB

NCII
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(19) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The recoverable amount of this unit has been determined based
on value-in-use calculation. In assessing the valuation of the
cash generating unit (“CGU”), the management adopted the
income approach. That calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period, and a discount rate of 15.78%. This unit’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a
pretax 2% growth rate, which represents the long-term inflation
rate in the PRC. No impairment loss has been recognised
during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 as directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the recoverable amount
was higher than the carrying amount.

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, management of
the Group determines that there is no impairment on this
segment.

(20) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(@ Investments in convertible bonds

On 28 July 2014, the Group completed the disposal of
51% equity interest in Smart Ascent Limited and received
consideration with fair value of HK$435,193,000
comprising (i) cash payment of HK$65,000,000; and (i)
convertible bonds issued by Innovative Pharmaceutical
Biotech Limited (“Innovative Pharm”) on 28 July 2014 with
principal amount of HK$715,000,000 (the “Innovative
Pharm Bonds”) and fair value of HK$370,193,000.

The Innovative Pharm Bonds bear interest at 3.5% per
annum payable in arrears annually with maturity on the 28
July 2021 (the “Original Maturity Date”). The Group has
the right to convert the Innovative Pharm Bonds into
shares of Innovative Pharm at any time from the date of
issue to the maturity date at an initial conversion price of
HK$2.5 per share.

(19) B EE @)

ZEBEMZAKRBESENIREFERAEE
ATEmEE RABZRREeEAEM
((ReEEBEM])HER BEEHR
RIWAE - ZtBEFERANBESRE
AT ERCEBES E/ R F TG
JEHE - BRIA R B1578% c ZEMN A F
HEMNEBESREA2%HATIE R X
B EREXPEORBBRE - AR
ARREERATRECESNER
S WEBEE-_ZE-_=FR-_E-_
FZRA=+T—HILFEIWEERRE
E18 -

BHE_Z_=FKk-_FT-__F=H=
+—BLEFE AEEEEEEL M
DRI EFE o

o) ZAFEHFABRZZTH
BE

(@ TBERESFKRE

R-ZE—MWFLA=-+NH"
AEBZKIEEEEBRRQA
Z51%ME - WIWER A FE A
435,193,000 T2 R{E  EF 8
() IR & 1 365,000,000 T :
iR =—ZF—mF+ A=+ N
HHEMBEREDREBEAER
REl((EMEZE])BETEASEAL
715,000,000/ JT 2 A # i& & &
([EMmB®EES]) mMAFES
370,193,000 7T °

JEfin B8 B G SR F F EK35%5F
B EAREFHEBEMN EME
BELSEHEAE T - —F+ A
Z+NRAUTRIHEE] - AEH
BRRETEHZRESHA ZFW
I iR 1% S A B8 R (B S5 IR Y P A AR
EER2SEITEIR BEME &
B& 15 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n-ﬁ

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 H#EZ —Z—=

(20) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@)

Investments in convertible bonds (Continued)

On 26 July 2019, the Company and Innovative Pharm
entered into a deed of amendments to amend the terms
and conditions of the Innovative Pharm Bonds (the “First
Amendment Deed”). Pursuant to the First Amendment
Deed, (i) the interest payment dates for the interest of 3.5%
originally due on 28 July 2019 and 2020 were extended
to 28 July 2021 (the “Original Maturity Date”); and (i) the
additional interest of HK$11,261,250, representing 15%
per annum on the annual interest multiply by three, was
charged for the extension for payment of interests stated
in () and shall be paid on 28 July 2021. The First
Amendment Deed was effective on 28 October 2019.
Details of the amendments of the terms and conditions of
Innovative Pharm Bonds were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 July 2019 and 28 October
2019 and the circular dated 16 September 2019.

On 12 May 2021, the Company and Innovative Pharm
entered into, amongst others, the deed of amendment to
amend and vary terms and conditions in the Innovative
Pharm Bonds (the “Second Amendment Deed”), as follows:
the Original Maturity Date is extended for 2 years to 28 July
2023 (“First Extended Maturity Date”). The Second
Amendment Deed was effective on 16 August 2021. Details
of the amendments under the Second Amendment Deed
are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 12 May
2021, 30 July 2021 and 16 August 2021 and the circular
dated 14 July 2021.

FZA=1+—BHLEE

(20) 1%
=

(@)

it o>

FEFABEZZERA
1)

W=

ABBRESFRE @)

RZFE—h&FLA=+XB &
N B B CE B8 AR LS R] AR A
1& 3] < Fﬁiﬁﬁmﬂﬁﬁw
HAE—MEBETRIE]D - BRESE
— BT RE ()FI X A35%H
RER_ZE-—NFR_ZE_ZFF
A+ N\BEHNFBELMAA
Btz T -_—F+AA=-+N
El(”? BEB D Ri)Fi)EFT

R B S AE HR B SN UER B B
m%mm%ﬁﬂ%iﬂ%ﬁ%
AEMABERANZ)TER-Z
——FtAZt+NBZAFE -

N

E—NEFTRBER_T—-NF+
AZTN\BEM - EMEEES
YR R R 2 B RT R BB AR

ARRBHA-T-NFLA-+
NAERZZ-AF+HAZtN\HRH
ZRENBRAE-ZE-NFNA
TRBZBH

R-ZZE-_—FRA+=-H &R

AIEEMEET V(AR B8R E
nT%TF J//{{ ET&EE& E\ﬂﬂa%f—%

BHEETHERRIARGHETE =M E
RIRED ARMT : REHA
%L%Wﬁz_fi_itﬁ

_+AHU R £ 2 B H
BD- T1ﬂ¥ﬁm:§:

*ij\ﬂ +TREHE®M B _HmHE
FIRBIETITHEIFBIRNAR
AEMA-_ZE_—SHA+=
A —4FtA=+HK=
E-—FNAT+TAEHNAENUR
AT -_—F+A+MNAEY
S LK o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
%’Awﬁiﬁﬁmni(nﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & EZ -~ —=

(20) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@

Investments in convertible bonds (Continued)

The Innovative Pharm Bonds were classified as non-
current assets because, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Company expected the Innovative
Pharm Bonds to be recovered or settled more than twelve
months after the reporting period. In assessing the
presentation of the Innovative Pharm Bonds as current
and non-current, the directors of the Company have
taken into account the financial position of Innovative
Pharm and the reasonable timing of the settlement of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds, which is generally in line with
expected timeline for commercialisation of the Product,
and Innovative Pharm is expected to improve its financial
position through obtaining of loans from banks, and
equity financing as the capital market is expected to be
less volatile following the uplifting of the pandemic
containment measures against COVID-19, including the
borders reopening of Hong Kong and the PRC, at the
beginning of 2023.

The movements of the Innovative Pharm Bonds are set
out as below:

FZA=1+—HLFE

0B AFEFABZEZER

EE G

(@

H¥

&)

JRERESZRE @

EMEBEERELSAWOERERDE
E WITHRARAREERE
NN B TE B S A B8 BB S5 8 N 3R
i%&+ & A = & W [l 2k 4
HE-EFHEMBEEBESREY A
//\L@J&Q'EI/\L@JEQL Z’K ji%a
EREMBENTBRAREE
EMBEGHFNAERE  mit
HEGSEREZBERBERRER
— B MEBEREREATS 2K
PREESEEE S =F s
37 R KR R B R B
BR(BEEERTEHENBEH)
ik EHREMBEEE2ER
WIRTESERRETRARE
LABRZE BB AR o

EMBEBERZEHEIWT

HK$’000

FAET

At 1 April 2021 EA —ZE-—4FHA—H 466,322

Change in fair value N EEH 168,585
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEBEZZF=H=1T—BK

—E-__FMWA—H 634,907

Change in fair value NEEED 158,623

At 31 March 2023 R-—EBE-_=H=HA=+—H 793,530
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(20) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE (20)Z A FEFABERZZEHE
)

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@ Investments in convertible bonds (Continued)

At 31 March 2023 and 2022, the fair value of the
Innovative Pharm Bonds as a whole is determined by the
directors with reference to the valuation conducted by the
independent qualified valuer and is calculated using the
Binomial Model.

The inputs into the model at the respective dates are as

BE

(@)

4=

/\

:

AR ESFRE @

RZEBEZ=FR=-F=-__F=HA
= t+t—H EMBEEHFER
AT EHEELZB LG AR
BERMEEMNGERETE  WAZIE

NEXFE -

ZEARESEBEHMAB R ARE

follows: mr

2023 2022

—E-= —ZE-=

Stock price (HK$) & B (B T) 0.208 0.149
Conversion price (HK$) BB (BoT) 2.50% 2.50
Discount rate BhIE =& 32.087% 24.707%
Risk free rate (note a) = @ b A R (f 5T a) 2.783% 1.117%
Expected volatility (note b) 8 HA O 0@ (Bt 3 b) 22.062% 27.261%
Expected dividend yield (note c) TEEAR B & (K 5Ece) 0% 0%
Option life (Years) ERRE HAMR (FF HA) 0.326 1.326
Notes: M &
(@) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@) ZNMNEDN2EEBRFESENLE

government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

(b) Based on the historical price volatility of Innovative Pharm for the
period from 11 December 2020 up to the end of the reporting
date.

(c) Estimated with reference to the historical dividend payout of

Innovative Pharm.

HFREERARZESTETE -

b EREMBEN_T_TF+-
At—REEHRSRHAERLS
M2 BEEBRESL -

© 2ZS2ZEMBEZBEREBIRM
fli&t e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 5 B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(20) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(b)

(20) 1%
=

AFEFTAEZZERA
-X¢ )

Short-term investment b) BHAKRE
2023 2022
—E2-= —_EF_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Bank structured product, at fair value RITHEBUEER  BATE
(note) (Bt &) 1,754 1,905

Note: The amount represents short-term highly liquid investments placed
in a PRC state-owned financial institution, which are readily
convertible to cash. These investments are all denominated in
Renminbi with non-determinable return rate. The fair value of these
investments is based on estimated return of 2.2% (2022: 2.3%),
and the credit quality of these investments can be assessed by
reference to historical information or external credit ratings, if any.
As at 31 March 2023, none of these investments is either past due
or impaired and the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as
at that date is the carrying value of these investments.

The fair value of these investments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is available and rely as
little as possible on entity specific estimates.

Wk R EEERR —HPERES
B EY A AR ER SRS 2B
HeEnBERE ZEREET
HUAREE MEDHRETY
BROEE 2EREZATE
ThiR2.2% (Z B % : 2.3%) 2
HEtEREBE  MZELEZ
FEERAKELEBRTERIIN
HEEFR(NE) TG R
—E-=F=ZA=+—0 &%
WERBPTRRE MAEE
RZBFERZE=SEERRA
ZEREZEEME-

ZEREVHHEERMBESR
MERFEDNERBETEZE
E-REEABEEMSRER -
ZEMESTZEZREEREEHR
BYEARERDKEER R
E e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n'ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

SRR ERREACE )

(21) FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

166

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

21) &~
2

K
I
mnlk

-

2023 2022
—E-= = —

HK$°000 HK$’000

TERT TAET

Unlisted investment fund (note)

FLEmRERES ()

Unlisted investment fund was measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). Under HKFRS 9,
these investments are all classified as financial assets measured
at FVTOCI. Subsequent changes in fair value of these
investments are recognised in FVTOCI reserve and the
cumulative gains or loss on disposals are recognised in retained
earnings.

The unlisted investment fund was denominated in HK$ while
the unlisted shares were denominated at Renminbi (‘RMB”).

Note:

On 11 May and 2 June 2017, Extrawell Enterprises Limited (the “Subscriber”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into subscription
agreements with KKC Capital SPC, a segregated portfolio company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands (the “Fund”), and pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed
to subscribe for 50,000 and 30,000 participating shares in the Fund attributable
to the segregated portfolio at aggregate consideration of HK$50,000,000 and
HK$30,000,000 respectively on the respective dates (the “Investments”). The total
cost of the Investments of HK$80,000,000 was funded by the internal resources
of the Group.

Since the financial year ended 31 March 2019 up to present, the Fund had net
liabilities. Therefore, the fair value of the Fund remains zero.

FLETREESERATEFAEM
2HERE(RAFEFAEMEZEYK
s E - REFEMBRSE LS
Ot ZEREHWAOBAREAFE
FAARMEEKRAZEMEE - ZF
REZAFEEREHNRAFER
ARfEEESRETRER MEE
EEZ R RAENEERRE RN F
EE it ©

FLETREESUWELAE ML
mEROUAARETAREFE-

B 5 -

R-ZE—+FRA+—HBHENNAZ-H 11
CEBRAATRBES]D) (K2R ZHEE %ﬁ
M A 7)) B2 KKC Capital SPC(— IR B 2 Bt &
Ak 2B EBRE AR ([ZEEDA]
YREWRE B REFERERSAHS
RRBZES 2B IIRAHES 250,000 &
30,000 2 2% {5 + 42 K {& 5 5l A50,000,000
75 7T 530,000,000 L ([3Z EH/ &) - i F %
& R R4 $£80,000,000/8 7T © AN £ E R A
TREEAS o

BEE-_ZT-NF=ZA=Z1+-HALHBRFE
25 ZESESREFE Bl ZELHN
RPEEFHT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(22) INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

(22N —BBE AT 2R

2023 2022
—EBE-=F —_E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT

Cost of investment in an unlisted R—HEELEMEER
associate (note) 245 B A (B 5E) 337,000 337,000

Share of post-acquisition losses and BRI R EER X

other comprehensive expense HEir2mEMAX (20,484) (16,635)
316,516 320,365

Note: The amount represents the fair value as at 28 July 2014 of the 49% equity
interest in Smart Ascent Limited as retained by the Group upon completion
of the disposal of 51% equity interest in Smart Ascent Limited on 28 July
2014.

The Group’s associate, Smart Ascent Limited (“Smart Ascent”)
is a private company with no quoted market price available for
its shares. The major asset held by Smart Ascent and its
subsidiaries (the “Smart Ascent Group”) is the intangible asset
in relation to an in-process research and development project
(“In-process R&D”) involving an oral insulin product (“Product”).
As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has engaged an
independent qualified valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited to
conduct a valuation of the fair value of the interest in the
associate for impairment assessment.

The asset-based approach was adopted in the valuation of the
fair value of the Group’s interest in the associate. In doing so,
various assumptions about the cash flow projections of the In-
process R&D and the Product were adopted. These
assumptions include the successful completion of the clinical
trials, obtaining of the regulatory approvals from the relevant
government bodies (in particular, the granting of the certificate
of new medicine and pharmaceutical manufacturing permit for
the Product by China Food and Drug Administration, now
known as National Medical Products Administration of the
PRC), and launching of the Product by the first quarter of 2025.
The recoverable amount of the interest in the associate is
determined based on the Group’s share of the estimated fair
value of the In-process R&D after taking into account the lack of
control discount. Since the recoverable amount is higher than
carrying amount, no impairment loss was made for both years.

M - theW|ER_FT-—OFLA-+N\H
HEEEERDASI%RETKE - &
SEMREELEBERRFA0%ER =
E-WFLtAZ+NRBZRAFE-

AEBzEE AR ELEFR QG ([#
ENAE—HALEQF HERHhLES
SRE - EEREKHBAR(EESE
BBz EELEERBRAETH
2HEBEREBE(ETP2ME]) 2ER
BE E2RSrOREEZER(E
B R-_TE-_ZFR_T-—_F=
A=+—RH A&£BEEZRE—EZB
RERGLEMESHEFEERAQF
MR ERR 2 EE 2 A FEETH
B UFERERE-

RARERBERR 2R Z NP
BEETHERRMNEEL EIBER
hoEAETPIHABRERMZIES
MERAHBZZERR ZFTHBR
BEKDEKRERAR BESAEBR
FEERMLE(LER+T B R Mm%
EEEEARABAREREE
EER)MERREHFEZTERNER
HEEFAB)IER_Z_HFE—F
ER#ELEm RBERRZERD L
A Y B & B Y A AT R I AR A T
BERBRBAREEGEETHZHE L
BERFEEE ARNATKEEES
REREE - M {E F E 5 8L E
SRl

# Bo 3¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(22) INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) (2R —BEHE QR ZE R @

Particulars of the Smart Ascent Group at the end of the HEAESERBERRZFBOT

reporting periods are as follows:

Effective

Place of interest held by

incorporation/ Class of the Group/ Measurement
Name of associate operations shares held  Smart Ascent Principal activities =~ method

A P& & 4 AEE EE
- INCIEE EERE £l FRERE: TEER FEAR
Smart Ascent Hong Kong Ordinary 49%  Investment holding Equity
e BB R REERK P 1
Subsidiaries of Smart Ascent
EEZHE LR
Fosse Bio-Engineering Hong Kong/China Ordinary 51%  Development and Equity

Development Limited commercialisation of
oral insulin products
BEENMIRARRRA B/ HmE R FEMEmtOR  BRE
REREM
BILEMIR(LE)BRAE China Registered 51% Inactive Equity
capital

i i E A LEXK PR 1

Welly Surplus Development Hong Kong Ordinary 51%  Inactive Equity
Limited
mBERARAA £ 8 i EREEK PR 1
Nation Joy Industries Limited British Virgin Islands  Ordinary 100%  Inactive Equity
(“BVI")
EHEXERLA EBELES TR EEEY [
([REBRLES])
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
fn & B 8% SR 3R B BE (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(22) INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) (22N —REEE QT 2R @
The summarised financial information of the associate, adjusted BMENB ZHBENBE(ERAEM
for any differences in accounting policies and a reconciliation to CEAHREEZRFELAR) RRESE
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, BHmANERBDEZEEROT :

are as follows:

2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 284,260 284,260
Current assets mEEE 1,884 5,769
Current liabilities mBAE (52,426) (68,051)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (64,333) (49,583)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR ME 25 (93,469) (98,624)
Non-current assets include the following: FRBEEBRENATIER :
Intangible assets — In-process R&D EBILEE —#1TP 2% 284,260 284,260
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Revenue Iz - —
Loss and total comprehensive expense BEREERIZRAE (12,979) (13,174)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(22) INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) (22N —EEE QAT 2R @
2023 2022
—E-= —=E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FAET
Net assets of the Smart Ascent Group EERBEARGEESE
attributable to owners of Smart Ascent BEFE 75,916 83,771

Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest 7K & B 7 # 4 7 B 4 #E #E 25 71

in Smart Ascent 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in $ SEREEER—MEBE

Smart Ascent as an associate RANZ @2 BREE 37,199 41,048
Adjustment for remeasurement to fair value ¥ 4 £ B & & 2 & R ¥ 14

of the assets of the Smart Ascent Group R ZENTEHE

on initial recognition 279,317 279,317
316,516 320,365
(23) AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/ (23) FE W—REEE ATRIE &
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE T —REBE QT
2023 2022
—_E-= —EF--
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH T FETT
Amount due from an associate — JFE U — B R Rl SRIE —
Smart Ascent (note a) A (MfiEa) 36,245 36,089
Loan to an associate — ERF—HEBEAA —
Smart Ascent (note b & c) # A (Fistb &e) 20,386 14,500
Analysed as: BATES
Current liabilities mEIaE 41,435 36,089
Non-current liabilities FEmBAE 15,196 14,500
56,631 50,589
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
An & B R Y B (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(23) AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, amount due from an associate is
unsecured and interest-free and without fixed repayment term with a
principal amount of HK$41,947,000. The balance was netted off with the
allowance of impairment amounting to HK$5,703,000 (2022: 5,858,000)
as at 31 March 2023. Details of the impairment are set out in note 41(d).

On 27 July 2018, the Company and Innovative Pharm through their
respective wholly-owned subsidiaries as lenders and Smart Ascent as
borrower entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart
Ascent amounting to HK$30 million in total (the “First Loan”), to be
contributed as to 49% i.e. HK$14.7 million by the Group and as to 51% i.e.
HK$15.3 million by the wholly-owned subsidiary of Innovative Pharm,
which would be used to finance the working capital requirements of Smart
Ascent Group for the oral insulin project. The First Loan is unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rate of 5% per annum and has a repayment term
fixed at 60 months after each drawdown of the First Loan.

As the provision of the First Loan was a connected transaction under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules but was made in proportion to the equity
interest of the shareholders in Smart Ascent and on normal commercial
terms, this connected transaction is fully exempted from the reporting,
announcement and shareholders’ approval requirements under Rule
14A.89 of the Listing Rules. Also, the applicable percentage ratios in
respect of this connected transaction are less than 5%, it therefore does
not constitute a discloseable transaction of the Company under Chapter
14 of the Listing Rules.

On 8 March 2022, the Company and Innovative Pharm, through their
respective wholly-owed subsidiaries as lenders and Smart Ascent as
borrower entered into a shareholders’ loan agreement for a loan to Smart
Ascent amounting to HK$12 million in total (the “Second Loan”), to be
contributed as to 49% i.e. HK$5.88 million by the Group and as to i.e.
HK$6.12 million by the wholly-owned subsidiary of Innovative Pharm,
which would be used to finance to working capital requirements of Smart
Ascent Group for the oral insulin project. The Second Loan is unsecured,
interest bearing at fixed rate of 5% per annum and has a repayment term
fixed at 60 months after each drawdown of the Second Loan. The
provision of the Second Loan constitutes a discloseable transaction under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2023, Smart Ascent had drawn down HK$42 million (2022:
HK$30 million) of the First Loan and Second Loan, and the balance as at
31 March 2023 represented the Group’s 49% (2022: 49%) contribution to
the First Loan and Second Loan and the interest receivables.

(23) FE Ut — & B
a%%

BI5E

(@
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=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

T
1l
al| ol

et

5/ &

T

BHE

I

%:%::&:%::¢1ﬂ1+
—B RER—MEBEQARREAREE
- ﬁ%&ﬁili@?ﬂﬂ AEEA
419470008 T - R -=F=A=
+— 8 - B B84 &R 1R B 55,703,000
BL(ZF = =4 :5858000/8 T) ¥
8 o BEFBHNWE41) -

RZZE-NFtAZ++tH XRAK
EMBEERARERBZIEAMBR

RIERBER ) BEE(EABRA)E]
VMR ERERBE AR EBEMEE
}Ef,\, 1 %8 430,000,000 T 2 BER ([

—REFK]) - HF49% (B114,700,0007
JL) AL E A 0 51% (B115,300,000
BT BAEMBEZ2ENBAGD
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BEREMTLAEES - F—XEXRA
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BRNERIREIRE —XE X% A RN
Ef-

—IRE G B £ TR B 14A
BRT BB  MREERNELRR
FAZRmL O RHELIZ—REER
RIS WUTRAER S 2 E A R E

SFEMBAE14A89EB T EHR - AE
MRS EZIRE - B AR BB

HREX S 2 EBRAA DL ERENRE%
MABRETRIFUEERT ZAR
AATHRERS -

RZEZ—_F=ZANH  ARAXEM
EHFRAFESACEENBE AR (F
BEZRF) BEE(EREBRA)FILR
REFRME NABHEREELRER
%E#nzoooooo,%mz,%m(f%LMQ
1) - H49% (EN5,880,0005# 7T ) B Z<
& E 1 & © 6,120,000 JT M 4B fi 5 % 2
2EMBRARILE BANRAELEEE
ZORESZHEEREMFEEEES -
FZREFRAEIER EEEFERE
5%§+%&;§fxﬁ,ﬁliﬁ>mﬂx%:

BEHREE0EANEE - F-RERD
ﬂfﬁxﬁﬁﬁszmfim%ﬁﬂufﬁmﬁ@i?z
/,\%E']&&%X%

RZZE-=ZF=ZA=Z+—8" #4%
E}EHX%_IAE/TA&% \//(%/T/\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(23) AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE/ 23) FEl — & A TRE/ E
LOAN TO AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) RF—EBE DT @
Notes: (Continued) B EE - (B8)
©  (Continued) © (&
As at 31 March 2023, loan to an associate is unsecured, carried interest R_BE-_=F=ZA=Z+—H EXRF—
at 5% per annum, and repayable in 60 months after each drawdown. HEEE QNR AEKE - RFERE5%:T
During the reporting period, interest income of HK$860,000 (2022: B WEAREGRIRIRZE0EANERE -
HK$735,000) is credited to profit or loss. The balance was netted off with R EHA - A S U A860,000/ T (=
the allowance of impairment amounting to HK$3,207,000 (2022: T~ —F:735000/8 L) BET A o
HK$2,353,000) as at 31 March 2023. Details of the impairment are set out R-ZEBE-_=%F=A=+—H @&
in note 41(d). 4 £8 R0 B 98 3,207,000 T (ZE ==
2,353,000 70) ¥ iE o BEFEH
M EE41(d) ©
(24) INVENTORIES (249 &
2023 2022
—E-= -
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET AT
Raw material R A 1,571 2,317
Work-in-progress EEG 820 979
Finished goods RUAK oh 627 5,169
3,018 8,465
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 5 B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & Z — =

(25) TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

——F=A=t+—HIFE

=

() EZEURERREVREE

2023 2022
—E-=F S

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FETT

Bills receivables FEUE 7 304 635

Trade receivables 5 EIWNER R 45,701 51,009
Less: Provision for impairment loss on BB SRR TR EE IR HE

trade receivables (40,208) (43,831)

5,797 7,813

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly based
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The customers are generally given
a credit period for 120 to 180 days, extending up to one year
for some major customers.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of
provision of impairment loss on trade receivables), based on

Hl-maETE

AEBHEXFPCEZERETERAR
M REP—REEEENSR —
BEBEAT BRFEUJERSAEHI1208E
180H 2~
HERLZ—F-

2EPAE

BORWEREBKZE(NRE S
FEMRFREBRER ENER

invoice dates are as follows: BRZERER DT ¢

2023 2022
—_E-= —_EF_-

HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHETT
Within 90 days 90H A 2,987 4,161
91 to 180 days 912 180H 1,048 1,980
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 1,762 1,672
5,797 7,813
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(25) TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment on collective
basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of
receivables could include the Group’s past experience of
collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit period of 120
to 180 days, observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$1,762,000 (2022:

HK$1,672,000) which are past due as at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.

Details of the impairment are set out in note 41(d).

(26) DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

(25)EZEWERF K EWEE@m

EORKREFRERBEEELETRE
e BRRIBRAES 2 FEBRERE
AEEASEZBEERRLE A6
NIEBEREBAFHEEHI20E
180 B 2 R B pn - A K B2 & W 5K IR
BEA Rz 2B &R AR
R

AEBZEFREBEREHRTERE
4 #£1,762,000% T( =& = = F:
1,672,000/ L) 2 FE W BR SR A & H
@ MASE SR ELR
EEERE-

BAE R B M FE41(d) ©

(6) 1€ - FARERHEMEW

RECEIVABLES FIE

2023 2022
—E-= —ET-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Deposits by 751 737
Other receivables H b E Uk 1B 260 190
Prepayments B R IE 2,538 1,397
Trade deposit g5 %e 906 4,167
4,455 6,491

(27) PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a bank to
secure short-term banking facilities granted to the Group and
are therefore classified as current assets. The pledged bank
deposits carry variable interest rates ranging from 1.1% to 4.7%
(2022: 0.1% to 0.4%) per annum.

RNEEBRITER

BRI ERIE R TIRITUES
AEBERZERBIREBEEZE
RZEFR BOoBEBRHEE - B K&
WRTEREFHHNENTEBF11%
BA4T%(ZF = = % :01%£0.4%)
ETE e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(28) CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Bank balances carry variable interest rates of 0.001% to 4.95%
(2022: 0.001% to 2.1%) per annum. Conversion of RMB into
foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

(28) 3 & K R 1T & &R

RITHEBRIZZHFEETF0001%E
495%(—F = — % :0.001%%E2.1%)
TR °}\Eﬁ5ﬁ:?ﬁ37|\bﬁ53§k:\?¢
ZINEE IR ARG A N S TE - EIE K
EEERE -

RehkBReFEBERZEREEDRIA
TE®RE:

2023 2022

—E-= —EFE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Euros (“Euro”) BT ([BoT ) 2,488 2,776
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”) B (Tl 11,187 21,430
RMB AR 31,020 24,591
United States dollars (“US$”) ESUEF A 57,706 63,084
102,401 111,881

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and the normal trade
credit terms granted to the Group range from two to three
months from the date of invoice.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables, based on

(29) TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

REZENERREMNRE

EHRNERR IR

AN £ E &

Bz RESZEEENTEHZAHE

AAME=MEA -

REZZAHZE FHEN KRR REN

invoice dates are as follows: ERZERBROWTHOT

2023 2022
—s=-= —E-—

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET T&ET
Within 90 days 90H I 4,568 3,239
91 to 180 days 912 180H 653 2,341
181 to 365 days 1812 365H 432 58
1 to 2 years 15224 494 276
Over 2 years 2L F 487 542
6,634 6,456
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(30) ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND (S0)FEIREH HMEMNRER
CONTRACT LIABILITIES BHNAEE
2023 2022
—_2g=-= = _
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Accruals (note a) TERE R (Kista) 10,083 12,638
Other payables (note b) H A A< 3R E (B 5t b) 15,938 18,703
Contract liabilities a48aE 6,496 6,737
32,517 38,078
Notes: B R -
(@  Mainly included marketing and promotion expenses of about @ FEBELSHIHEESMRL7,792,000
HK$7,792,000 (2022: HK$9,044,000). BT (ZZF Z =4 : 9,044,000 7T) °
(o) Mainly included payables for acquisition of property, plant and equipment (o) TEBRHEWBEDE BMELEED

176

of about HK$2,830,000 (2022: HK$3,145,000), payables for marketing
and promotion expenses of about HK$4,255,000 (2022: HK$6,601,000)
and other tax payables of about HK$7,149,000 (2022: HK$4,844,000).

The following table shows the amount of the revenue
recognised for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

TRITEBEZZE_=FR

JfE 1~ 3% T 492,830,00058 (=& = —
4 3,145,000 70) ~ FE & 8 K E
B 494,255,000/ L( =T = = F:
6,601,000/ 7T ) & H i & o B 4
7,149,0007%8 7t (=& = = F : 4,844,000
ETT) °

F-A=+-RALFEERLELEE
AHEEEHNKESE -

2023 2022
—E2-= —E-
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue recognised that was included in =~ R A —HMA/A S L B ELEH
the contract liabilities balance at 1 April 2B R
— Sales of pharmaceutical products — HEBR 3,446 5,033
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NOTES

TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

0BHE_T_=F=-A=+t—HLFE

(31) LEASE LIABILITIES BHEEEE
2023 2022
—EC-=H =R = ks
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum  minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments  payments
BEHAE BREMEAE KEHE KEHE
% f[REE 3k R E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FHET FAT FAET
Not later than one year TER—F 1,610 1,316 2,244 2,194
Later than one year and not later B —F & T
than two years AR F 1,567 1,375 44 39
Later than two years and not later 3 7 & F B B
than five years RAF 1,995 1,916 — —
5,172 4,607 2,288 2,233
Future financial charges R 2R B 75 B 32 (565) (55)
Present value of lease liability HEBERE 4,607 2,233
Amount due for settlement — F R B ER 45
within one year (shown under Z A (AR
current liabilities) BERETZ) (1,316) (2,194)
Amount due for settlement after R—FREPEHE
one year ZFRIE 3,291 39
For both years, the Group leases office premises for operation MEEE  NEBMES NS E
and these lease liabilities were measured at the present value of T ’,g, EoSHEREBREASNTY
the lease payment that are not yet paid. All leases are entered HENZBEESE WEAEEMRAHE
at fixed prices for both years. AR EEBIRFI L °
Lease liabilities of the Company are denominated in functional RNKARIEEBRBEUAEBEBETENIN
currencies of the Group entities. EHE(E o
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to ERARHEEGBENMETFHIESER

lease liabilities ranged from 4.35% to 7.949% (2022: 4.35% to

6.25%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(32) DEFERRED TAX ASSETS BEEHBEEE
Details of the deferred tax assets recognised and movements NREERBAFEBRZELEHREBESE
during the current and prior years are as follows: ENBEEFENOT
Decelerated tax
depreciation
MR EITE
HK$’000
AT
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, R-ZE-_—FWMA—H —ZT--_F=A=+—H8"
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —E - FWPA—BRZFE=F=ZA=+—H 69

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had unused tax losses arising
in Hong Kong of approximately HK$46,277,000 (2022:
HK$46,277,000) available to offset against future taxable
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Tax losses arising in
Hong Kong may be carried forward indefinitely.

(33) CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 16 July 2013, the Company issued zero-coupon convertible
bonds (the “Convertible Bonds”) with principal amount in
aggregate of HK$641,300,000 at the conversion price of
HK$0.6413 for each new share of the Company, which, if fully
converted, is equivalent to 1,000,000,000 new shares of the
Company to Mr. Ong Cheng Heang (“Mr. Ong”) and Dr. Mao
Yumin (“Dr. Mao”), each of principal amount of
HK$320,650,000. Mr. Ong was the non-controlling shareholder
and director of Smart Ascent prior to the completion of
acquisition of the remaining 49% interest in Smart Ascent by
the Group and Dr. Mao was a director of the Company until 5
December 2013, and is a shareholder of the Company.

The Convertible Bonds are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.6413 per ordinary share on or before
the seventh business day prior to the maturity date of 16 July
20833, subject to anti-dilutive clauses.

R_ZTE-_ZF=ZA=+—8 A4&H
PR BE A 30 ] (9K 8 oK PR FE SR B A
Fl 2 AR B) A BT 518 & 946,277,000
BT (ZF = =4 146,277,000 70) °
B 7R SR A N A 78R I 4 B SRR
EFREEE - EA%?,%F‘EZ%WEHE
AR 2R 4

(33) T & X & 35

RZE—=F+A+8 AAaa%
1778 4 48 %8641,300,00078 7T 2 Z B 7]
BRES(ATBRRES]D BREA
FRARNEFHBMD0.6413E L RNE
4 1% F8 & 7 1,000,000,000 A% 4K A
ARG AT E S D BB IT T
Ong Cheng Heang %t & ([Ong st 4 1) &
EMRBLI(EEL])  SADFE
¥ 17 N 4 $8.320,650,00078 7T © A AN £
[ 52 B Uk B 3 A 2 T #249% 4 &5 A
Ongc £ BiEE 2 EERRRERE
E MEBLEZREIARBDESTES
—ET-=—F+-AFB AL TAK
DR -

EHRFAEARNEEZREH
FEA+TABRMFECEZERLZH
IR E = Ik E B A 0.641378 T % Al
BEREFABABRNRT 2 EBE - H
BEREEGRTAR -

H-Z==

178 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED #RBEZEXIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(33) CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The Convertible Bonds are issued in HK$. The fair value of the
liability component of the Convertible Bonds was
HK$20,712,000, which had been determined by the discounted
cashflow approach using the prevailing market interest rate of
similar non-convertible bonds and taking into account the credit
risk of the Company. The effective interest rate is 18.72%. The
fair value of the conversion option of HK$569,288,000 classified
as equity component for the Convertible Bonds was calculated
using the Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as

(33) AT # AR 18 55 (a0

ARREFTIAB LB 4T - AR E
#% B 5D 2~ F1E E20,712,000%8

CHEDDERBBEUFETBRRES 2R
ﬁﬁ%ﬂm’z%%ﬁw A2 EER
ﬁj;/(aﬁfﬁfﬁiumg;fﬁzﬁ"gwﬁj
B1872% - DA MRESEE T
o2 TR 2~ F{E569,288,0007% 7T
TDERAZEAEXGFHE ZEX &
ASHEHT :

follows:

Date of issuance
16 July 2013
BITHE
—E-=ftA+xH
Stock price (HK$) B & (&) 0.59
Exercise price (HK$) TEEE BT 0.6413
Discount rate A 35, & 18.72%
Risk free rate (note a) 2 b F =& (Fff 52 a) 2.63%
Expected volatility (note b) 78 HA R 18 (P 5 b) 66.55%
Expected dividend yield (note c) 7B HA R B ek & (ff sEc) 0%
Option life (Years) HiREBAR (F H) 20

Notes: PR
(a) The rate was determined with reference to the yields of Hong Kong (@) ZNEDR2EFEBEBRFES LEHFR

government bonds and treasury bills as at the date of valuation.

HEARZESREE -

(o)  Based on the historical price volatility of the Company for the period from (o) ﬁ)‘ﬁf\zls ARZZEZTREFE+_RA=+
24 December 2009 up to the date of issuance of the Convertible Bonds. EXGl }ﬁ Hx1 HFEBRTHEHBE 2B
Efﬁ%& 815 e
(@] Estimated with reference to the historical dividend payout of the Company. (© ZERNABHBERBEIRNMSMIEET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(33) CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued) (33) 2 1R 1B & (0

Movements of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds

AmkEFBEESD 2 B EHT

are set out below: m
Principal
amount Carrying
(note) amount
VN X
(P EE) REE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T FET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZZE-_—FWMA—H 577,170 69,980
Interest charge BT — 13,094
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-EB-—F=A=+—8BR&
ZEZZFMA—H 577,170 83,074
Interest charge FESH — 15,543
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE-_=%F=HA=+—H 577,170 98,617

Note: At the date of issuance, the principal amount of the Convertible Bonds

M- mETRY JTRREFZASER

was HK$641,300,000, and thereafter the following events have taken
place:

On 5 August 2013, the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$64,130,000 was converted into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.6413 per ordinary share.

On 25 October 2013, 24 April 2014, 30 August 2014, 31 December 2014
and 30 April 2015, the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of
HK$320,650,000, HK$64,130,000, HK$64,130,000, HK$64,130,000 and
HK$64,130,000 were acquired by Innovative Pharm from Dr. Mao (as
defined in note 38) respectively.

On 8 October 2019, Innovative Pharm disposed of the Convertible Bonds
to Dr. Mao.

On 23 December 2019, Dr. Mao disposed of the Convertible Bonds to
United Gene International Holdings Group Limited, in which each Dr. Mao
and Dr. Xie Yi indirectly holds 33% of interests.

641,300,000 7T+ 1M & & % & T 7
BIF :

R—_ZE—=ZFNARB A&8EA
64,130,000 ;L 2 A AR EHE R B
100,000,000f& A~ A 7] & @Ak - R E A
T EBRR0.6413E T ©

R—ZE—=F+A=_+5H8"

fmimﬂ +@E -z P_TIEJ\
A=+8" —mFE+=ZRAR=+—
El& = — ﬁimﬂ +HBAeHE
4 Bl /320,650,000 JT * 64,130,000
JL * 64,130,000/ 7T * 64,130,000 7T &
64,130,000 7T 2 A MR (E % B B EM
BEMEFEIHE (TR EMES) -

RZZ-hE+ANR EMEERE
HEHERBRRES -

RZT—AF+=—A=+=A" £1§
1 1A United Gene International Holdings
Group Limited it} & A] ¥ ik & &5 ™M
EFLIRABE LI EEESR
%N B133% R o
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(34) DEFERRED INCOME ON GOVERNMENT

GRANTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

The amount represented receipt of grants by a subsidiary from
local government authority in the PRC. The movements in

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

(34) B K %8 B -2 B FE WL A

BERAREE-—RHHNBARATREEH
B #B PIREBR 2 46 B » BRI 8 B 2 IR

deferred income on government grants are as follows: UG A BT -
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_=E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
At 1 April RIWA—H 5,132 5,076
Recognised in profit or loss (note) RiE =R (M F) (123) (128)
Exchange realignment T 5 (509) 184
At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,500 5,132
Analysed as: DT A
Current liabilities mEaE 118 131
Non-current liabilities ErREEaE 4,382 5,001
4,500 5,132
Note: Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included Wiz - EEWE - HERKHZE T BRFAEE A

in non-current liabilities as deferred income on government grants and are
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

FE 7 B) B 1R 5 1F BUR # B 2 3 FE IR A
THREBEE2ERFHANRERE

comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of HAGZEBENEMEEKER -
the related assets.
(35) SHARE CAPITAL (35) B 2=
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
Authorised: JEE
20,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 20,000,000,000 /&
HK$0.01 each FREEOIE Lz ERmE 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: B#EITREE -
2,390,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,390,000,000 %
HK$0.01 each FREmEOIB Lz EBR 23,900 23,900
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

nj‘

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

=F=ZA=t—HILFE

(36) HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF (36) R A T B IS AR R &
FINANCIAL POSITION
2023 2022
—E=-= —F-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 3E FHET BT
Non-current assets kREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries — unlisted FW%QTZ%\—#Lm 39 629,927 629,927
Amounts due from subsidiaries JFE WL B B A B 508 329,740 369,345
959,667 999,272
Current assets RBEE
Deposits, prepayments and other 24 - 8 718 K& H fib fE g 5718
receivables 560 324
Cash and bank balances REe MRITH R 49,664 43,573
50,224 43,897
Total assets HMEE 1,009,891 1,043,169
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables TEIR B R R H b BT 5RIE 1,022 910
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTBT B A alRIE 107,539 135,684
108,561 136,594
Non-current liability EREBEE
Convertible bonds AmkES 33 98,617 83,074
Total liabilities BwE R 207,178 219,668
Equity R
Share capital A% 2 35 23,900 23,900
Reserves 15 37 778,813 799,601
802,713 823,501
Total liabilities and equity BEBERES 1,009,891 1,043,169

On behalf of the Board on 29 June 2023

Xie Yi

ETES
Director

EF

REEFEN T -_=ZF~A=+

A

Wong Sau Kuen

EFHE
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(37) RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves are as set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity in these
consolidated financial statements. The natures and purposes of
reserves within equity are as follows:

(@ The share premium account represents the amount
subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

(b)  In accordance with the relevant regulations in the PRC, all
of the Company’s subsidiaries registered in the PRC are
required to transfer part of their profit after tax to the
capital reserve. Subject to certain restrictions set out in
the relevant PRC regulations and the articles of
association of these PRC subsidiaries, the capital reserve
may be used to offset losses or for capitalisation as paid-
up capital.

(c) The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the share capital
of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 1999, over the nominal value of the
share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof.

(d) Foreign currency translation reserve represents gains/
losses arising on retranslating the net assets/liabilities of
foreign operations into presentation currency.

(e)  Convertible bonds equity reserve represents the amount
allocated to the equity component of convertible bonds
issued by the Company recognised in accordance with
the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds in
note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

U} FVTOCI reserve represents fair value reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9 that
are held at the end of the reporting period.

(37) & &

rEE

AEEFRBZEBHFRHINZEFR
EUMBBMRIGAEZEHRA - &
sAFEIEERBEONNT

@ KRN EERERBRASEBD
E{E.25KH

b)) RETEABEL ARBET
PR N2 E A RER
HEBBRDR S F S EEE A
e BENREA AEREREL
BEERCASBREAN AR
BB BRI AT ELE T IR B &%
EhEMBAREGERMAZ
B -

© AEBZBABHRAREBEASKHE
R—NANFETEAMKE
MEBARBRAZEEBBARF
ERXBABRZEBETRAREZ
EE -

(O EXFEEERBIEBZEES
BEFEENRELZINNEEM
EEz W EE -

€ FAIMEESFREDFEBERERS
B 7% R MY 5E4 R BL AT IR AR (F 5
PR @St RRER 2 AR 7]
BBk ESEDR D PTED
Fo 2 5IR -

f BAFEFARMCEEREHE
BERRBERREARERE
RS ENEIRBEERER
FEFARMEERE 2 BRAER
BRFEZRAEHFENRF
Eféfm e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(37) RESERVES (Continued) (37) f& & (@)
The Company b /NI
Convertible
Share Contributed bonds equity Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
AR ES
BRHEE BARER EE#E REEF @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FAET FAET FAET TFTHET TER
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—FMWA—H 191,738 64,636 512,359 50,397 819,130
Loss for the year ARF[E Ei8 — — —  (19,529) (19,529)
At 31 March2022 A"—ZE-—_F=A=+—H
and 1 April2022 K _-_ZF -4/ 7 —H 191,738 64,636 512,359 30,868 799,601
Loss for the year R4 E [§5 18 — — —  (20,788) (20,788)
At 31 March2023 R—_ZE-_=F=A=+—H 191,738 64,636 512,359 10,080 778,813
(38) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (38) 8 Bk AR5
(@) save as the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere (@ BGAUBEREREMIBD AL
in the consolidated financial statements, the Group has G REGI  REBEBDRF
entered into the following transactions with related parties ERFTZATEE RS :
during the year:
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —_=E_—
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET FAET
(i) Consultancy fee expense paid to (ERNEEE(ERERE)
Dr. Mao, a shareholder of BB
the Company 663 663
(i) Loan interest income receivable from (i) & U 7k B — A B% & A R B 5k
loan to an associate ZERF B WA 860 735
(o) Compensation of key management b) EEEHEE 2 IR

The remuneration of key management for the year are set
out in note 11.

AERETEEREABZHEH

A EERRIE
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(39) INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

(B9) R B~ E 2

Place of incorporation/  Registered/issued and

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting right

Name registration/operation  fully paid share capital  held by the Company  Principal activities
HEMRY EES af/ERTR RAABENAERRER
a1 BE2 BRRA RRERLH TEEHR
2023 2022
—EZ=ZE ZE-C
Directly held
EERE
Extrawell (BVI) Limited BVI US$10,000 100% 100% Investment holding
ordinary shares
REREUHS 10,000% 7T & B R REZR
Jilin Extrawell Changbaishan China RMB33,000,000 100% 100% Development, manufacture and
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. ("JECP”) registered capital sales of pharmaceutical
(note a) products
EMBEROLEEERDA HE AR #33,000,0007T M HERHEER
(TR (Mita) AMER
Indirectly held
BERE
Extrawell Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$20 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding and
HK$1,000,000 property investment
non-voting deferred shares
BELEERAA Bk 0B TLERR REZREMERE
1,000,0007% 7T
ERFRELERD
Extrawell Pharmaceutical (HK) Limited Hong Kong HKS$2 ordinary shares 100% 100% Provision of agency services
BREX(FB)ERAA Bk 2BTEBR REKBRY
South Asia Pharmaceutical (China) Malaysia US$1 ordinary share 100% 100% Marketing and distribution of
Limited pharmaceutical products
FRADR 1ETEBK EERDHER
Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical China RMB50,000,000 73% 73% Development, manufacture and
Co., Ltd. (“CEP") (note b) registered capital sales of pharmaceutical
products
RERBEXRNAERA M AR #50,000,0007 HE HERHEER
(TRERE MW&M AMER
Best-Bio Developments Limited BVI/China US$1 ordinary share 100% 100% Investment holding
KBRAHS/HE 1ETEBR REER
Right & Rise Limited BVI/China US$50,000 100% 100% Holding of gene invention rights
ordinary share and investment holding
RERLHS/TH 50,000% 7T % i % FREERERERRERR
Notes: M 5

(a) JECP is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
operating period of 15 years commencing from 22 April 1999. JECP has
renewed its operating period up to 22 April 2024.

(b) CEP is a joint stock limited company established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect
the financial results of the year or form a substantial portion of

the net assets of the Group.

@ EMNEBEEIR

FEKTZIEEE D

¥ Egefsa - NANANFOAZ-+
“REFISF -EMIBECEHELE
HE"Z-_MEMA-_+-A-

) EBHBEDR
AR

ERMAINIZAR

SR BIRSL Z B AR

AIMB AR RARA

EERRIBERELAFRERBEEANX

BRAKREEEFEEANTD

NGI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(39) INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (39) FA B I A B 2 1 2= ()
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the REE RS EE N (] B 8% 4 b
end of the year or any time during the year. BRARBTERNEBES -
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries TRIWRAEEHEFERNEERER
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests: ZHEEENBRRIZFHEE
Place/country of Proportion of ownership
registration/ interests/voting rights
incorporation/ held by non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary operations interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
R/ 2AMmAL/ FERER R PEREFER
WEARE®E LEzhs /AR FraRER REELH BE 2B RitFERER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

—E-=E ZZE--fF ZE-=HF —T--F —B-=fF —ZE--fF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FAEL TER TET

CEP PRC 27% 27% 508 503 (137) (714)
RERE h
Individually immaterial subsidiary

with non-controlling interests - — (15) (1)

BEFEREG ZENTEAME AR

508 503 (152) (729)

Summarised financial information in respect of CEP is set out ERAREREZHEERBESY

below. The summarised financial information below represents Te THHBERBEAEBRARNR T
amounts before intragroup eliminations. BRI 2 & %8

CEP RERBE
2023 2022
—E-= g

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER FET

Current assets TREEE 41,056 43,788

Non-current assets IEREEE 132,036 146,478

Current liabilities mE ARG (162,341) (180,226)

Non-current liabilities FRBEE (4,382) (5,001)

Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABEAR AR 6,506 5,753

Non-controlling interests FE1T AR FE = (137) (714)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
&5 5 B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(39) INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) (39) R Kt B D B 2 #E %= (@)
CEP (Continued) RERE @
2023 2022
—E-= ="
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Revenue Wz 72,573 73,925
Expenses X2 (70,683) (72,055)
Profit for the year KF [Z i 1,890 1,870
Other comprehensive (expense)/income AFEEHME2E(FAR), M
for the year (860) 158
Total comprehensive income for the year — ZR4E & 2 25 44 %8 1,030 2,028
Profit for the year attributable to: IATNALTEEREZ R :
— owners of the Company — RRAIEEA 1,382 1,367
— non-controlling interests — JEIEAR 508 503
1,890 1,870

Total comprehensive income for the year LA T~ A T B(EARFEE 2k

attributable to: 4B
— owners of the Company . N/NEIE Z N 453 1,546
— non-controlling interests — JEIERE RE S 577 482
1,030 2,028
Net cash generated from operating activities 4 & & B E £ 2 IR & 24 501 10,202
Net cash used in investing activities KERDMACREFE (6,048) (9,882)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(40) SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND @) RENES2ERMEERS

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY A ERE
2023 2022
—s=-= —FE-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHERT FET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRAFEFTABRZ B EE
Investments in convertible bonds as a whole 7] # j% (& 5 & & 2 Z E 38 » 793,530 634,907
Short term investment RHEE 1,754 1,905
Financial assets at amortised cost BEBEK AT E R EE
Loan to an associate ERTF—HEBEA ET 20,386 14,500
Amount due from an associate J"&“ W — Bt & N ml R 36,245 36,089
Trade and bills receivables B 5 REINRER L E 1451 £ Hf 5,797 7,813
Deposits and other receivables Hz & K H b fE Y FRIE 1,917 5,094
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER 19,803 21,738
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTH 102,401 111,881
981,833 833,927
2023 2022
—_E-= —_E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities measured at BEBEK AT E BB E
amortised cost
Trade and bills payables B RNERRENER 6,634 6,456
Accruals and other payables ?E REALEMENKIE 26,021 31,341
Convertible bonds Al 1R 5 98,617 83,074
131,272 120,871
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(40) SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(@)

Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

Due to short term nature, the carrying values of financial
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
are approximate to their fair value.

Financial instruments measured at fair value

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— short-term investment
The fair value hierarchy is Level 2.

The fair value of the short-term investment is determined
based on estimated return of 2.2% (2022: 2.3%) and the
credit quality of these investments which can be assessed
by reference to historical information or external credit
ratings, if any, provided by the bank.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
— Investments in convertible bonds
The fair value hierarchy is Level 3.

The fair value of investments in convertible bonds is
determined based on risk-free rate for the life of the
option on the Innovative Pharm Bonds, the exercise price
per conversion share, share price (from observable
market data), expected volatility of the share price, and
expected dividend vyield, of Innovative Pharm, where the
estimated contractual cash flow on the liability component
over the remaining term of the Innovative Pharm Bonds is
discounted at the interest rate appropriate to the riskiness
of the Innovative Pharm Bonds.

(40) & 38
AEEHE i

&

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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WHFRAFEFTEZESH
TH

MREHMEE  RBHKATE
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NFERE
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BAFVEFEZ2EMIA

BAFHEHIAABEZZEZHBE
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NYEBRRE M-

MEREZAFETE22% (=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n-ﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & EZ -~ —=

SRR ERREACE )

(40) SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value

(Continued)

Significant unobservable inputs
Expected Volatility

Expected volatility of the share price of Innovative Pharm
was determined by reference to historical share price of

Innovative Pharm.

In respect of the sensitivity relationship of the fair value
measurement to changes in inputs, an increase/(decrease)
in the expected volatility would result in increase/(decrease)
in fair value measurement that the higher the volatility of
the share price of Innovative Pharm the higher the fair

value.

Discount Rate

The discount rate was the rate adopted to calculate the
present value of the cash flow of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds and was estimated having taken into account the
specific terms and structure of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds including their liquidity. Increase/(decrease) in the
discount rate would result in (decrease)/increase in the fair

value.

Nevertheless, there would be counteracting effect among
the inputs, and in certain extreme situation where the
stock price of Innovative Pharm at 31 March 2023 and
2022 was significantly lower than that of the exercise
price, the conversion option to convert the Innovative
Pharm Bonds into shares of Innovative Pharm would be
expected worthless and the expected volatility would

have minimal effect on the fair value measurement.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for the

years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

F=ZRA=1T—HILFE

(40) 1%
il

—

~

Fhl8lozeMEERS
BEEHSE @

BAFEFEZEMIA
()

BAFTHERGA &5

7E B R g

BB REERRELER
EEMEBEEBEIREETE -

RAFENBEHGARBELD
CHBEBET S - B EE
zwmwum BATEH B
o0/ + B0 441 8 56 0 18
RREA DT R

L =

BRI RN EEMBEEST S

MEZRERKARKABOHLE  H

EBAu+&AEﬁn =B A5 M BB IR
HERE(BEERESM) BMHET
oélﬁfﬁ%iabu/m))ﬂm

ﬁl’aﬂﬂﬁ(i}ﬁQ\)/iiJDo

R WARBEZHEGHEMEE
B &8 T&mE R T (BEM
BEN_ T _—FR-_ZT__F
ZA=+—BHHBRERKERTT

BE) HEMBEEFERR
28 M0 B8 BE A ) A 3R R R TR R S
HEE  RIEMRES A FER

ENFETMTRE

BHE-_Z_ZFRk-_ZT-__F=
A=+—RBLFE HEHEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(40) SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND (40) ZFE B &l
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY HEEHME @
(Continued)

Z BMEERE

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value b) BAF¥EFEzEMIEA

(Continued) (&)

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s TERBELKEEEERNFEE

financial instruments measured at fair value, on a recurring FREAEFEZAFLESEZE

basis, by level of fair value hierarchy: MIEZDH:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets F—H:FRTE FHEREEE
for identical assets or liabilities; KBEZHRE(TER

B)

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included B E-—FFABREREN
within Level 1 that are observable for the G MEBESKBEAE
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) # (BB 4% ) =k i £ (BN
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and REER)BR 28 A

HiE R

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not F=M WHEERTEBERMISH
based on observable market data BrEEXBEZHA
(unobservable inputs). HE(CI BT @E A

&) e
There was no transfer between different levels of the fair HE-_ETE-_=%kx= %ﬁ:: =
value hierarchy during the years ended 31 March 2023 A=+—BLEHFE 2FEER
and 2022, and there was no change in valuation AEEBZEWEETELR MR
techniques for the following Group’s financial assets that MEHR THRIBEL S EEE
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at the end AT EIAEZAEEESHEE
of the reporting period: ZIEER AT EELE)
2023
—E-=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ EZR E= wat

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TERT TRER TR TRER

Financial assets at fair value & A F{ET AEBE

through profit or loss ZEREE - 1,754 793,530 795,284
2022
—E-F
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— % FRK B= @5
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FAET FATT

Financial assets at fair value & A FE AEZE
through profit or loss ZEREE — 1,005 634,907 636,812
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(40) SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY
(Continued)

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
(Continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

(40) & %
il

HigoceMmEERS
MEEHME @

b) BRAFEFTEZEMIA
()

REEATABEHABE(E
ZRBRATEMEZERTA

—

follows: ZHEEWMT
Unlisted investments
in convertible bonds
FEHAE
REFKRE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE_—FTOA—H 466,322
Change in fair value in profit or loss BREANRFEE
(included in other gains and losses) GTAH#M = R EE) 168,585
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=H=+—HBX
—E-_4FPA—H 634,907
Change in fair value in profit or loss BmANRATEE
(included in other gains and losses) Gt AHM = R EE) 158,623
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 793,530

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s major financial instruments include short term
investment, investments in convertible bonds, trade and bills
receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposits, cash and bank balances, trade and bills payables,
accruals and other payables, loan to an associate, amount due
from an associate and convertible bonds. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks
such as foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The management monitors and manages
the financial risks through internal risk assessment which
analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(@)

@R EER @

Foreign currency risk @@ INEEE R
Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial INERBRIRNE B E L IET B
transactions, assets or liabilities are denominated in a B EEININEI EERSS B
currency that is not the functional currency of the group EXBE AEEIEBEITER
entities. The Group operates mainly in the PRC and is PR AR I T G 2 AR AN 2 A
exposed to foreign currency exchange rate risk arising W T R BB o 7R & B 3R FRF IF A A
from various foreign currency exposures. The Group MU SHRE - AM BEEBgE
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. WAONERPR - WERMVEREE
However, the management monitors foreign exchange $mE KINE R R o
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency RZE-_=FN_FT - _F=H
denominated monetary assets and liabilities in net position =t+—H ®HINEHELEEA
as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 are as follows: EXBEFEHERENT
Euro RMB uss
BT AR x5t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
AT FHET FET
At 31 March 2023 R-EBE-=%=A=+—H
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER — = 19,803
Cash and bank balances e NIBTES 2,488 31,020 57,706
Overall net exposure ZTH R 5 2,488 31,020 77,509
At 31 March 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_HF=A=+—H
Pledged bank deposits EHEARITER — — 19,362
Cash and bank balances B MIRTT 4 & 2,776 24,591 63,084
Overall net exposure 2 E R 55 2,776 24,591 82,446

The cash and bank balances denominated in US$ belong
to the group entities in which the functional currency is
HK$. The directors are of the opinion that the HK$ are
reasonably stable with the US$ under the Linked
Exchange Rate System, and accordingly, no sensitivity
analysis of US$ with respect to HK$ is performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

@

@B EREER @

Foreign currency risk (Continued) (@) M B )
The following table illustrates the approximate change in TR AKNE B NEZ B A%
the Group’s profit before tax for the year and retained FREEBHANGEAREBRRUT
profits in response to reasonably possible changes in the BEERAEE AR 2EX
foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant MEEAREEE - mHR 2B
exposure at the end of each of the following years: EE
2023 2022
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TER FET
Euro appreciated by 5% BT A 1E5% 124 139
RMB appreciated by 5% AREEAHES% 1,551 1,230
The change in exchange rates do not affect the Group’s e N =% i N = = T
other component of equity. The same percentage HE D o INEE H R EBH N T 2
depreciation in the foreign currencies against the EEEEZE—AoHEEERET
functional currency of the respective group companies FREBEFNEKBEREEEMER
would have the same magnitude on profit and retained -2 - X
profits but of opposite effect.
The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming BEREDMINBERERRZIRE
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred HRkEeRLESHmMET WER
at the end of each of the reporting period and had been NEEBETE gt T E&
applied to each of the group entities; exposure to T EERRNZBEEFE
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that AR ETAHEmEE (R 2 FX)
date, and that all other variables, in particular interest WL SRR ESIE
rates, remain constant. The stated changes represent HWERANEZE NEASHES HERTE
management’s assessment of reasonably possible BlrzAaIBn e 2311 o
changes in foreign exchange rates over the period until
the next reporting date.
Interest rate risk (b) == kK

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate pledged bank deposits and bank balances (see
notes 27 and 28 respectively for details). The Group
currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise. The management considers the Group’s exposure
to future cash flow interest rate risk is minimal taking into
account the minimal fluctuation on market interest rate.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

AEBEZBREERENEERER
BT BN R B Z 2 EIFRTT
TFRERITEHFEED R RN
27 528) B R - AR EIRE A
EMEREHBE - AT NEH
EEERNUEEZBHPEKR
MERER - ZRMEHERZKE
B BEEER/AKEAXK
KEERENEZEBREM-
gt R 2 5 SRR DA o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(©

@R EER @

Liquidity risk © HREBELEMK
The Group actively manages its debt maturity profile, AEEEGEREEBHINBIGE
operating cash flows and the availability of funding so as M oREI ST EROEBAHEA
to ensure that all operating, investing and financing needs S UERAENABRES &
are met. The liquidity risk management strategy adopted BERMEEE - NEBEMANZTR
by the Group is to measure and forecast its cash BHECRBEESER A ELTE
commitments and maintains a level of cash and cash RMERSEAELNERS LRSS
equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Group’s BEBH#EERNER AR UBMNER
activities. SEEFEHH Z2KF -
Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual BRSSO BEE Y Z2eR T
maturities. BT o
The table below summaries the maturity profile of the TREBEAYHKXBEREEFT T
Group’s liabilities at the end of the reporting period based (BFEFEREAHFEIE(HEBF
on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations (including B IRERES AE 28 B F REt
interest payments computed using contractual rates, or if EHF B ) Bt AN ERN
floating, based on rates current at the reporting date). MEB KRB EZDEHER -
Weighted More than
average Total Within More than 2 years
effective contractual  1yearor 1yearbut butless More
interest Carrying undiscounted repayable less than than than
rate  amount cashflow ondemand 2years 5years 5years
-FRE BBE-F BEMEF
mELY BRRER BREX IR EIR
ERFZE KHE REREAR iz mE I BBEE
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TET TET TET THET TEx TFTEX
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=%=A=+—H
Trade and bills payables ~ Z S ENERLENZ K N/A
TEA 6,634 6,634 6,634 - - -
Accruals and other payables 7832 & 3 % H iy JE 1 7008 N/A
TEB 26,021 26,021 26,021 - - -
Lease liabilities HEEAE 7.92% 4,607 5,172 1,610 1,567 1,995 -
Convertible bonds ABRES 18.72% 98,617 577,170 - - - 577,170
135,879 614,997 34,265 1,567 1,995 577,170
At 31 March 2022 R-ZBE--f=H=1+-H
Trade and bills payables ~ ZHENER RENZE N/A
i A 6,456 6,456 6,456 - - -
Accruals and other payables 7812 & B [ H th JE (1 58 N/A
i A 31,341 31,341 31,341 - - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 4.63% 2,233 2,288 2,244 44 - -
Convertible bonds ARRES 18.72% 83,074 577,170 - - — 577,170
123,104 617,255 40,041 44 — 577,170
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 H#EZ —Z—=

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
investments in convertible bonds, trade and other
receivables, amount due from an associate, loan to an
associate, pledged bank deposits and bank balances.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The investments in convertible bonds as at 31 March
2023 expose the Group to concentration of credit risk. At
the end of the reporting period, the Group assessed the
financial position and performance of the issuer of the
convertible bonds with carrying amount HK$793,530,000
(2022: HK$634,907,000) and in view of the net assets of
the issuer and its ongoing core operating segment related
to the In-process R&D of the Product, the management
considers the default risk on the investments in convertible
bonds is not significant.

The Group also has concentration of credit risk as 12%
(2022: 13%) of the total trade receivables were due from
the Group’s major customers, which are privately owned
PRC companies engaged in trading of pharmaceutical
products. The directors of the Company considered that
the credit risk of trade receivables is insignificant after
considering the credit quality and financial ability of these
customers. In respect of trade receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. These credit
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of
making payments when due and current ability to pay,
and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates. The Group will make
specific provision for those balances which cannot be
recovered. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers. In the opinion of the directors, the default
risk of the Group is considered to be low.

F=ZRA=1T—HILFE

(41) 81 7 & B B 2B ;)

(d)

= & &k ROBER 4
$%IZFEH 2 EE R E A #]
BREHFKRE BHREREERRE

fth FE U 2 1E - FiE U — R B A A T

KRB -ERT-HBERR B
BERRITERRRITE

RZE_=ZF=ZA=+—H" =K
EEEY2ERAEERRBR(E
AXGHEFREBRBTEEMSAE
EEAENREBR) BREYH
MARIE 2 SHEERERME
EZEEE-

RZEZ=F=A=+—H27
BREFRESAEBAGEER
EdhEE RIFEHER A5H
=7 1 BE M 18 /A&793,530,0007% JT
— T — — 4 : 634,907,000 7T)
AR ESFEITAZ BRI
KRB BRBETAFEEZAE
FEUEREZLEESESRE
BERNETHZHE 1
RAETBRBEFEEZEORAR
WAREK -

AEEHEBEESETRAR DR
EORRERERTI12%(ZF
118%) I A R E 2
TERPRE ZEFFPRIE
ERBEHZHBELART - LE
BZEEFPZEEER MM G
Hig ARREERAREZTREK
MZFEH 2 FEK LB
%f%% 5 HIPTAERIE
?iﬁﬁgzgﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
%%ﬁﬁ°$%§ﬂﬁ@%ﬁ%
AEREEHRBEERERLT
LEP -REEEFHEZENZ
EPXNEMRAZBERE
ARBARTZXMEN  AEEE
FREEMEBBEFREME
RERRZEMN AEEKER
ZET R E 2 AR R T
fBe—HRME AKEALEAE
FERERR BEFRE A%
B 2B QR SIE

196 EXTRAWELL PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED $EZEXIERER AT



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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For the year ended 31 March 2028 &2 —E—=F=A=+—HItFE

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Pledged bank deposits/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits/bank balances is
limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies.

Amount due from an associate and loan to an associate

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the
balances were contributed from an associate for both
years.

The Group regularly monitors the business performance
of the associate. The Group’s credit risks in these
balances are mitigated through the value of the assets
held by these entities and the power to participate the
relevant activities of these entities. The Group provided
impairment based on lifetime ECL. For the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group assessed the ECL
for amount due from an associate and loan to an
associate. An allowance of credit losses of amount due
from an associate and loan to an associate amounting to
approximately HK$5,703,000 (2022: HK$5,858,000) and
approximately HK$3,207,000 (2022: HK$2,353,000)
respectively were provided during the year ended 31
March 2023.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management
makes periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The management
believes that there are no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL"). For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and
deposits. An allowance of credit losses of other
receivables amounting to approximately HK$Nil (2022:
HK$25,000) was provided during the year ended 31
March 2023.

@R EER @

(d)
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Other receivables and deposits (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated
using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit
loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and

=F=ZA=t—HILFE

(41) 81 7 & B B 2B ;)

(d)

1= & & by & ORUE 5T 14 ()

HiEWRIERIZZ (&)
AEBFRBHEEBITZE2H
FEHEEBRASH 2 AN EER
SEWERER 2 BEEE - ARA
SERTEEBRAERITERAT

TREFSEEEATRIBAE
N IRBHRAER Y 2 BB EE
TeE—TRAEETRERFB
ZFEEJE% °

TREIIAEEE 5 BN
Ko A 3= 45 P I R 2 15 B RLRR &%

bills receivables: FEHIZEEB LK 2B H
Past
due over
Current 180 days Total
[SRcig:t
BIHl #iE180H wat
At 31 March 2023 MRZE_=%F
=A=+—H
ECL (%) FEHEE R X (%) - 95.80
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) EmeE(TET 4,035 41,970 46,005
Loss allowance (HK$’000) B8R (T A T) - 40,208 40,208
At 31 March 2022 prAp=
—H=+—H
ECL (%) TEEE BB K (%) — 96.32
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) BEmEAE(THT) 6,141 45,503 51,644
Loss allowance (HK$’000) E R (5T — 43,831 43,831

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 1 year. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historical data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

BHEBEEXDREBE-F2E
BRERERIE ZAFLEXDE
R - DA BR SR I SR BRI H
Z RN ~ TR B AN SR [
¥ e WK R 2 TR RN F B 2 BB
MBEALEER-
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(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

(41) 81 7 & B B 2B ;)

Credit risk and impairment assessment d) EERERBEFEG @
(Continued)
The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment NEBRLEZERSERT G
comprises the following categories: FET 5|55
Internal credit Trade and bills Other financial
rating Description receivables assets
BEZREWERAK
AEEEFR Mt EWEE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not  12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts  credit-impaired
1K 2 B REGHEFHENRABRBERTEEM 2HBRHEERX 12@AEH
BH SR —EEERE BEEBRX
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL — not  12m ECL
but usually settle in full credit-impaired
EREE EHEARLEREH R RERHA THEMEEEXL 1218 AFEH
EEEEREMN —EEERE EEEX
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not  Lifetime ECL — not
credit risk since initial recognition through credit-impaired credit-impaired
information developed internally or
external resources
R W%izﬁl\ﬁéqﬁﬁim%ﬂﬁﬁa—@‘fﬁ >HEREERAL 2HEMEEEX
% B )P HERLARE A& E —EEERE —EEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
& 18 FEBETREECLRERERE >HFEREERALS 2HEHEEEX
—EE/ME —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
i 85 EEBETEBRALRERVBRE - ST M Ea Ik ke

7% 5 (B 3 48 W [0 5R0R H) B R A B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

n'ﬁ

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

SRR ERREACE )

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

Credit risk and impairment assessment (d)

(Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets, which are subject to ECL

=F=ZA=t—HILFE

@B EREER @
EERBRR

AR RT A ()

TRFAINEBETHEREERX
FEzAEEEMEEZEER

assessment: B\
External Internal
credit  credit 2023 Gross 2022 Gross
rating rating 12m or lifetime ECL carrying amount  carrying amount
HEBE REBE —BC-=F -2
HEFR EFIR 1L2EASZPREREEEREX REAE REAE
Financial assets at amortised cost HK$’000 HK$'000
RBERATECEMEE TERT TR
Trade and bills receivables N/A Lowrisk  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 4,035 6,141
B9 RENE R R BN R & TEA  EER 2HEREERL(BEERE
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit- impaired) 41,970 45,503
RHR PHEHEERX(BEERE)
Loan to an associate N/A Doubtful  Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 23,594 16,118
BERTF-—RHELQA TEA XK 2HEREERL(EEERE)
Amount due from an associate N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit- impaired) 41,947 41,947
JE Y — R B & A R ROE TER RE FHEHEERX(BEERE)
Deposits and other receivables N/A (Note) 12m ECL 1,943 5,120
2% ROt MR IR TEA (M) 12EAEBEERX
Note: For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group Mz AL EZERREEmMS A&
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has EFE R OHEREMEERRBA
increased significantly since initial recognition. VHERIAKRZE D AL -
2023 —E-=
Not past
due/No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
REH/
EEE
B B et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt F#x  T#x
Amount due from an associate & U — B L A &) ;I8 - 36,245 36,245
Loan to an associate ERF—HBEA T - 20,386 20,386
Trade and bills receivables B 5 WER R K E R E R 1,762 4,035 5,797
Deposits and other receivables 1% & K H {th & I 5 18 - 1,917 1,917
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

(41) 81 7 & B B 2B ;)

Credit risk and impairment assessment d) EERKEEBEG@E
(Continued)
2022 —=——
Not past
due/No fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
K@ E/
EEE
11 B 2 5} H et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
Amount due from an associate  JE Y — & B & A B A — 36,089 36,089
Loan to an associate ERT—HEE AT — 14,500 14,500
Trade and bills receivables H 5 PR K e Hﬂl%‘f&ﬂ% 1,672 6,141 7,813
Deposits and other receivables Hz & K H e W EIE — 5,094 5,004
The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances TRI REHLEIW — B SN T

that has been recognised for amount due from an
associate, loan to an associate, trade and bills receivables
and deposits and other receivables.

Loan to an associate

KRB -ERT-—HEBLERR B
ZRWERRERRBAREZS
Ko E At & W SR IR e B2 Y B 1R B AR
B -

BT —EHE LA

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
>HEH
BFEBRX
(BEERE)
HK$’000
FAET
At 1 April 2021 j :gi—iﬂﬂ—ﬁ —
Changes due to financial instruments —E-—FWMA—H
recognised at 1 April 2021: l R4 T AHIRE
Impairment losses recognised —EERBEEBE 2,353
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 N _E-_—_F=A=+—H
FZFE-—_FMWMA—AH 2,353
Changes due to financial instruments ZEZFMA—H
recognised at 1 April 2022: BReMTETIREE
Impairment losses recognised —ERRBEBE 854
At 31 March 2023 R=-ZEBE=-Z=%=ZHA=+—H 3,207
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

[

(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

202

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade and bills receivables

=HEZA=T-RLFE

(41) B 7 B B B 12 ()
EE R N EE @

(d)

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
1218 R 2HEH ZHES
REEE FEBX FEBX
BXx (BEEERE) (FERHA) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THEL FTHET THEL THEL
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—-FHMA—A - 42,535 - 42,535
Changes due to financial instruments R Z=Z = —FM A —H
recognised at 1 April 2021: RERLBTIEZE:
— Impairment losses recognised - ERAREER - 1,160 - 1,160
— Impairment losses reversed - BEORESE - (1,432) - (1,432)
Exchange adjustments RS - 1,568 - 1,568
At 31 March 2022 and R-—Z-_-—&#=H=+-H
1 April 2022 R=ZE--f@lA—H - 43,831 - 43,831
Changes due to financial instruments R =Z =&MW H—H
recognised at 1 April 2022: BALRIAEZE:
— Impairment losses recognised - ERAREEE - 1,278 = 1,278
— Impairment losses reversed - BEREREESE - (483) = (483)
Exchange adjustments R AR = (4,418) = (4,418)
At 31 March 2023 R-B-=f=A=+-H - 40,208 - 40,208
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(41) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&S B 5 R R M 5 (48

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(41) B 7 B B B 12 ()
d) EERERBEFEG @

(Continued)

Amount due from an associate

BR—EBHERaHE

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
>HEH
FEEX
(BEERE)
HK$’000
FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZE-—FWMA—H —
Changes due to financial instruments R-ZE-—FWMWA—H
recognised at 1 April 2021: RemITEZE:
Impairment losses recognised — BERRBEEE 5,858
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_F=A=+—H
FZFEZ-—_FMWMA—AH 5,858
Changes due to financial instruments RZZEZZ—FWA—H
recognised at 1 April 2022: HREMIAZS
Impairment losses reversed BEBERE (155)
At 31 March 2023 R-ZBE-_=F=H=+—H 5,703

Deposits and other receivables

# & RHE b W R

12m ECL
1218 B
BHEERX
HK$’'000
FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZEZ—FMA—H -
Changes due to financial instruments R-ZE-—FWA—H
recognised at 1 April 2021: HREMIAZS
— Impairment losses recognised —ERRBEEE 25
Exchange adjustments BE W B 1
At 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 and R-E-_Z-_F=H=+-—H"
31 March 2023 TEZZHFNMA-HAR
—E_=F=H=+—H 26
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(42) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it
can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders through optimisation of capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group regularly reviews and manages its capital structure,
and makes adjustments to it taking into account the changes in
economic conditions, risk characteristics of the underlying
assets, the Group’s investment strategy and opportunities,
projected operating cash flows and capital expenditures. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the level of borrowings, dividend payment to shareholders,
issue new shares, or buy back its own shares.

4 EXERE

AEEEREAZBEERREASHE
RRAERE UBBEBELLERRE
BUARBADEBEARARAK  BESBREH
(o] 7 Jo 73 F At A a5 AR BE B S 2R M aS o
AEEZEBEEBRBELF-FELRF

AEETHEMREERELAGERE
TREBEERNCES FREE
ZERBRE NEEZRERE LK
B ERAKEREREAREARNMAX
BRIFLABR RERAABELHE
B AEEAREREBEEKRF I
THREZEE - BTHROLBEDE
EL

2023 2022

—E=-= —E- =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiBT
Debts B 98,617 83,074
Total equity ERpE 1,281,570 1,164,924
Gearing ratio EEBALX 7.7% 71%
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(43) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR & B A5 3R R I 5X (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZE —Z—

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

=FE=ZA=t—HLFE

WREETHELE2REBEYK

Interest Lease
payables liabilities Total
EARNE HEAE st
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAT FA T FAT
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FWMH—H 69,980 3,894 73,874
Changes from financing cash flows: MEEERESLE
Repayment of principal portion of HEEEAEAdDER
lease liabilities — (1,800) (1,800)
Repayment of interest portion of HEBBEMEMBLER
lease liabilities - (135) (13%)
Total changes from financing cash fows  BE R & EFFHEE — (1,935) (1,935)
Other change: Hfth % 5
Addition of lease liabilities HEBBEM - 139 139
Interest expenses MBEREX 13,094 135 13,229
Total other change Huh o) E%a 13,094 274 13,368
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 WR-Z-——F=A=+—8
MRZZEZ_—_FWHA—H 83,074 2,233 85,307
Changes from financing cash flows: MEEERELE
Repayment of principal portion of HEaBEAEAdDER
lease liabilities — (2,295) (2,295)
Repayment of interest portion of HEBBEMEHMBOER
lease liabilities — (92) (92)
Total changes from financing cash flows B EIR SR EE A5 — (2,387) (2,387)
Other changes: Hfth % 5
Addition of lease liabilities HEBBEEM - 4,597 4,597
Interest expenses MER X 15,544 92 15,636
Exchange adjustments PE 5, 3 8 — 72 72
Total other changes HE g @z 15,544 4,761 20,305
At 31 March 2023 R-ZE_=F=A=+—H 98,618 4,607 103,225
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
AR S B 35 R R B 5 (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2028 &= —E - =F=A=+—HItFE

(44) NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into
new arrangements in respects of office premises. Right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of approximately HK$4,597,000 were
recognised at the commencement date of the lease.

(45) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@ On 31 March 2023, Changchun Extrawell Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. (“Changchun Extrawell”), an indirect nonwholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the share
buy-back agreement with the vendor to buy back shares
representing 9.14% of total issued share capital of
Changchun Extrawell (“Share Buy-Back”) for cancellation
(“Share Cancellation”) at the consideration of
RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,972,000). Upon completion of the Share Buy-Back
and Share Cancellation, the Group’s shareholding in
Changchun Extrawell will be increased to 80.46% and
Changchun Extrawell will continue to be an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The Share Buy-
Back transaction was completed on 19 June 2023.

M) EBERS

R

E_E_=F=A=+—HIL#F

B REBRBP RGBT LT L HE -
FREEEKRMES ﬁ%?ﬁ%wooo%
TR ER 1 B B ER

(45) &= HA

(@)

®RE1E

RZEBE-_=F=ZA=+—A80"' kK
EREEERGBERAR (RS
BED(KAAHEIF2ERS
ZHEBAR)BEEFFMRGE
EMENULBERAERNRERE
BEITRABE Z2914% 2 K7
([R& 1D [ B8 1) DA 5 88 ([ AR 15 5%
1) - R 1E A AR 4,400,000
(HE R 44,972,000 7T) - PRI
HEBEEODEHETEKE K&
EREREBEZRREKEME
80.46% MELEREBEE AKX
CEEMEXRZEBREZHEBEAR
AleZBMEBERXIER =
:fﬁ/\ﬂ—f—j_LETD}m
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

&5 5 B 35 R R B 5 (48)

For the year ended 31 March 2023 2 —Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

(45) EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

(b)

On 28 April 2023, the Company as the bondholder and
Innovative Pharm as the issuer of the HK$715,000,000
convertible bonds due on 28 July 2023 (“Innovative
Pharm Bonds”), entered into, the third deed of
amendment (“Third Amendment Deed”) to further amend
certain terms and conditions of the Innovative Pharm
Bonds in respect of the further extension on the maturity
date and the payment of the interest of the Innovative
Pharm Bonds to 28 July 2025 (“Third Amendments”), and
the deed of waiver pursuant to which the Company
granted to Innovative Pharm a waiver in respect of the
obligation of Innovative Pharm to the extent necessary
and solely to effect the Third Amendments. The
transaction contemplated under the Third Amendment
Deed in respect of the Third Amendments constitutes a
major transaction for the Company which is subject to the
reporting, announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 28
April 2023 and 28 June 2023, and circular dated 12 June
2023 for further details.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 28
June 2023, the transaction was approved by the
shareholders.

Other than the abovementioned, no other material
subsequent event is noted.

(46) APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2023.

(45) SR EH R E1H (@)

(b)

ot D)/tg

R_E_=ZFNMA-_+/\B" K
AEREFFBA) EHEMESB
B(EARN_ZE-_=F+A =+
J\ H 2| 8 ~ 715,000,000/%& T 7]
mREH((EMEBEES]) 2%
TN E=ZDETRE(SE
=DEITRE]NE— L ETE
MmeEmES 2B TR G-
ERNABEBABEMBEEES 25
HARFEZNE—FPEREZ
E-_RFEL+A-F+NBUTE=ZK
BT YIS — B eRE
Bt AR EMERZ 2 EER
EMBERHEBR  WENES
ZREFTTERIMVEEER B
BME - REEI 2 E MBI RIE
HTHETRGEKREARA 2 E
EXG WABST LEmHRANE14
EMESR AEREREIEZ
BIE °

Y

BEHE—FHEBE BEELRRA
AEA-_ZT-_=—FMWA=-+N\H
FZZEZ=FRAZF+NHZA
HERABAE-_—FA+=
HZiBK -

RZE-_=F A=+ NBE17
ZARNBIREFRNAE L EE
RS EEREIE -

B DA L Pt - M H i K HIR
R

(46) #Ht 4R & BT B | &

FEgR=2

—FRXAZ+hBH

ERBRETBRAMBEHRE -
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FIVE YEARS'
FINANCIAL SUMMARY
h RIS

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non- AEEBERTEATBREE 2248 URE
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, is set &= - BE MIFERES B EZ 0T -
out below:

For the year ended 31 March
BEZE=A=1+-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZBC-=Zf T B2 ZEZFTF ZT—NF

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TET TET TET TET

RESULTS £
Revenue & 72,577 73,925 78,802 77,584 89,218
Profit/(Loss) before income tax [ F7 15 ¢ A1 i 71,/ (&5 18) 130,901 132,330 (119,663) 85,491 63,374
Income tax (expense)/credit  FT5H (X ),/ H % (1,128) (1,239) — 90 (50)
Profit/(Loss) for the year AEFERF/(BE) 129,773 131,091 (119,663) 85,581 63,324
Attributable to: AR A RS
— Owners of the Company ~ — AQEIHES A 129,265 130,588  (121,098) 83,280 64,030
— Non-controlling interests — JEIER RS 508 503 1,435 2,301 (706)

129,773 131,091 (119,663) 85,581 63,324

As at 31 March

R=A=t+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
ZE-=f —FT--fF —E-—F —E-FTE —FT—hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT TET TAET TAET TAET

ASSETS, LIABILITIESAND ¥E S8ERFERER
NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

Total assets mEE 1,444,874 1,317,101 1,164,239 1,265,710 1,196,086
Total liabilities BEE (163,304)  (152,177) (134,945  (125,862) (134,515
Total equity e E gk 1,281,570 1,164,924 1,029,294 1,139,848 1,061,571

Less: Non-controlling interests  J& : 3F 12 I 8 %5 (152) (729) (1,211) (2,647) (5,081)

Equity attrbutable to owners RN AAIEH A JEIE#E 2
of the Company 1,281,722 1,165,653 1,030,505 1,142,495 1,066,652
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